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Promises. The driving force that 

brings to the fore the Company’s 

profound and abiding commitment.  

The bond that draws the trust of 

generations of Filipinos, touching 

their lives in so many ways. This is 

Malayan Insurance’s legacy, providing 

a strong sense of security as we 

continue to deepen our reach and 

make an enduring mark in the non-

life insurance industry.
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MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

Financial Highlights
in us dollars in PhiliPPine Pesos

at Year end at Year end

Premiums Earned

Net Underwriting Income

Investments and 
  Other Income

General Expenses

Provision for Income Tax

Net Income

Premiums Earned

Net Underwriting Income

Investments and  
  Other Income

General Expenses

Provision for Income Tax

Net Income

$70,181,016 

16,495,611

9,005,295

24,119,671

752,941

628,295

P3,306,789,102

777,240,217

 
424,311,488

1,136,470,659

35,477,063

29,603,983

$ 60,127,693

13,076,656

15,678,901

22,862,094

3,152,423

2,741,040

P2,833,096,635

616,145,856

 
738,758,477

1,077,216,132

148,535,859

129,152,342

2015

2015 2015

20152014

2014 2014

2014

Total Assets

Stockholders’ Equity

Unearned Premiums 

Reserve for Losses  
  and Loss Expenses

Investments

Total Assets

Stockholders’ Equity

Unearned Premiums - gross

Reserve for Losses and  
  Loss Expenses-gross

Investments

$563,300,841

209,090,659

59,322,793

179,445,942

209,911,550

P26,508,937,581

9,839,806,423

2,791,730,630

8,444,726,015

9,878,437,562

$660,140,211

241,292,874

74,089,785

231,157,328

245,349,918

P31,066,198,325

11,355,242,671

3,486,665,287

 
10,878,263,854

11,546,167,136

conversion rates

BALAnCe SHeeT ACCOunTS P 47.06 = uS$ 1.00        |       PROFIT AnD LOSS ACCOunTS  P 47.118 = uS$ 1.00

in Us DoLLars (%) | increase (Decrease) in PHiLiPPine Pesos (%) | increase (Decrease)

at year enD (%) | increase (Decrease) at year enD (%) | increase (Decrease)

17% 17%

-15% -15%

-77% -77%

6% 6%

-22% -22%

26% 26%

-13% -13%

-76% -76%

-14% -14%

-43% -43%

-20% -20%

PremiUms earneD PremiUms earneD

totaL assets totaL assets

net UnDerwriting income net UnDerwriting income

stockHoLDers’ eqUity stockHoLDers’ eqUity

investments anD otHer income investments anD otHer income

UnearneD PremiUms UnearneD PremiUms

generaL exPenses generaL exPenses

reserve for Losses anD Loss exPenses reserve for Losses anD Loss exPenses

Provision for income tax Provision for income tax

investments investments

net income net income
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Message from 
ambassaDor aLfonso 
t. yUcHengco

ambassador alfonso t. Yuchengco
CHAIRMAn, MICO equITIeS, InC. 

4 m a l aYa n grou P of i nsu r a nc e com Pa n i e s

I  wish to congratulate all of you for your 
share in enabling Malayan Insurance 
to continually hold the banner of 
LeADeRSHIP in a highly competitive 

insurance market. We are on our 85th year 
and we are happily celebrating our best year of 
Promises Fulfilled. 

2015 was another milestone for Malayan 
Insurance as the year emerged with double 
digit growth. Malayan Insurance was founded 
in Binondo, Manila in 1930 as China Insurance 
Company; and then rehabilitated and renamed 
as Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. in 1947.
Throughout the years, our strong foundation has 
made Malayan pass through historical turmoils – 
World War II, Martial Law, the eDSA Revolution, 
the Middle east oil crisis of the 1970s, the 
currency crisis of the 90s, the Subprime and 
eurozone crisis of the 2000s, natural upheavals 
like devastating earthquakes and typhoons, and 
other catastrophes that have affected the country 
and the insurance industry as a whole.  We are 
proud that we have survived them all  because we 
are SOLID and STROnG.

Malayan Insurance has weathered 
the test of time, and for 
almost 45 years since 1970, the 
company has been honored to 
be THe nuMBeR 1 nOn-LIFe 
InSuRAnCe COMPAnY in the 
country, tested and uncontested.

Success does not come in an instant, but it 
comes as a result of the efforts of the officers, 
employees, and agency force; their combined 
knowledge, proficiency, determination, and 
hardwork. Malayan has been successful because 
we have stood united and have been responsive 
to changes, more particularly at this time when 
change is eminent and evident as our economic 
and socio-political environment is fast evolving 
and changing, not only in our country and 
Southeast Asia,  but also around the world.

To the Malayan Insurance workforce, I urge you 
all to remain unwavering and confident in our 
ability to deliver what is best for our clients—
the best insurance service and protection that 
provide full client satisfaction.  My heartfelt 
gratitude for the dedication and efforts you give 
everyday to the company and our customers.

To our clients, members of the Board of 
Directors and shareholders, thank you for your 
continued support and confidence in Malayan 
Insurance.

Affiliations



52 015  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

amBassador alfonso t. Yuchengco
CHAIRMAn, MICO equITIeS, InC.

Affiliations

government Positions

under the Administration of  
President Gloria Macapagal Arroyo
•  Presidential Adviser on Foreign Affairs 

with Cabinet Rank
   (January 19, 2004 – June 2010)
• Member, Consultative Commission  

to Propose Revision to the  
1987 Constitution

 (August 2005 – March 2006)
• Philippine Permanent Representative  

to the united nations with the  
rank of Ambassador  
(november 2001 – December 2002)

• Presidential Special Envoy to  
Greater China, Japan and Korea (2001)

under the Administration of  
President Joseph ejercito estrada
• Presidential Assistant on  

APeC Matter with Cabinet Rank
 (1998-2000)

under the Administration of  
President Fidel V. Ramos
• Ambassador Extraordinary and 

Plenipotentiary of the Republic  
of the Philippines to Japan (1995-1998)

• Chairman, Council of Private Sector 
Advisers to the Philippine Government 
on the Spratly Issue  
(Marine and Archipelagic  
Development Policy Task Group)  
(1995-1998)

• Member, Philippine Centennial 
Commission (1998)

under the Administration of  
President Corazon C. Aquino
• Ambassador Extraordinary and 

Plenipotentiary of the Republic of the 
Philippines to the People’s Republic  
of China (PROC) 
(1986-1988)

affiliations – Private sectors

• Pan Malayan Management and 
Investment Corporation (PMMIC) 
Chairman of the Board and  
Chief Executive Officer

• MICO Equities, Inc.  
(holding company of Malayan Group  
of Insurance Companies) 
Chairman of the Board

• Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. 
Member of the Board of Directors

• Malayan Insurance Co. (HK) Ltd. 
Chairman of the Board

• Malayan Securities Corporation 
Member of the Board of Directors

• GPL Holdings, Inc. 
Chairman of the Board

• Sunlife Grepa Financial, Inc. 
Member of the Board of Directors

• House of Investments, Inc. 
Member of the Board of Directors

• Malayan Colleges, Inc. 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

• Malayan Colleges Laguna Inc. 
Chairman of the Board

• EEI Corporation 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

• RCBC Realty Corporation 
Chairman of the Board

• RCBC Land, Inc. 
Member of the Board of Directors

• AY Foundation 
Chairman of the Board

• Philippine Integrated Advertising  
Agency, Inc. (PIAA) 
Chairman of the Board

• Yuchengco Center, De La Salle  
university, Philippines 
Chairman of the Board

• Yuchengco Museum 
Chairman of the Board

• Y Realty Corporation 
Chairman of the Board

• YGC Corporate Services, Inc. 
Chairman  of the Board

• Waseda Institute for  
Asia Pacific Studies 
Member of the International  
Advisory Board

• Ritsumeikan Asia Pacific University 
Member of the Advisory Board

• University of Alabama 
Member, International Business  
Advisory Board 
Culverhouse College of Commerce 
& Business Administration

• University of San Francisco,  
(Mclaren School of Business), uSA 
Trustee emeritus

• Columbia University, Business School, 
new York, uSA 
Member, Board of Overseers

• Asian Bankers Association 
Chairman emeritus

• Master of Business Administration  
(MBA) – Juris Doctor (JD) dual degree 
program of De La Salle university  
Professional Schools, Inc. 
Graduate School of Business and  
Far eastern university  
Institute of Law, Chairman of the Board

• University of St. La Salle, Roxas City 
Member, Board of Trustees

• Pacific Forum, Honolulu, Hawaii 
Member, Board of Governors

• International Insurance Society (IIS) 
Member of the Board of Directors and  
Former Chairman of the Board

• Bantayog ng mga Bayani (Pillars of  
Heroes Foundation) 
Chairman of the Board

• Philippine Constitutional Association 
(PHILCOnSA) 
Chairman emeritus

• Blessed Teresa of Calcutta Awards 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Judges

• Bayanihan Foundation  
(Bayanihan Folk Arts Foundation, Inc.)  
Philippine Women’s university 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

• Confederation of Asia-Pacific 
Chambers of Commerce and Industries 
(CACCI) 
Chairman, Advisory Board and  
Former Chairman of the Board

• The Asia Society, New York 
Trustee emeritus

• Honda Cars Kaloocan, Inc. 
Chairman of the Board

• Enrique T. Yuchengco, Inc. 
Chairman of the Board

• Luisita Industrial Park Corporation 
Chairman of the Board

• Compania Operatta ng Pilipinas, Inc. 
(Philippine Opera Company) 
Honorary Chairman of the Board

• Dabaw Kaisa Foundation, Inc. 
Honorary Member

government awards

DISTInGuISHeD SeRVICe AWARD 
Department of Foreign Affairs 
(February 24, 2012)

PHILIPPIne LeGIOn OF HOnOR 
WITH THe DeGRee OF  
GRAnD COMMAnDeR 
Presented by  
President Gloria Macapagal-Arroyo 
(June 29, 2010)

FIRST ReCIPIenT OF THe ORDeR  
OF LAKAnDuLA WITH THe RAnK OF 
BAYAnI (GRAnD CROSS) 
Presented by  
President Gloria Macapagal-Arroyo 
Republic of the Philippines 
(november 20, 2003)

ORDeR OF SIKATunA WITH  
THe RAnK OF DATu 
Presented by President Fidel V. Ramos 
Republic of the Philippines (1998)

GRAnD CORDOn OF THe ORDeR  
OF THe RISInG Sun 
Presented by His Majesty,  
the emperor of Japan  
The highest honor ever given by the  
emperor to a foreigner (1998)

KnIGHT GRAnD OFFICeR OF RIzAL 
Presented by the Knights of Rizal 
Republic of the Philippines (1998)

ORDeR OF THe SACReD TReASuRe,  
GOLD AnD SILVeR STAR 
Awarded by His Majesty, the emperor  
of Japan (1993)

OuTSTAnDInG MAnILAn In 
DIPLOMACY 
City of Manila (1995)

OuTSTAnDInG CITIzen In  
THe FIeLD OF BuSIneSS 
City of Manila (1976)

ADOPTeD SOn OF DAVAO 
Exemplary Leadership in Business and 
Government and Contributed to the  
Growth of Davao City 
(July 14, 2009)

non-government awards

LIFeTIMe ACHIeVeMenT AWARD 
Asian Bankers Association 
(november 13, 2015)

OuTSTAnDInG LAM-An  
TOWnMATeS AWARD 
Philippine Lam-An Association Inc. 
(november 19, 2012)

ICOnS OF THe InDuSTRY 
Philippine Insurers and Reinsurers  
Association (PIRA, Inc.) 
(October 18, 2012)

BuSIneSS ICOnS OF THe DeCADe 
AWARD 
Presented by Biz news Asia 
(november 25, 2011)

RIzAL AWARD 
Presented by Aliw Awards 
(november 8, 2011)

DISTInGuISHeD SeRVICe AWARD 
Presented by the Confederation of  
Asia-Pacific Chambers  
of Commerce and Industry 
(October 23, 2011)

FIRST ReCIPIenT OF THe F.A.I.R.  
HALL OF FAMe 
Presented by the Federation of  
Afro-Asian Insurers & Reinsurers (FAIR) 
(October 5, 2011)

LeADeRSHIP AWARD 
Presented by the Philippine Constitution 
Association (PHILCOnSA) 
(September 26, 2011)

LIFeTIMe ACHIeVeMenT AWARD 
Asia Insurance Industry Awards 
(October 17, 2010)

PHILCOnSA MAHARLIKA AWARD 
Presented by the Philippine Constitution 
Association (2010)

HALL OF FAMe AWARDee 
Far eastern university  
(December 13, 2003)

OuTSTAnDInG ALuMnI AWARDee 
Far eastern university  
(May 2003)

LIFeTIMe ACHIeVeMenT AWARD 
Dr. Jose P. Rizal Awards for Excellence  
( June 2002)

KnP PILLAR AWARD 
Kaluyagan nen Palaris, Pangasinan  
(December 2006)

PARAnGAL SAn MATeO 
Philippine Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants Foundation, Inc.  
(October 2001)

THe OuTSTAnDInG FILIPInO 
AWARDee 
TOFIL 2000

GOLD MeDALLIOn 
Confederation of Asia-Pacific  
Chambers of Commerce & Industry 
(CACCI) (2000)

FIRST ASeAn TO Be eLeCTeD TO  
THe “InSuRAnCe HALL OF FAMe” 
International Insurance Society, Inc.  
(1997)

FIRST ReCIPIenT OF THe GLOBAL 
InSuRAnCe HuMAnITARIAn AWARD 
university of Alabama (uSA)  
(2008)

HALL OF FAMe AWARD 
Philippine Institute of Certified  
Public Accountants (PICPA)  
(1997)

OuTSTAnDInG CeRTIFIeD 
PuBLIC ACCOunTAnT (CPA) In 
InTeRnATIOnAL ReLATIOnS 
Philippine Institute of Certified  
Public Accountants (PICPA)  
(1996)

CeO eXCeL AWARD 
International Association of  
Business Communicators  
(2009)

MeDAL OF MeRIT 
Philippines-Japan Society  
(1995)

OuTSTAnDInG SeRVICe TO  
CHuRCH & nATIOn 
De La Salle university  
(1993)

MAnAGeMenT MAn OF THe YeAR 
Management Association of the 
Philippines (1992)

DISTInGuISHeD LA SALLIAn AWARD  
FOR InSuRAnCe & FInAnCe 
De La Salle university  
(1981)

FIRST ASIAn TO ReCeIVe 
InTeRnATIOnAL InSuRAnCe 
SOCIeTY (IIS) FOunDeRS’ GOLD 
MeDAL AWARD OF eXCeLLenCe 
International Insurance Society  
(1979)

PReSIDenTIAL MeDAL OF MeRIT 
Far eastern university  
(1978)

MOST OuTSTAnDInG  
JCI SenATOR In THe FIeLD  
OF BuSIneSS AnD eCOnOMICS 
XXXIII Jaycee Chamber International 
(JCI) World Congress (1978)

InSuRAnCe MAn OF THe YeAR 
Business Writers Association  
of the Philippines (1955)

MOST DISTInGuISHeD ALuMnuS 
Far eastern university  
(1955)

education

BACHeLOR OF SCIenCe In 
COMMeRCe 
Far eastern university, Philippines 
(1946)

CeRTIFIeD  PuBLIC ACCOunTAnT 
(CPA)(1947)

MASTeR OF SCIenCe 
Columbia university, new York 
(2007)
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In the course of Malayan Insurance’s 85-year history, a Tradition of Service Excellence 

has been pursued with sincerity and pride. This pursuit has helped place Malayan 

Insurance on top among its peers, leading in the non-life insurance industry.

“2015 proved to be 
a better performer 

than prior years as the 
industry realized some 

gains in net earnings 
and net premiums 

written.”

Looking at how the Malayan Group of Insurance Companies and other non-life 
industry players faired in 2015, one must consider the economic environment, 
market situations, and socio-political conditions that affected businesses and the 
lives of people in the Philippines. 2015 proved to be a better performer than prior 
years as the industry realized some gains in net earnings and net premiums written. 

The Philippine economy did considerably well in 2015 with an expansion of 5.8% 
gross domestic product (GDP). This positive growth was sustained by an increase in 
private consumption, higher fixed investment, and a recovery in export. The pace 
of growth, nevertheless, decelerated by almost one percentage (1%) point from 
the average of the previous two years, largely due to the slowdown in government 
expenditures. These developments also influenced the insurance industry’s 
performance during the year as a whole. By 4th quarter, negative developments 
such as continued soft market for corporate fire and motorcar insurance lines, high 
taxation on non-life insurance products, and regulatory changes had minimal effect 
on industry performance in 2015.  The non-life insurance industry registered in 2015 
gross premiums written (GPW) at P71.4 billion, as against the P64.3 billion in 2014, 
a growth of 11%; while net premiums reached P35.75 billion or compared with the 
P31.13 billion in 2014, demonstrated a 15% increase. Likewise, in 2015, net income 
for the Philippine non-life insurance industry amounted to P3.28 billion versus P2.4 
billion in the previous year, showing an increment of 36.8% or P880 million.

Challenges continued to hound the non-life insurance industry during the year. The 
serious threats brought about by climate change, like the el niño phenomenon, the 
realities of a global economy that could reduce demand for Philippine products, and 
also government underspending were recognized for its impact on the Philippine 
economy. Likewise, the insurance sector in 2015 was faced with serious concerns such 
as fullfilling capital build up and regulatory requirements, which must be followed 
by all insurance companies by year end. Accordingly, the insurer must reflect a 
minimum networth of P550 million by December 31, 2016. Another development 
was the Philippines’ joining the Association of South east Asian nations or ASeAn 

Message to
sHareHoLDers

total assets
mico equities, inc. and subsidiaries

20
15

20
14

P26.51b

P31.07b
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“Through 
Malayan’s 
trademark 
of integrity 
and prompt 
settlement of 
claims, let us 
continue to carry 
forward our rich 
legacy of serving 
with utmost 
commitment.”

“We encourage our 
stakeholders to pursue 
the Malayan legacy 
of Promises Fulfilled, 
through our positive and 
progressive efforts, and 
momentum to provide 
and deliver the best 
insurance protection and 
security to our clients, the 
Filipino people and the 
Filipino nation.” 

economic Community Integration, believed to generate markets that would provide 
enormous benefits from increased consumer demand from a growing middle class, 
increased urbanization, to expanded regional and international linkages, and more 
competition, thus leading to favorable market reforms.

What we should be thankful for in 2015 was that the country experienced fewer and less 
severe natural calamities, compared to 2014 when the insurance industry experienced 
devastating typhoons, while still reeling from spillover claims brought about by the 
destructive 2013 Yolanda typhoon and Bohol earthquake. In 2015, Typhoon Maysak 
considered as a super typhoon like Yolanda did not have a devastating effect on land 
and people.

MALAYAN INSURANCE & SUBSIDIARIES

Against a backdrop of  the Philippines’ positive business environment in 2015, the 
Malayan Group’s performance showed positive results. This was evidenced by gross 
premiums written (GPW) of P8.6 billion in 2015, as against the P7.8 billion in 2014, 
an increase by P0.80 billion or 10 percent (10%). Net premiums earned rose to P3.31 
billion during the year in review, compared with P2.83 billion the previous year, 
showing an increment of P474 million or 16.7 percent (16.7%).

Direct premiums written grew and surpassed budget by 1%. Except for the Personal 
Accident line, all major lines like Fire and Motorcar registered growth. The net 
underwriting income increase was brought about by improvements in income 
generation from the underwriting divisions of the company which contributed a total 
increase in aggregate amount of P161 million.

Meanwhile, total assets of the Malayan Group were reported at P26.51 billion in 2015, 
from P31.07 billion in 2014. The contraction in total assets was brought about by 
the drop in market value of investments at year-end, and decrease in reinsurance 

helen Y. dee
CHAIRPeRSOn

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
PReSIDenT

gross Premiums 
written

investment and 
other income

2015

2015
2014

2014

P8.6b

P7.8b

P424.31m P738.76m

mico equities, inc. and subsidiaries

mico equities, inc. and subsidiaries
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assets due to collection of reinsurers’ share on losses. Investments and other income in 2015 was recorded 
at P424.31 million; while in 2014, the same was registered at P738.76 million, resulting in a decrease of 
P314.45 million, or 43 percent (43%). Due to these contractions in the results of its operations, the Group 
realized in 2015 a net income of P29.6 million, compared to P129.2 million in 2014, showing a difference 
of P99.5 million, or 77 percent (77%). 

The Financial Review of the individual companies of the Group can be found in the later pages of this 
Annual Report.

LOOKING AHEAD

The Group has ambitious growth plans across all five pillars of the Malayan five-year growth strategy.

The Malayan Group has sustained underwriting profitability due to its ability to continuously study, be 
informed of, and be abreast with the changes ocurring in the industry and the country. In 2015, Malayan 
Insurance continued to implement the Internal Capital Model, a part of the company’s enterprise Wide 
Risk Management program. The model was initially focused on the underwriting Risk component—Fire 
and Motorcar lines were earlier developed, tested, and used.

Further, the Risk Management Database, a tool for risk identification and assessment, was in use by all 
business units of the Malayan Group after it was updated. Group heads and business unit heads monitored 
and provided updates on risks and possible risks encountered by the Group. The Executive Management 
Committee also put into effect a total review of the Business Continuity and Resiliency Plan  (BCRP) which 
included an IT Recovery Plan and crisis communication protocols to ensure the continued delivery of 
services during unforeseen events like natural calamities.

Malayan Insurance continued with its robust affinity marketing strategy and successfully undertook 
e-commerce programs to encourage better growth in Malayan’s retail business. The Group further 
strengthened its diversified distribution through non-traditional channels and various bancassurance 
programs, cross-selling agreements, and synergies with financial services and consumer market business 
partners.

Malayan also looks to continue enhancing its processes in order to improve customer service and client 
retention, which is quite a challenge given the crowded and competitive insurance market in the Philippines.

In terms of managing its underwriting results, Malayan’s underwriting strategy is guided by a conservative 
underwriting philosophy. Malayan has implemented a Catastrophe underwriting system which outlines 
strict guidelines to underwrite earthquake, typhoon, and flood risks (essentially a listing of what risks/
areas to decline, and what risk attributes to pay attention to in underwriting catastrophe risks).

In general terms, the Malayan Group’s stated general business objective is to achieve profitable growth.

Our growth strategy is naturally influenced by the country’s own business growth drivers such as construction 
and real estate, the Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) industry, an improving transportation sector, and 
power and energy demand. With a growing middle-income populace comes increased purchase power, 
hence growth in auto sales, residential property sales, and the health and medical needs of a growing 
population present high potential for the non-life insurance industry.
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In support of expanding business opportunities, we are also continuously seeking to innovate and expand 
our digital capabilities, leveraging technology to improve our business processes, to increase accessibility 
and convenience at the front-end while lessening costs, time, and energy spent at the back-end, towards 
continuing our tradition of service excellence. Expansion of our branch network also provides us with 
opportunities in new markets and a bigger footprint in a fast developing nation.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Malayan Group is an active partner in the nationwide corporate social responsibility (CSR) programs 
of the AY Foundation, the philantropic arm of the Yuchengco Group. The foundation regularly holds 
medical and dental missions, and relief operations in many areas of the country. Malayan continues to 
support YGC’s earth Care program, the purpose of which is to help protect and conserve the environment. 
employees of the company  planted and constantly visited many denuded forest areas where they did tree 
planting, one of which is the YGC forest in Brgy. San Andres, Tanay,  Rizal.

Meanwhile, Malayan employees who joined the outreach activity of YGC allotted some of their time during 
weekends to visit home for the aged, Anawim Home for the Aged, where they gave items and cash donations, 
contributed by Malayan employees. They also entertained the elderlies with their songs and dances. 

The company also supports the YGC project, the Buhay Rizal Values Campaign which seeks to promote 
the values espoused by Dr. Jose Rizal, the country’s national hero. These included donations of books of 
Dr. Rizal like the noli Me Tangere. notable last year were donations to the Association of Pangasinan 
Public Libraries Inc. (APPLI) for the school children of Pangasinan, and the Tarlac national High School 
in Tarlac City.                                                                          

WORDS OF GRATITUDE

We would like to express our sincerest gratitude to all – the shareholders, members of the board, officers, 
and employees – for their dedication and tenacity, for their hardwork and passion, as well as their support 
and effort in helping Malayan Insurance realize its vision and mission in 2015. 

With this gratitude, we encourage our stakeholders to pursue the Malayan legacy of Promises Fulfilled, 
through our positive and progressive efforts, and momentum to provide and deliver the best insurance 
protection and security to our clients, the Filipino people and the Filipino nation. Through Malayan’s 
trademark of integrity and prompt settlement of claims, let us continue to carry forward our rich legacy 
of serving with utmost commitment.

helen Y. dee
CHAIRPeRSOn

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC.

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
PReSIDenT

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC.
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Malayan Insurance holds Agents Training Congress

Malayan Insurance sponsors Rizal Books for Tarlac National High School

Tokio Marine Asia Management Conference Tokio Marine Division conducts D & O Insurance Seminar
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maLayan insUrance comPany, inc.

2015 was a significant year for Malayan Insurance Co., Inc.  Being the mother 
company, it has started all—branches, subsidiaries, and affiliates—since its 
founding in 1930, when it was established along Gandara Street, now known 
as Sabino Padilla Street in Binondo, Manila.  Since then, the company has 
continuously grown in assets and capability, greatly expanded nationwide with 
34 branches and regional offices in the Philippines.

Your company, Malayan Insurance, made further progress when it continued 
to post satisfactory gains in gross premiums written (GPW) registering P8.4 
billion in 2015, compared to P7.3 billion in 2014, showing an increase of P1.1 
billion or a growth rate of 14.6 percent (14.6%). Net premiums earned reached 
P3.1 billion in 2015, as against the P2.6 billion realized in 2014, presenting 
an improvement of P0.5 billion or a growth rate of 17.9 percent (17.9%). The 
company gained the amount of P481.7 million through investments and other 
income in 2015.  The amount is lower by P149.9 million or 24 percent (24%) 
when compared with the 2014 figure of P631.6 million.

Malayan Insurance posted total assets of P23.5 billion in 2015, lower by P 3.27 
billion, or 12%, when compared with that of 2014’s total assets of P 26.7 billion. 
Lower total assets were largely influenced by the decrease in financial assets 
by 17.4 percent (17.4%) and reinsurance assets by 26 percent (26%). Likewise, 
stockholders’ equity which in 2014 was recorded as P8.09 billion went down to 
P7.0 billion in 2015, showing a decrease of P1.1 billion or 14 percent (14 %). 

The increase in earnings could be credited to management’s continuous 
search for innovation and relentless focus on better means to serve the clients. 
Programs to improve business application systems like projects on fire multi-
location uploading, auto renewal review, e-COC facilities, the Toyota Insure 
program, issuance and engineering systems enhancements, and many other 
new systems all worked to the advantage of clients and the company. Likewise, 
the company had implemented and installed website governance for its IT, and 
social media mechanisms as well.

Financial 
review

“The increase in 
earnings could 
be credited to 
management’s 

continuous search 
for innovation and 
relentless focus on 

better means to serve  
the clients.” 

Malayan Agents Awardees during the Gabi ng Parangal 2015
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For the Financial Management Division, some key moves were undertaken 
to enhance efficient processes in its daily financial transactions like monthly 
Value at Risk (VaR) testing, fast check writing facility, improved funds 
management, and many other processes needed for the company’s efficient 
financial transactions. 

Above all, business audit was successfully completed in 2015 and Malayan 
Insurance achieved ISO 9001:2008 recertification with zero non-conformity. 
Adopting this standard will encourage Malayan to use a well-planned 
quality management system that will provide disciplined and well-controlled 
processes to achieve customer satisfaction and continuous improvement. 

Malayan Insurance has another division in its set-up, the Tokio Marine 
Division (TMD) which played a significant role in maintaining and 
continuing the business partnership established in 1964, and known then as 
Tokio Marine Malayan Insurance Co., Inc., a joint venture between Malayan 
Insurance Co., Inc. and Tokio Marine Fire Insurance Co., Inc. of Japan.  
This has been integrated into Malayan Insurance in 2008.

In a 2015 financial report, TMD passed the P1 billion mark when it generated 
GPW amounting to P1.022 billion. This shows a 100% attainment of the 
2015 budget which is 11 percent (11%) higher than the previous year’s figure 
of P0.924 billion. Likewise, during the year in review, TMD generated P1 
million from their new Directors and Officers Liability Insurance product. 
The division expects to generate more premiums in the coming year by 
actively tapping the growing expatriate and multinational community 
seeking to do business in the Philippines.

Malayan Insurance has been given the distinction of being the most stable 
non-life insurer for several years. A.M. Best once more affirmed the rating 
of Malayan Insurance for 2015 with (1) Financial Strength Rating: B++ 
(Good), (2) Issuer Credit Rating: bbb+, and (3) Outlook for both – Stable.

“Malayan Insurance  
has been given the  
rating as the most  
stable non-life insurer  
for several years.”

Malayan holds Sales Rally 2015 Tokio Marine Asia holds top management meeting in the country
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first nationwiDe ASSURANCE CORPORATION (FNAC)

On the eve of its golden anniversary, First nationwide Assurance Corporation 
(FnAC) boosted its business operations in order to have a considerable share 
in the country’s non-life insurance market in 2015. With its renewed focus on 
improving marketing strategy and commitment to provide customer satisfaction, 
business renewals as well as new business accounts displayed dramatic 
improvements as evidenced by a 27% growth in gross premiums written (GPW) 
for motorcar line of business, 34% for fire insurance, and 46% for personal 
accident insurance. Overall, GPW increased by 32% or P43 million for 2015.

Meanwhile, due to a build up of premiums reserve, amounting to P29.6 million, 
FnAC’s net premiums earned in 2015 reached P124.4 million, as against P129.9 
million in the previous year, lower by P5.5 million or 4.2 percent (4.2%); while 
total underwriting Income was recorded at P127 million during the year in 
review, versus P132 million in 2014, showing a decrease of P4.9 million or 3.7 
percent (3.7%).

Lower incidence of major typhoons and other catastrophic events in 2015 
resulted in a P7 million drop in claims and losses or a decrease of 12% compared 
to that of 2014. net underwriting income increased by P1.6 million or 3 percent 
(3%) to P52.58 million in 2015, from P50.98 million in 2014.

unfavorable swings in the financial markets in 2015 resulted in lower dividend 
income for investments in stocks which was at P16.8 million compared to P21 
million of 2014 or a decrease of 20 percent (20%). Also during the year in review, 
FnAC had maturities in investment in bonds which accounted for the lower 
interest income of P11 million in 2015, as against P13.7 million in 2014. Overall, 
financial and investment income of P33.7 million decreased by 9 percent (9%), 
compared with that of 2014 of P37 million. 

FNAC’s provisions for income tax decreased by 70% from P3.75 million in 2014 
to P1.1 million in 2015. The company had excess income tax credits in 2014 and 
2015, which were applied against income tax provision.

For its total assets, FnAC recorded P1.2 billion in 2015, in comparison to 2014’s 
total assets of P1.3 billion; while its stockholders’ equity reached P597.9 million 
in 2015, against P723.7 million in 2014.                                                                                                                                           
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
For the bancassurance arm of the Malayan Group, net income increased to 
P14.9 million in 2015, from P14.2 million in 2014, an improvement of 5 percent 
(5%). As the official bancassurance partner of the Rizal Commercial Banking 
Corporation (RCBC), the company has actively sought to diversify its product 

“On the eve of its golden 
anniversary,  FnAC boosted 

its business operations in 
order to have a considerable 

share in the country’s non-life 
insurance market in 2015.” 

Ambassador Alfonso T. Yuchengco and Ms. Helen Y. Dee lead 
the toast during FNAC’s 50th anniversary celebration

FNAC President Mr. Antonio M. Rubin and Chairperson Ms. 
Yvonne S. Yuchengco award top performers during FNAC’s 
50th anniversary celebration

Awardees during the FNAC golden anniversary celebration
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offerings to RCBC clients through the introduction of a Family Personal Accident package 
and Personal Accident in cards.

BANKERS ASSURANCE CORPORATION (BAC)

2015 was another year to reckon with for Bankers Assurance Corporation (BAC) as it 
celebrated its 60th anniversary. The company was established on September 6, 1955 
in Binondo, Manila. BAC is Malayan Group’s member company specializing in the 
microinsurance market and overseas Filipino workers (OFW).

Strategic decisions were made by management to counteract negative developments in 
2014 on its microinsurance portfolio. Analyzing its accomplishment in 2015, BAC was 
aggressive in its performance to arrive at a very favorable turnaround in its net income, 
from a net loss of P3.8 million in 2014 to a gain of P23.6 million, showing a shift to overcome 
adverse conditions in 2014 by P27.4 million, or an increase of 723 percent (723%).

This favorable development was attributed to an improved underwriting of its personal 
accident-based programs which resulted in better claims experience from 65% loss ratio 
in 2014 to 18% loss ratio in 2015. Consequently, this move led to the improvement of BAC’s 
retention ratio from 79% in 2014 to 94% in 2015.

Nevertheless, GPW, registered in 2015 at P83.1 million or a 23 percent (23%) drop from 
previous year’s figures. Comparatively, BAC realized net premiums earned in the amount 
of P74.5 million in 2015 and P61.5 million in 2014. The different figures show an increase 
of P13 million or 21 percent (21%).

The company recorded total assets of P926.3 million in 2015, as against its registered total 
assets of P1.1 billion in 2014, representing a decrease by P158.4 million or 14.6 percent 
(14.6%). Stockholders’ equity was realized at P631.8 million in 2015, compared to the 
P787.7 million in 2014, showing a decline of P155.9 million, or 19.8 percent (19.8%).   

Steadfast in its unwavering commitment to provide insurance protection to the low-income 
earning strata of the economy, BAC forged key partnerships to realize and strengthen its 
goal in improving distribution in the microinsurance market.

Microinsurance is a key advocacy of the Philippine Insurance Commission. Through 
strong collaborations between the public sector and commercial insurers such as BAC, 
microinsurance presently has an outreach of 28 million Filipinos, representing a broad 
market for insurance protection, and placing the Philippines at the forefront in Asia and 
Oceania in terms of percentage of population with microinsurance.

“2015 was another 
year to reckon 
with for Bankers 
Assurance 
Corporation (BAC) 
as it celebrated its 
60th anniversary.”

BAC celebrates 60th anniversary
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Statement of Management 
Responsibility for Financial Statement

The management of MICO equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014, including the additional components attached therein, in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes designing and implementing internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approved the consolidated financial statements and submits the 
same to the stockholders.

SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors, appointed by the stockholders has examined the 
consolidated financial statements of the company in accordance with Philippine Standard on Auditing, 
and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 
completion of such examination.

frederick P. Pineda
Chief Financial Officer

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

helen Y. dee
Chairperson

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
President

alegria r. castro
Controller
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Statement of Management 
Responsibility for Financial Statement

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
MICO equities, Inc.
5th Floor, Yuchengco Building
500 quintin Paredes Street
Binondo, Manila

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MICO equities, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of MICO equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the stockholders, Board of Directors and 
management of MICO equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties.

SYCIP GORReS VeLAYO & CO.

Michael C. Sabado
Partner
CPA Certificate no. 89336
SeC Accreditation no. 0664-AR-2 (Group A),
 March 26, 2014, valid until March 25, 2017
Tax Identification No. 160-302-865
BIR Accreditation no. 08-001998-73-2015,
 February 27, 2015, valid until February 26, 2018
PTR no. 5321688, January 4, 2016, Makati City

June 30, 2016
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 December 31
2015 2014

assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4, 26, 27 and 28) P3,027,861,479 P1,114,595,347
Short-term investments (Notes 5, 26, 27 and 28) 97,920,122 70,227,245
Insurance receivables - net (Notes 6, 26 and 27) 4,402,846,367 5,362,220,566
Financial assets (Notes 7, 26, 27 and 28)

Available-for-sale financial assets 8,481,145,970 10,090,468,471
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 277,823,087 258,938,012
Loans and receivables - net 1,435,802,214 1,729,023,479

Accrued income (Notes 8, 26, 27 and 28) 48,150,680 56,359,464
Deferred acquisition costs (Notes 9 and 26) 302,645,982 354,175,047
Reinsurance assets (Notes 10, 14 and 26) 7,531,743,784 11,146,273,208
Investment properties - net (Note 11) 27,099,092 27,169,980
Property and equipment - net (Notes 12 and 26) 303,244,673 304,990,039
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 24) 135,218,316 107,377,857
Other assets - net (Notes 13 and 26) 437,435,815 444,379,610

P26,508,937,581 P31,066,198,325

LiabiLities anD eqUity
Liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities (Notes 14 and 26) P11,236,456,645 P14,364,929,141
Insurance payables (Notes 15, 26 and 27) 2,811,343,294 2,836,957,968
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities  

(Notes 16, 26 and 27) 2,244,961,163 2,116,180,944
Income tax payable 275,311 281,365
Deferred reinsurance commissions (Note 9) 133,337,030 187,818,210
Pension liability (Note 17) 242,757,715 204,788,026

16,669,131,158 19,710,955,654
Equity (Note 29)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Capital stock (Note 18) 600,000,000 600,000,000
Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial assets

(Note 7) 3,010,751,737 4,268,246,821
Equity reserves (Notes 2 and 18) 1,024,629,880 1,024,629,880
Other revaluation reserve (Note 18) 23,466,647 23,466,647
Remeasurement loss in pension obligation (129,796,798) (123,294,763)
Cumulative translation adjustments (7,761,099) (49,509,783)
Retained earnings (Note 18) 4,611,544,683 4,624,359,491

9,132,835,050 10,367,898,293
Non-controlling interests 706,971,373 987,344,378

9,839,806,423 11,355,242,671
 P26,508,937,581 P31,066,198,325

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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 Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

income
Gross premiums earned P9,305,715,027 P7,926,085,860
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned 5,998,925,925 5,092,989,225
Net premiums earned (Notes 14 and 19) 3,306,789,102 2,833,096,635

Investment and other income (Note 20) 686,189,629 784,388,825
Commission income (Note 9) 458,788,803 385,203,764
Other income 1,144,978,432 1,169,592,589
Total income 4,451,767,534 4,002,689,224

benefits, cLaims anD exPenses
Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid 

(Notes 14 and 21) 3,314,310,358 4,037,246,750
Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract benefits 

and claims paid (Notes 14 and 21) (1,854,233,887) (2,471,028,579)
Gross change in insurance contract liabilities (Note 21) (2,433,537,839) 215,816,450
Reinsurers’ share of gross change in insurance contract 

liabilities (Note 21) 2,507,819,087 (353,698,147)
Net insurance contract benefits and claims 1,534,357,719 1,428,336,474

Commission expense (Note 9) 1,258,362,176 1,032,981,646
General and administrative expenses (Note 22) 1,136,470,659 1,077,216,132
Other underwriting expense (Note 9) 195,617,793 140,836,423
Investment and other expense (Note 20) 261,878,141 45,630,348
Other expenses 2,852,328,769 2,296,664,549

Total benefits, claims and other expenses 4,386,686,488 3,725,001,023

income before income tax 65,081,046 277,688,201

Provision for income tax (Note 24) 35,477,063 148,535,859

net income (Note 25) P29,603,983 P129,152,342

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company (12,814,808) 92,084,285
Non-controlling interests 42,418,791 37,068,057

P29,603,983 P129,152,342
 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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 Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

net income

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) P29,603,983 P129,152,342
Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net fair value changes on available-for-sale financial 
  assets - net of tax effect (Note 7)  (1,576,414,792) 197,603,312

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Cumulative translation adjustment 41,748,684 14,745,171
Remeasurement gain (loss) on net pension obligation, net of  
  tax effect (Note 10) (10,374,123) 1,333,717
Gain on sale of shares of a subsidiary (Note 18) – 1,024,629,880

totaL comPreHensive income (Loss) (P1,515,436,248) P1,367,464,422

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company (P1,235,063,243) P1,358,454,460
Non-controlling interests (280,373,005) 9,009,962

(P1,515,436,248) P1,367,464,422

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

casH fLows from oPerating activities
Income before income tax P65,081,046 P277,688,201
Adjustments for:
 Impairment loss on AFS financial assets (Notes 7 and 20) 242,803,834 14,582,339
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 72,434,626 70,824,512
 Interest expense on reinsurance funds held (Note 20) 5,751,046 6,326,731
 Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through 

  profit or loss (Note 20) (6,335,957) (7,151,938)
 Foreign exchange adjustments (136,098,878) (278,048,942)
  Interest income (Note 20) (222,523,887) (235,626,151)
 Dividend income (Note 20) (228,962,611) (284,017,813)
 Loss (gain) on sale of (Note 20):
    Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,830,676 (2,466,564)
    Property and equipment (191,308) (627,221)
  Investment property (434,556) (246,074)
  Available-for-sale financial assets (68,419,476) (182,328,348)
   Investment in subsidiary ‒ 1,024,629,880
  Real estate properties for sale ‒ (11,420,817)
Operating income (loss) before working capital changes (275,065,445) 392,117,795
 Decrease (increase) in:
  Insurance receivables 989,377,295 103,339,894
  Loans and receivables 227,549,005 (142,008,796)
  Accrued rent income (524,149) 2,611,681
    Accrued management fee ‒ (700,000)
  Deferred acquisition costs 51,529,065 57,412,874
  Reinsurance assets 3,614,529,424 (206,098,588)
  Other assets 6,943,796 (59,913,940)
 Increase (decrease) in:
  Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 128,780,219 442,853,952
  Pension liability 3,627,195 12,437,531
  Insurance payables (25,614,674) (918,815,060)
  Deferred reinsurance commissions (54,481,180) (8,494,252)
  Insurance contract liabilities (3,128,472,496) 132,130,895
Net cash generated by (used in) by operations 1,538,178,055 (193,126,014)
Income tax paid (35,483,116) (143,617,782)
Interest paid on reinsurance funds held (Note 20) (5,751,046) (6,326,731)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,496,943,893 (343,070,527)

(Forward)

Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

casH fLows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale or maturities of:
 Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7) P1,343,365,637 P1,426,270,926
 Long-term commercial papers (Note 7) 172,076,464 62,300,000
 Short-term investments 70,227,245 41,200,136
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 7) 63,599,228 67,878,821
 Investment properties (Note 11) 434,556 1,242,824
 Property and equipment (Note 12) 191,308 2,718,462

Real estate properties for sale ‒ 13,500,817
Interest received 228,232,466 248,611,049
Dividends received 231,986,966 280,254,738
Acquisitions of:
 Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7) (1,366,438,452) (896,724,943)
 Long-term commercial papers (Note 7) (106,404,204) (164,127,645)
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 7) (77,636,612) (64,793,753)
 Property and equipment (Note 12) (70,615,201) (69,798,850)
 Short-term investments (97,920,122) (70,227,245)
Net cash provided by investing activities 391,099,279 878,305,337
casH fLows from financing activity
Payments of dividends (Note 18) ‒ (607,096,150)

effect of excHange rate cHanges on casH anD casH eqUivaLents 25,222,960 35,670,209

net increase (Decrease) in casH anD casH eqUivaLents 1,913,266,132 (36,191,131)

casH anD casH eqUivaLents at beginning of year (Note 4) 1,114,595,347 1,150,786,478

casH anD casH eqUivaLents at enD of year P3,027,861,479 P1,114,595,347

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial  
Statements

MICO equITIeS, InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

1. Corporate Information

 MICO Equities, Inc. (the Parent Company) is a domestic corporation which was incorporated on June 28, 1972 and duly registered with the Philippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on January 29, 1973 to invest in nonlife insurance companies.

 On August 1, 2007, the Parent Company, as amended, started to acquire, purchase, own, hold, mortgage, pledge, exchange, sell, transfer or otherwise 
deal in real properties, without however engaging in stock brokerage business; provided that the corporation shall not engage in the business of being 
a broker/dealer in securities a Government Securities Eligible Dealer (GSED), an investment company/mutual fund company.

 The Parent Company’s ultimate parent is Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation (PMMIC) with registered office address at 48th Floor, 
Yuchengco Tower, RCBC Plaza, 6819 Ayala Avenue, Makati City.

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and the following wholly and majority-owned 
subsidiaries:

Place of Percentage of Ownership
Incorporation 2015 2014

Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (MICO) and Subsidiaries: Philippines 80.0% 80.0%
 Bankers Assurance Corporation (BAC) Philippines 100.0 100.0
 The First Nationwide Assurance Corporation (FNAC) Philippines 54.7 54.7
Malayan International Insurance Corporation,  
Limited (MIIC) and Subsidiaries: Bahamas 100.0 100.0
 Malayan Insurance Company (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 100.0 100.0

Asia-PAC Reinsurance Company, Limited
British Virgin

Islands
100.0 100.0

FNAC Philippines 45.3 45.3
Malayan Securities Corporation (MSC) Philippines 100.0 100.0

 MICO and Subsidiaries is engaged in nonlife insurance business dealing with all kinds of insurance such as fire, marine, bond, motor car, personal 
accident, miscellaneous casualty and engineering, except life insurance.

 MIIC and Subsidiaries and Asia-PAC Reinsurance Company, Limited are engaged in the reinsurance of nonlife insurance business.

 FNAC is 45.3% owned by MICO Equities, Inc. (MEI).  FNAC was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in nonlife insurance business dealing with all 
kinds of insurance such as fire, marine, motor car, personal accident, miscellaneous casualty and bonds, except life insurance, and to act as agent of 
other insurance or surety companies in any of the branches of insurance, including life insurance.

 MSC is incorporated to invest in equity and debt securities.

 Pursuant to a special resolution passed on the special board of director’s meeting of the Parent Company, on September 18, 2014, the Parent Company 
was authorized to sell its 737,600 common shares of stock in Malayan Insurance Company, Inc. to Tokio Marine Asia PTE, Ltd. reducing its percentage 
of ownership to 80% without loss of control.

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of MICO Equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Group) were approved and authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors (BOD) on June 30, 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 Basis of Preparation
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) 

financial assets which have been measured at fair value. The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Php, 
P), which is also the Parent Company’s functional currency. For presentation purposes, other currencies are translated to the Parent Company’s 
functional currency, except as indicated, all amounts are rounded off to the nearest peso. This report is intended solely for the information and 
use of the stockholders, Board of Directors and management of MICO Equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries and is not intended to be and should not be 
used by anyone other than these specified parties.  The consolidated financial statements are not intended for filing to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and other regulatory bodies.
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 Statement of Compliance
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

(PFRS).  The Group has subsidiaries namely: Malayan Insurance Company Inc. (MICO), Malayan Securities Corporation (MSEC), Asia-Pac Reinsurance 
Company, Limited, Bankers Assurance Corporation (ASPAC), the First Nationwide Assurance Corporation (FNAC) and Malayan International Insurance 
Corporation, Limited (MIIC) (see Note 1).  The Parent Company’s ultimate parent (PMMIC) also prepares a consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with PFRS, which is being filed at 2004A, East Tower, PSE Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.  It may also be obtained from 
(PMMIC) with registered office address at 48th Floor, Yuchengco Tower, RCBC Plaza, 6819 Ayala Avenue, Makati City.

 Basis of Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated 
until the date when such control ceases.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent 
Company, using consistent accounting policies.  All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

 Non-controlling interests (NCIs) pertains to the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly to the Parent Company.  Any equity 
instruments issued by a subsidiary that are not owned by the Parent Company are NCIs.

 NCIs represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not wholly-owned and are presented separately in the consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements 
of financial position, separately from the Parent Company’s equity.

 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the NCI even if that results in a deficit balance. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  Any difference between the amount by which the NCIs are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity as “Equity reserve” and attributed to the owners of the Parent Company.

If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary it:

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as 

appropriate.

 Changes in Accounting Policies
 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of the following amended PFRS and 

Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) interpretations which became effective beginning January 1, 2015.  Except as otherwise stated, the adoption 
of these amended standards and Philippine Interpretations did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments)
 PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions 

are linked to service, they should be attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount of the 
contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service 
cost in the period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. 

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle)

 PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition 
 This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of performance and service conditions which are 

vesting conditions, including:

• A performance condition must contain a service condition
 • A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
 • A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in the same group
 • A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
 • If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting period, the service condition is not satisfied.

 This amendment was not applicable to the Group as it has no share-based payments.
 
 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business Combination
 The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after July 1, 2014.  It clarifies that a 

contingent consideration that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) whether or not it falls 
within the scope of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This amendment did not significantly impact the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.
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 PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s 
Assets

 The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarify that:

• An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria in the standard, including a brief description 
of operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess whether the 
segments are ‘similar’.

• The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision 
maker, similar to the required disclosure for segment liabilities.

 The amendments affected disclosures only and had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position or performance.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Revaluation Method – Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation 
and Amortization

 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by reference to the observable data 
on either the gross or the net carrying amount.  In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between the gross and 
carrying amounts of the asset. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position or performance.

 PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an entity that provides key management personnel 

services, is a related party subject to the related party disclosures.  In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the 
expenses incurred for management services.  The amendments affected disclosures only and had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
position or performance.

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle)

 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope exceptions within PFRS 3:

• Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.
• This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

 The amendment had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position or performance.

 PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied not only to financial assets and financial 

liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of PAS 39.  The amendment had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
position or performance.

 PAS 40, Investment Property
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the 

transaction is the purchase of an asset or business combination.  The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates between investment 
property and owner-occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment).  The amendment had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial position or performance.

 Future Changes in Accounting Policies

 Deferred
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
 This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly or 

through subcontractors.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting Standard Council (FRSC) have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final 
Revenue standard is issued by the IASB and an evaluation of the requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine 
real estate industry is completed.  Adoption of the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

 PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

 These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS 10 and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized when a 
transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not).  A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets 
that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015, the IASB deferred indefinitely the effective 
date of these amendments pending the final outcome of the IASB’s research project on International Accounting Standards 28.  Adoption of these 
amendments when they become effective will not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 Effective 2016
 PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 

Exception (Amendments)
 These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an 

investment entity that measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value and that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity 
itself and that provides support services to the investment entity parent is consolidated. The amendments also allow an investor (that is not an 
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investment entity and has an investment entity associate or joint venture), when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  Adoption of the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

 PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments)
 The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 

financial statements.  Entities already applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply 
that change retrospectively.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  
These amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

 PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests (Amendments)
 The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of 

the joint operation constitutes a business (as defined by PFRS 3), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting.  The 
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same 
joint operation while joint control is retained.  In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply 
when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party.

 The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint 
operation and are prospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  These amendments 
are not expected to have any impact to the Group.

 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments)
 The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the presentation and disclosure requirements in PFRS.  They 

clarify the following:

• That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either obscuring material information with immaterial 
information; or aggregating material items that have different natures or functions

• That specific line items in the statement of income and OCI and the statement of financial position may be disaggregated
• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements
• That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, 

and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

 Early application is permitted and entities do not need to disclose that fact as the amendments are considered to be clarifications that do not affect an 
entity’s accounting policies or accounting estimates.  The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial 
statements.

 PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate- regulation, to continue applying most of its existing 

accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS. Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must present the 
regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial position and present movements in these account balances as 
separate line items in the statement of income and other comprehensive income. The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and risks 
associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. PFRS 14 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Since the Group is an existing PFRS preparer, this standard would not apply.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
 The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, 

biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After initial 
recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model 
(after maturity). The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at fair value less 
costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, will 
apply. The amendments are retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 
(Amendments)

 The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating 
a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based 
method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible 
assets.  The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-
current assets.

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
 The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 and are not expected to 

have a material impact on the Group.  They include:

 PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of Disposal
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-

versa should not be considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.  There is, therefore, no interruption of the 
application of the requirements in PFRS 5.  The amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification. 
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 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts
 PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognized in its entirety.  The 

amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset.  An entity must assess the 
nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance on continuing involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required.  
The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done 
retrospectively.  However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the 
entity first applies the amendments.

 PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements
 This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in 

the condensed interim financial report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual report. 

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - regional market issue regarding discount rate
 This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which 

the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located.  When there is no deep market for high quality corporate 
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.  

 PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting – disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’
 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or 

incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial report 
(i.e., in the management commentary or risk report).

 Effective 2018
 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
 In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.  The new standard (renamed as PFRS 9) reflects all phases of the financial 

instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.  PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but providing comparative information is not 
compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.  Early application of previous 
versions of PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date of initial application is before February 1, 2015. 

 The Group did not early adopt PFRS 9.  The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s consolidated 
financial assets, but will have no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s consolidated financial liabilities.  

 The following new standards have been issued by the IASB but have not yet been adopted locally.

 International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to 

revenue arising from contracts with customers.  Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to 
measuring and recognizing revenue.

 The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS.  Either a full or 
modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  Early adoption is permitted. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the standard. 

 IFRS 16, Leases
 On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued its new standard, IFRS 16, Leases, which replaces International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17, the current leases 

standard, and the related Interpretations.

 Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance leases in accordance with IAS 17.  Rather, lessees 
will apply the single-asset model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases on their balance sheets, 
and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss. Leases with a term of twelve (12) 
months or less or for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requirements.

 The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the principles of lessor accounting under IAS 17.  Lessors, 
however, will be required to disclose more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual value.

 The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  

 Entities may early adopt IFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. When adopting IFRS 16, an 
entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs.  The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

 Product Classification
 Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholders) 

by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders.  As a general 
guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits paid with benefits payable if the insured event did 
not occur.  Insurance contracts can also transfer financial risk.

 Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance 
risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or has expired.
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 Use of Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments
 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions and judgments.  These estimates and 

assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period as well as affecting the reported income and 
expenses for the year.  Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of current facts as at the end of the 
reporting period, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly significantly.  For further information on critical estimates and 
judgments, refer to Note 3.

 Fair Value Measurement
 The Group measures financial instrument at fair value at each reporting period.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

 For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 
have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of placements and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Insurance Receivables
 Premium receivables are recognized on policy inception dates and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the consideration receivable for 

the period of coverage.  The carrying value of insurance receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable, with the impairment loss recorded in statement of income.

 Financial Instruments
 Date of recognition
 The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date.

 Initial recognition of financial instruments
 All financial assets and liabilities are recognized initially at fair value.  Except for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 

or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of financial instruments includes transaction costs.  The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and loans and receivables.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities.  
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every 
reporting date.

 Determination of fair value
 The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations 

(bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and ask prices are not 
available, the price of the most recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in 
economic circumstances since the time of the transaction.

 For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, option pricing models, 
and other relevant valuation models.

 ‘Day 1’ difference
 Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value based on other observable current market transactions on the 

same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference 
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between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type 
of asset or liability.  In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each 
transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount.

 AFS financial assets
 AFS investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as designated at FVPL, Held-to-Maturity (HTM) or loans and 

receivables.  They are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions.

 After initial measurement, AFS investments are subsequently measured at fair value.  The effective yield component of AFS debt securities, as well as 
the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the statement of income.  Interest earned on holding 
AFS investments are reported as interest income using the effective interest rate.

 Dividends earned on holding AFS investments are recognized in the profit or loss when the right to receive the payment has been established. The 
unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS investments are reported as ‘Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial 
assets’ in the equity section of the statement of financial position.  The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized in the 
statement of income.  When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized as realized gains or 
losses in the statement of income.  Where the Group holds more than one investment in the same security, the cost is determined using the weighted 
average method.

 When the fair value of AFS investments cannot be measured reliably because of lack of reliable estimates of future cash flows and discount rates 
necessary to calculate the fair value of unquoted equity instruments, these investments are carried at cost.

 Loans and receivables
 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  They are 

not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as financial assets held for trading, designated as AFS or 
FVPL.  This accounting policy relates to the statement of financial position captions: (a) “Cash and Cash Equivalents”, (b) “Insurance Receivables”, (c) 
“Loans and receivables” and (d) “Accrued Income”.

 After initial measurement, the loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less allowance 
for impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate.  The amortization is included in the investment and other income account in the statement of income.  The losses arising from 
impairment of such loans and receivables are recognized in the statement of income.

 Other financial liabilities
 Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at FVPL are classified as other financial liabilities where the substance 

of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the 
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  The components 
of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned 
the residual amount after deducting from the instrument a whole amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component on the 
date of issue. 

 After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Any effects 
of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the statement of income.

 This accounting policy applies primarily to insurance payables, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities that meet the above 
definition (other than liabilities covered by other accounting standards, such as retirement benefit liability and income tax payable).

 Offsetting Financial Instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  The Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right to offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally 
enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties.

 Impairment of Financial Assets
 The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 Financial Assets carried at amortized cost
 For financial assets carried at amortized cost (e.g., loans and receivables, HTM investments), the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of 

impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the 
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the 
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment.
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 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

 If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged against profit or loss.  If, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

 The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  Time value is generally 
not considered when the effect of discounting is not material.  If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment 
loss is the current effective interest rate, adjusted for the original credit risk premium.  The calculation of the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not foreclosure is probable.

 For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of credit risk characteristics such as past-due status 
and term.

 AFS financial assets carried at fair value
 In case of equity investments, impairment indicators would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its 

cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement of income is removed from equity and recognized in 
the statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the statement of income.  Increases in fair value after 
impairment are recognized directly in equity.

 In case of debt instruments, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income 
is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the impairment loss and is recorded as part of interest income in the statement of income.  If subsequently, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increased and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the statement of income, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of income.

 AFS financial assets carried at cost
 If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value 

cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instrument has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

 Offsetting Financial Instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  The Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right to offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally 
enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties.

 Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
 Financial asset

 A financial asset (or where applicable a part of financial asset or a part of a group of financial asset) is derecognized when: 
a. the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
b. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 

party under a pass-through arrangement or;
c. the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

 Financial liability
 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability has expired, or is discharged or cancelled.  Where an existing financial 

liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income.

 Reinsurance
 The Group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business.  Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies for its share 

on the unpaid losses incurred by the Group.  Recoverable amounts are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and 
are in accordance with the reinsurance contract.  Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses are included as part of “Insurance receivables”.

 Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each end of the reporting period or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises 
during the reporting year.  Impairment occurs when objective evidence exists that the Group may not recover outstanding amounts under the terms 
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of the contract and when the impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer can be measured reliably.  The impairment loss is 
recorded in the statement of income.

 Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policy holders.

 The Group also assumes reinsurance risk in the normal course of business for insurance contracts.  Premiums and claims on assumed reinsurance are 
recognized in profit or loss as income and expenses in the same manner as they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking 
into account the product classification of the reinsured business.  Reinsurance liabilities represent balances due to reinsurance companies.  Amounts 
payable are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated reinsurance contract.

 Premiums and claims are presented on a gross basis for both ceded and assumed reinsurance.

 Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognized when the contractual rights are extinguished or expired or when the contract is transferred to 
another party.

 When the Group enters into a proportional treaty reinsurance agreement for ceding out its insurance business, the Group initially recognizes a liability 
at transaction price.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the portion of the amount initially recognized as a liability, which is presented as Insurance 
payables in the liabilities section of the statement of financial position, will be withheld and recognized as Funds held for reinsurers and included as 
part of the Insurance payables in the liabilities section of the statement of financial position.  The amount withheld is generally released after a year.  
Funds held by ceding companies are accounted for in the same manner.

 Deferred Acquisition Costs (DAC)
 Commission and other acquisition costs incurred during the financial period that vary with and are related to securing new insurance contracts and or 

renewing existing insurance contracts, but which relates to subsequent financial periods, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of 
future revenue margins.  All other acquisition costs are recognized as expense when incurred.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis using the 24th method over the life of the contract except for the 
marine cargo where commissions for the last two months of the year are recognized as expense the following year.  Amortization is charged against 
the statement of income.  The unamortized acquisition costs are shown as DAC in the assets section of the statement of financial position.

 An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises.  The carrying value is written 
down to the recoverable amount.  The impairment loss is charged against the statement of income.  DAC is also considered in the liability adequacy 
test for each reporting period.

 Property and Equipment
 Property and equipment, except for land, are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value.  Land is 

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

 The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including nonrefundable taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

 Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the properties as follows:

Years
Building and improvements 40
Building equipment 5
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 5
Transportation equipment 5

 Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or estimated useful life of 5 years, whichever is shorter.

 The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and method of depreciation 
and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

 When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
accumulated provision for impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets, which 
is calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is included in the consolidated statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized.

 Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs)
 Creditable withholding pertains to the indirect tax paid by the Group that is withheld by its counterparty for the payment of its expenses and other 

purchases.  These CWTs are initially recorded at cost as an asset under “Other assets” account.

 At each end of the tax reporting deadline, these CWTs may either be offset against future tax income payable or be claimed as a refund from the 
taxation authorities at the option of the Group.

 If these CWTs are claimed as a refund, these will be recorded as a receivable under “Loans and receivables” account.
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 At each end of the reporting period, an assessment for impairment is performed as to the recoverability of these CWTs.

 Computer Software
 Costs associated with the acquisition of computer software are capitalized only if the asset can be reliably measured, will generate future economic 

benefits, and there is an ability to use or sell the asset.

 Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortization.  Computer software cost is amortized over the expected useful life of the asset, 
but not to exceed five (5) years.  All computer software components are amortized over five (5) years.  Amortization commences when the asset is 
available for use or when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group.

 Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
 The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is an indication that investment properties, property and equipment and 

computer software may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 An assessment is made at each end of the reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such 
reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  
After such reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

 Value-added Tax (VAT)
 The input value added tax pertains to the 12% indirect tax paid by the Group in the course of the Group’s trade or business on local purchase of goods 

or services.

 Output VAT pertains to the 12% tax due on the sale of insurance policies and other goods or services by the Group.

 If at the end of any taxable month, the output VAT exceeds the input VAT, the outstanding balance is included under “Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses” account.  If the input VAT exceeds the output VAT, the excess shall be carried over to the succeeding months and included under “Other 
assets” account.

 Real Estate Properties for Sale
 Real estate properties for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).  NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to sell.  The cost of 
inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property.

 Insurance Contract Liabilities
 Provision for Unearned Premiums
 The proportion of written premiums, gross of commissions payable to intermediaries, attributable to subsequent periods or to risks that have not 

yet expired is deferred as provision for unearned premiums.  Premiums from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over 
the period of the contracts using the 24th method except for the marine cargo where premiums for the last two months are considered earned the 
following year.  The portion of the premiums written that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted 
for as Provision for unearned premiums as part of Insurance contract liabilities and presented in the liabilities section of the consolidated statement of 
financial position.  The change in the provision for unearned premiums is taken to profit or loss in order that revenue is recognized over the period of 
risk.  Further provisions are made to cover claims under unexpired insurance contracts which may exceed the unearned premiums and the premiums 
due in respect of these contracts.

 Claims Provision and Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Losses
 These liabilities are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the end of the reporting period together with 

related claims handling costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries.  Delays can be experienced in the notification 
and settlement of certain types of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty at the end of the reporting period.  
The liability is not discounted for the time value of money and includes provision for IBNR losses.  The liability is derecognized when the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or has expired.

 Liability Adequacy Test
 At each end of the reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed, to ensure the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities, net of related 

DAC assets. In performing the test, current best estimates of future cash flows, claims handling and policy administration expenses are used.  Changes 
in expected claims that have occurred, but which have not been settled, are reflected by adjusting the liability for claims and future benefits.  Any 
inadequacy is immediately charged to the consolidated statement of income by establishing an unexpired risk provision for losses arising from the 
liability adequacy tests.  The provision for unearned premiums is increased to the extent that the future claims and expenses in respect of current 
insurance contracts exceed future premiums plus the current provision for unearned premiums.

 Insurance Payables
 Insurance payables are recognized when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the consideration received less attributable 

transaction cost.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
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 Insurance payables are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is settled,cancelled or expired.

 Pension Cost
 The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 

reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

 The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method.

 Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
• Service cost
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

 Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit 
or loss.  Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated periodically by independent 
qualified actuaries.

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability or asset that arises from 
the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss.

 Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest 
on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are not 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

 Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance policies.  Plan assets are not available to the 
creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group.  Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market 
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk 
associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until 
the settlement of the related obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the 
measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan 
or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

 The Group’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset 
at fair value when and only when reimbursement is virtually certain.

 Equity
 Capital stock is recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding subscription agreement and is measured at par value.

 Capital in excess of par value includes any premiums received in excess of par value on the issuance of capital stock.

 Contributed surplus represents the original contribution of the stockholders of the Parent Company, in addition to the paid-in capital stock, in order 
to comply with the pre-licensing requirements as provided under the Insurance Code (the Code).

 Contingency surplus pertains to capital infusion of shareholders in order to comply with Margin of Solvency (MOS) deficiency as a result of the 
examination made by the Insurance Commission (IC).

 Other revaluation reserve pertains to the appraisal increment on building relating to the Parent Company’s previously held interest in Tokio Marine 
Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (TMMIC) at the time of the business combination.  The balance of the other revaluation reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings when the building is disposed or derecognized.

 Retained earnings include all the accumulated earnings of the Group, net of dividends declared.

 Revenue Recognition
 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

 Premiums Revenue
 Gross insurance written premiums comprise the total premiums receivable for the whole period of cover provided by contracts entered into during 

the accounting period and are recognized on the date on which the policy incepts.  Premiums include any adjustments arising in the accounting period 
for premiums receivable in respect of business written in prior periods.

 Premiums from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contracts using the 24th method except for the 
marine cargo where premiums for the last two months are considered earned the following year.  The portion of the premiums written that relate 
to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted for as Provision for unearned premiums as part of Insurance 
contract liabilities and presented in the liabilities section of the consolidated statements of financial position.  The related reinsurance premiums 
ceded that pertains to the unexpired periods at end of the reporting period are accounted for as Deferred reinsurance premiums and shown as part 
of reinsurance assets in the consolidated statements of financial position.  The net changes in these accounts between each end of reporting periods 
are recognized in profit or loss.
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 Reinsurance Commissions
 Commissions earned from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contracts using the 24th method 

except for the marine cargo where the deferred reinsurance commissions for the last two months of the year are considered earned the following 
year.  The portion of the commissions that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted for as deferred 
reinsurance commissions and presented in the Liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

 Interest income
 For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial instruments, interest income is recorded at the effective 

interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options), includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an  
integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses.  The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective 
interest rate.  The change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income.

 Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income 
continues to be recognized using the original effective interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.

 Rental income
 Rental income from investment properties are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

 Management fees
 Management fees are recognized as income when services are rendered.

 Other income
 Income from other sources is recognized when earned.

 Expense Recognition
 Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrence of liabilities 

that result in decrease in equity, other than those relating to distribution to equity participants.

 Benefits and Claims
 Benefits and claims consists of benefits and claims paid to policyholders, which includes changes in the valuation of Insurance contract liabilities, 

except for changes in the provision for unearned premiums which are recorded in insurance revenue.  It further includes internal and external claims 
handling costs that are directly related to the processing and settlement of claims.  Amounts receivable in respect of salvage and subrogation are also 
considered.  General insurance claims are recorded on the basis of notifications received.

 Commission Expense
 Commissions are recognized as expense over the period of the contracts using the 24th method.  The portion of the commissions that relates to 

the unexpired periods of the policies at the end of the reporting period is accounted for as “Deferred acquisition cost” in the assets section of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

 Other underwriting expense
 Other underwriting expense pertains to the costs incurred by the Group prior to the issuance of policies to its policyholders.  These costs include 

expenses for technical inspections, actuarial reviews and other work that is deemed necessary to determine whether or not to accept the risks to be 
written.  These costs are recognized as expense as they are incurred.

 Expenses
 General and administrative expense and other investment expense, except for lease agreements, are recognized as expense as they are incurred.

 Interest expense
 Interest expense is charged against operations as they are incurred.

 Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 

whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term;
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset or;
d. There is a substantial change to the asset.

 Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

 Group  as a lessor
 Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases.  Lease 

payments received are recognized as an income in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same 
basis as the rental income.
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 Group as a lessee
 Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Fixed lease 

payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis.

 Foreign Currency-denominated Transaction and Translation
 The functional and presentation currency of the Group is the Philippine Peso (=).  

 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.  
Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the 
initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.  All foreign exchange differences are taken to profit or loss, except where it relates to 
equity securities where gains or losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.

 The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiary, MIIC and Subsidiaries and Asia-PAC Reinsurance Company, Limited are United States Dollar.  As at 
reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Parent Company (the Philippine 
Peso) at the closing rate as at the reporting date, and the consolidated statement of income accounts are translated at monthly weighted average 
exchange rate.

 The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity under “Cumulative translation adjustment” 
account.

 Upon disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

 Provisions and Contingencies 
 Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or 
loss, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense.

 Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

 Income Tax
 Current tax
 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
income tax, and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, 
however, is not recognized on temporary differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each end of the reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.  Movements in the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities arising from changes in tax rates are charged against or credited to income for the period.

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized as other comprehensive income is also recognized in the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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 Events after End of the Reporting Period
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) are 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

 The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make judgments and estimates 
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  The estimates and assumptions used in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the 
consolidated financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.

 Judgments
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, 

which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

 Product classification
 The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insured event and the magnitude of its potential effect.  As a general 

guideline, the Group defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at 
least 5% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

 The Group has determined that the insurance policies it issues have significant insurance risks and therefore meet the definition of insurance contracts 
and should be accounted for as such.

 Functional Currency
 Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Group, the functional currency of the Group has been determined 

to be the Philippine Peso.  The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.  It is the currency 
that mainly influences the revenue and costs of the Group operations.

 Operating lease commitments - Group Company as lessor
 The Group entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties.  The Group determined that it retains all the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the property, thus accounts for them as operating lease.

 Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
 The Group entered into various property leases with various lessors.  The Group determined that the lessors retain all the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership of the leased properties thus accounts for them as operating leases.

 Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
 The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property.  In making this judgment, the Group considers whether the property 

generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable 
not only to property but also to the other assets used in the production or supply process.

 When properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion is held for use in the production or 
supply of goods or services or for administrative purpose, and these portions cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted for as investment 
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  Judgment is 
applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers 
each property separately in making this judgment.

 Management’s Use of Estimates
 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at each reporting date, that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

 Fair values of financial assets
 The Group carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates and judgments.  Fair value determinations 

for financial assets are based generally on listed or quoted market prices.  If prices are not readily determinable or if liquidating positions is reasonably 
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on either internal valuation models or management’s estimate of amounts that could be realized 
under current market conditions, assuming an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time.  While significant components of fair value were 
determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, volatility rates), the amount of changes in fair value of 
these financial assets and liabilities would affect the statement of other comprehensive income.

 The carrying value of AFS financial assets is P8,481.15 million and P10,090.47 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 7).

 Valuation of insurance contract liabilities
 Estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported and for the expected ultimate cost of claims IBNR at the end of 

reporting period.  It can take a significant period of time before the ultimate claims cost can be established with certainty.

 The primary technique adopted by management in estimating the cost of notified and claims IBNR, is that of using past claims settlement trends to 
predict future claims settlement trends.  At each reporting date, prior year claims estimates are assessed for adequacy and changes made are charged 
to provision.  Insurance contract liabilities are not discounted for the time value of money.
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 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying values of provision for claims reported and IBNR amounted to P8,444.73 million and P10,878.26 
million, respectively (see Note 14).

 Estimation of allowance for impairment losses
 The Group maintains allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables.  The level of 

this allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts.  These factors include, but are not 
limited to, age of balances, financial status of counterparties, and legal opinion on recoverability in case of legal disputes.  The Group reviews the age 
and status of receivables, and identifies accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a regular basis.

 The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An 
increase in allowance for impairment losses would increase recorded expenses and decrease the related asset accounts.

 The carrying value of insurance receivables, net of impairment losses amounted to P4,402.85 million and P5,362.22 million as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively.  The related allowance for impairment losses amounted to P186.24 million and P150.36 million as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014 respectively (see Note 6).

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of loans and receivables amounted to P1,435.80 million and P1,729.02 million, respectively.  As 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the related allowance for impairment losses amounted to P3.75 million (see Note 7). 

 Impairment of AFS equity financial assets
 The Group determines that AFS equity financial assets are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its 

cost.  The determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment.  The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ 
as continuous decline for a period of six (6) months or more. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility 
in share price for quoted securities. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the 
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the Group’s AFS equity financial assets amounted to P5,991.20 million and P7,809.711 million, 
respectively (see Note 7).

 Impairment loss recognized on Group’s AFS equity financial assets amounted to P242.80 million and P14.58 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively (see 
Note 7).

 Estimation of useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment
 The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment, based on the period 

over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in 
these estimates.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment would increase 
recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease the related asset accounts.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the investment properties amounted to P27.10 million and P27.17 million, respectively (see 
Note 11). 

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the property and equipment amounted to P303.24 million and P304.99 million, respectively 
(see Note 12).

 Evaluation of net realizable value of real estate properties for sale
 Real estate properties for sale are valued at the lower of cost and NRV.  This requires the Group to make an estimate of the real estate properties’ 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, cost of completion and costs necessary to make a sale to determine the NRV.  The Group 
adjusts the cost of its real estate properties to net realizable value based on its assessment of the recoverability of its real estate properties for sale.  
In determining the recoverability of its real estate properties for sale, management considers whether its real estate properties for sale are damaged 
or if their selling prices have declined.

 Likewise, management also considers whether the estimated costs of completion or the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sale have 
increased.  In the event that NRV is lower than the cost, the decline is recognized as an expense.  The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any 
period would differ if different judgments were made or different estimates were utilized.  See Note 13 for the related balances.

 Impairment of nonfinancial assets
 The Group assesses the impairment of its nonfinancial assets (i.e., investment properties, property and equipment and computer software) whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Group considers 
important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

 • significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
 • significant changes in the manner of use of the assets; and
 • significant negative industry or economic trends.

 The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  Recoverable amounts are 
estimated for individual asset or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has not recognized any impairment losses on its nonfinancial assets.  See Notes 11, 12 and 13 for related 
balances.
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 Recognition of deferred tax assets
 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available 

against which these can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized.  These assets are periodically reviewed for realization.  Periodic reviews cover the nature and amount of deferred income and expense 
items, expected timing when assets will be used or liabilities will be required to be reported, reliability of historical profitability of businesses expected 
to provide future earnings and tax planning strategies which can be utilized to increase the likelihood that tax assets will be realized.  See Note 24 for 
the related balances.

 Estimating pension obligation and other retirement benefits
 The determination of pension obligation and cost of pension is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used in calculating such amounts.  

Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates and salary increase rates.

 Due to the long-term nature of this plan, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

 The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected 
employee benefit payout as of the reporting date.  In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and 
appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the pension obligations.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of net pension obligation amounted to P242.76 million and P204.79 million, respectively (see 
Note 17).

 Contingencies
 The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings.  The estimate of probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed 

in consultation with the legal counsels and based upon analysis of potential results.  The Group does not believe that these proceedings will have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s consolidated financial position.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Cash on hand:
 Petty cash fund P696,794 P1,006,523
Cash in banks:
 Commercial banks and trust company (Note 28) 1,768,559,635 819,422,436
 Thrift banks, rural banks and cooperatives 4,191,339 5,304,095
Short-term deposits (Note 28) 1,254,413,711 288,862,293

P3,027,861,479 P1,114,595,347

 Cash in banks earns annual interest at the respective bank rates.

 Short-term deposits are placed for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.

 The range of annual interest rates of the short-term deposits follows:

2015 2014
Philippine Peso 0.25% to 2.13% 1.135% to 1.25%
US Dollar 0.09% to 1.35% 0.02% to 1.13%

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, time deposits amounting to P42.50 million and P40.34 million, respectively, are held in the name of the Insurance 
Authority account of MIIC and Subsidiaries imposed by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority (HKIA) pursuant to Hong Kong Insurance Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 41).  These deposits shall be kept free from any liens, charges encumbrances, equities, or third party rights and cannot be released 
without the permission of the HKIA and that the account could only be operated by the designated authorized officers of the HKIA. 

5. Short-term Investments

 This account consists of time deposits with maturity of more than three months but less than one year from dates of placement and earns interest 
with annual rates ranging from 0.63% to 2.00% and 0.50% to 4.25% in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 Interest earned on short-term investments amounted to P0.06 million and P0.03 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 20).
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6. Insurance Receivables - net

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P3,929,754,286 P3,736,938,249
Due from ceding companies:
 Facultative 102,696,332 139,154,154
 Treaty 234,689,338 1,313,293,755
Funds held by ceding companies – treaty 102,596,495 109,838,500
Premium and loss reserve 50,470,297 46,488,050
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
 Facultative 125,181,972 135,347,778
 Treaty 43,694,796 31,522,889

4,589,083,516 5,512,583,375
Less allowance for impairment losses 186,237,149 150,362,809

P4,402,846,367 P5,362,220,566

 The reinsurance recoverable on paid losses is the amount recoverable from the reinsurers and retrocessionaires in respect of claims already paid by 
the Group.

 The following table shows aging information of insurance receivables:

 December 31, 2015

< 30 days 30 > 60 days 60 > 90 days 90 > 120 days > 120 days Total
Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P596,832,921 P364,651,381 P352,972,730 P374,655,677 P2,240,641,577 P3,929,754,286
Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 48,301,543 4,114,327 1,742,183 7,463,792 41,074,487 102,696,332
  Treaty 113,209,440 247,563 20,199,433 78,950,554 22,082,348 234,689,338
Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 106,211 626,453 20,102,754 3,559,185 78,201,892 102,596,495
Premium and loss reserve 3,847,767 – 5,512,326 3,467,146 37,643,058 50,470,297
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 5,333,765 3,524,990 25,310,107 1,137,680 89,875,430 125,181,972
  Treaty – – – – 43,694,796 43,694,796
Total P767,631,647 P373,164,714 P425,839,533 P469,234,034 P2,553,213,588 P4,589,083,516

 December 31, 2014

< 30 days 30 > 60 days 60 > 90 days 90 > 120 days > 120 days Total
Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P472,458,707 P316,721,437 P443,447,633 P338,796,089 P2,165,514,383 P3,736,938,249
Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 93,216,921 17,415,799 4,851,937 5,618,939 18,050,558 139,154,154
  Treaty 485,854,880 2,704,706 2,673,003 355,756,291 466,304,875 1,313,293,755
Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 5,737,040 496,925 23,403,339 76,207 80,124,989 109,838,500
Premium and loss reserve 3,640,521 3,738,994 – 1,073,996 38,034,539 46,488,050
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
Facultative 22,954,394 12,912,780 6,432,726 3,687,695 89,360,183 135,347,778
Treaty – – 959,476 – 30,563,413 31,522,889
Total P1,083,862,463 P353,990,641 P481,768,114 P705,009,217 P2,887,952,940 P5,512,583,375

2015
Due from

Policyholders,
Agents and 

Brokers

Due from
Ceding

Companies -
Facultative

Due from
Ceding

Companies -
Treaty

Funds Held
by Ceding

Companies

Reinsurance 
Recoverable on

Paid Losses -
Facultative Total

Balance at beginning of year P128,053,678 P8,755,855 P3,361,426 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809
Impairment loss (Note 22) 48,156,274 – – – – 48,156,274
Reclassifications (3,020,424) 5,801,329 – – (2,780,905) –
Written-off (9,261,510) – (3,020,424) – – (12,281,934)
Balance at end of year P163,928,018 P14,557,184 P341,002 P1,380,777 P6,030,168 P186,237,149
Individually impaired 7,991,154 341,002 14,557,184 1,380,777 – P24,270,117
Collectively impaired 155,936,864 – – – 6,030,168 161,967,032
Total P163,928,018 P341,002 P14,557,184 P1,380,777 P6,030,168 P186,237,149
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2014
Due from

Policyholders,
Agents and 

Brokers

Due from
Ceding

Companies -
Facultative

Due from
Ceding

Companies -
Treaty

Funds Held
by Ceding

Companies

Reinsurance 
Recoverable on

Paid Losses -
Facultative Total

Balance at beginning of year P133,920,246 P12,202,631 P2,153,063 P1,380,777 P8,026,496 P157,683,213
Impairment loss (Note 22) 52,383,144 – 1,208,363 – 784,577 54,376,084
Reversals of impairment loss (3,915,699) (3,446,776) – – – (7,362,475)
Written-off (54,334,013) – – – – (54,334,013)
Balance at end of year P128,053,678 P8,755,855 P3,361,426 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809
Individually impaired P6,572,658 P7,219,431 P3,361,426 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P27,345,365
Collectively impaired 121,481,020 1,536,424 – – – 123,017,444
Total P128,053,678 P8,755,855 P3,361,426 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809

7. Financial Assets

 The Group’s financial assets, categorized based on subsequent measurement, follow:

2015 2014
AFS financial assets P8,481,145,970 P10,090,468,471
Financial assets at FVPL 277,823,087 258,938,012
Loans and receivables – net 1,435,802,214 1,729,023,479

P10,194,771,271 P12,078,429,962

 The assets included in each of the categories above are detailed below.

a) AFS financial assets

2015 2014
Quoted securities - at fair value
Listed equity securities (Note 28):
 Common shares P5,557,937,941 P7,425,804,631
 Preferred shares 42,122,933 26,842,440
Government debt securities:
 Local currency 625,272,427 620,400,000
 Foreign currency 11,004,349 34,528,400
Private debt securities (Note 28) 1,853,667,522 1,625,828,156

8,090,005,172 9,733,403,627
Non-quoted securities - at cost
Unlisted equity securities:
 Common shares 170,855,923 107,868,157
 Preferred shares 17,540 17,540

170,873,463 107,885,697
Funds 220,267,335 249,179,147

P8,481,145,970 P10,090,468,471

In accordance with the provisions of the Insurance Code, government securities amounting to P234.67 million and P232.32 million are deposited 
with the Insurance Commission (IC) as security for the benefit of policyholders and creditors of the Group as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has certain investments in debt securities with embedded call option feature which allows the 
issuers to redeem, on specified dates, the securities at face amount.  Based on the Group’s assessment, the embedded call options identified are 
clearly and closely related to the host contracts and therefore do not require bifurcation.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, impairment loss recognized on AFS investments amounted to P242.80 million and P14.58 million in 2015 and 
2014, respectively.  The impairment losses are presented in the consolidated statement of income.

The carrying values of AFS financial assets have been determined as follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P10,090,468,471 P10,058,753,333
Acquisitions 1,366,438,452 896,724,943
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain 99,312,480 1,753,147
Fair value changes (1,731,635,947) 383,316,672
Disposals and maturities (1,343,365,637) (1,243,942,578)
Amortization of premium (3,648,303) (7,468,201)
Loss on disposal ‒ (736,062)
Foreign exchange adjustment 3,576,454 2,067,217
Balance at end of year P8,481,145,970 P10,090,468,471



432 015  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets amounted to P3,010.75 million and P4,268.25 million, 
respectively.

 The rollforward analysis of the revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets follow:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P4,295,126,221 P4,076,183,430
Fair value gain (loss) credited to  
 (charged against) equity (1,767,009,183) 383,316,672
Impairment loss (Note 20) 242,803,834 14,582,339
Realized gain transferred to profit or loss (62,179,168) (182,706,665)
Tax effect of net fair value losses (gains) (Note 24) 15,418,519 (9,140,521)
Foreign exchange adjustment (5,448,794) 12,890,966

P2,718,711,429 P4,295,126,221

Attributable to:
 Equity holders of the Parent Company P3,010,751,737 P4,268,246,821
 Non-controlling interests (292,040,308) 26,879,400

P2,718,711,429 P4,295,126,221

b) Financial assets at FVPL

 This account consists of foreign currency-denominated securities with details as follows:

2015 2014
Held for trading
Equity securities:
Listed P185,892,789 P177,467,608
Designated as at FVPL on initial recognition
Private debt securities 91,930,298 81,470,404

P277,823,087 P258,938,012

 The fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL recognized in the consolidated statements of income amounted to P4.51 million and P7.15 million 
in 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 20).

 The carrying values of financial assets at FVPL have been determined as follows:

2015 2014
Balances at beginning of year P258,938,012 P250,563,638
Acquisitions 77,636,612 64,793,753
Fair value gain (Note 20) 4,505,282 7,151,939
Disposals and maturities (63,599,218) (65,412,257)
Foreign exchange adjustment 342,399 1,840,939
Balance at end of year P277,823,087 P258,938,012

c) Loans and receivables - net

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Long-term commercial papers (Note 28) P1,119,468,505 P1,196,760,653
Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 62,677,478
Accounts receivable 143,677,158 169,869,528
Notes receivable (Note 28) 17,018,394 297,114,526
Cash advances 8,081,250 1,566,577
Claims recoverable 6,408,374 811,250
Dividend Receivable 401,700 ‒
Security fund 342,294 342,294
Due from related party (Note 28) ‒ 3,629,034

1,439,550,075 1,732,771,340
Less allowance for impairment losses 3,747,861 3,747,861

P1,435,802,214 P1,729,023,479

 Long-term commercial papers pertain to the Group’s investments in unquoted private debt securities and corporate notes with terms of 2 to 15 
years and bear annual interest rates ranging from 3.25% to 9.33% in 2015 and from 3.25% to 8.66% in 2014.

 The Group provides for the 50% of the cost of the car and motor plans extended to its managers and officers as part of their benefits. The 
employee’s share is recorded as Notes receivable which is collected through salary deductions for a period of five (5) years with annual interest 
rates of 8.00% for car loans and 8.50% for motor loans.
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 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, accounts and notes receivable with carrying value of P3.75 million was specifically determined as impaired 
and was fully provided with allowance.  The Group recognized additional allowance of P0.05 million in 2014.

 Creditable withholding tax for years 2009 and 2010 were filed for refund by the Group to the BIR.

 The Group also granted advances to its related parties, House of Investments (HI) and First Malayan Leasing Corporation (FMLC), by way of receipt 
of promissory notes from these related parties (see Note 28).

8. Accrued Income

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Accrued interest income on (Note 28):
  AFS financial assets P29,984,872 P37,013,140
  Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 8,356,397
  Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 559,803
  Security fund 193,873 148,854
  Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 62,494 108,990
   Financial assets at FVPL ‒ 1,107,088
  Notes receivables ‒ 58,476
Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 6,770,106
Accrued rent income 2,760,759 1,536,610
Accrued management fee ‒ 700,000

P48,150,680 P56,359,464

9. Deferred Acquisition Costs - net

 The details of deferred acquisition costs net of deferred reinsurance commissions follow:

2015 2014
Deferred acquisition costs
 Balance at beginning of year P354,175,047 P411,587,921
 Cost deferred during the year 1,206,833,111 975,568,773
 Amortized during the year (1,258,362,176) (1,032,981,647)
 Balance at end of year 302,645,982 354,175,047
Deferred reinsurance commissions
 Balance at beginning of year 187,818,210 196,312,462
 Income deferred during the year 404,307,623 376,709,512
 Amortized during the year (458,788,803) (385,203,764)
 Balance at end of year 133,337,030 187,818,210

P169,308,952 P166,356,837

10. Reinsurance Assets

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses (Note 14) P6,590,225,725 P9,098,044,811
Deferred reinsurance premiums (Note 14) 941,518,059 2,048,228,397

P7,531,743,784 P11,146,273,208

11. Investment Properties - net

 The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2015
Land Buildings Total

Cost
At beginning and end of year P25,700,011 P12,691,827 P38,391,838
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year – 11,221,858 11,221,858
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) – 70,888 70,888
At end of year – 11,292,746 11,292,746
Net book value P25,700,011 P1,399,081 P27,099,092
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2014
Land Buildings Total

Cost
At beginning of year P26,696,761 P12,691,827 P39,388,588
Disposals (996,750) ‒ (996,750)
At end of year 25,700,011 12,691,827 38,391,838
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year ‒ 11,115,121 11,115,121
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) ‒ 106,737 106,737
At end of year – 11,221,858 11,221,858
Net book value P25,700,011 P1,469,969 P27,169,980

 Rental income from investment properties recognized in the consolidated statement of income amounted to P25.66 million and P22.51 million in 2015 
and 2014, respectively (see Note 20).  Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties amounted to P0.07 million in 2015 and 2014 (see 
Note 23).

 Buildings with book value of P1.40 million and P1.47 million have fair value amounting to P5.14 million and P3.36 million as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.  Parcels of land with book value of P25.70 million and P26.70 million have fair value amounting to P79.50 million as of December 
31, 2015 and 2014.  The fair values of the investment properties were determined by independent professionally qualified appraisers.  

 The fair value of the land and buildings were arrived at using the Market Data Approach.  In this approach, the value of the land and buildings are based 
on sales and listings of comparable property registered within the vicinity.  The technique of this approach requires the establishment of comparable 
property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a common denominator.  This is done by adjusting the differences between the 
subject property and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparable.  The properties used as basis of comparison are situated within the 
immediate vicinity of the subject property.

12. Property and Equipment - net

 The rollforward analysis of this account as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows:

2015

Land

Building,
Building

Equipment and
Improvements

Office
Furniture,

Fixtures and
Equipment

Transportation
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Cost
At beginning of year P1,013,187 P214,926,035 P510,635,109 P95,899,312 P68,388,726 P890,862,369
Additions ‒ 10,806,152 42,160,892 13,898,782 3,749,375 70,615,201
Disposals ‒ ‒ (338,046) (3,136,162) ‒ (3,474,208)
Foreign exchange adjustment ‒ ‒ 3,330 ‒ ‒ 3,330
At end of year 1,013,187 225,732,187 552,461,285 106,661,932 72,138,101 958,006,692
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year ‒ 80,369,182 405,187,396 56,030,515 44,285,237 585,872,330
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) ‒ 9,281,947 43,091,378 12,984,738 7,005,641 72,363,704
Disposals ‒ ‒ (338,041) (3,136,162) ‒ (3,474,203)
Foreign exchange adjustment ‒ ‒ 188 ‒ ‒ 188
At end of year ‒ 89,651,129 447,940,921 65,879,091 51,290,878 654,762,018
Net book value P1,013,187 P136,081,058 P104,520,364 P40,782,841 P20,847,223 P303,244,673

2014

Land

Building,
Building

Equipment and
Improvements

Office
Furniture,

Fixtures and
Equipment

Transportation
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Cost
At beginning of year P1,013,187 P211,702,405 P487,925,254 P82,695,523 P60,080,387 P843,416,756
Additions ‒ 6,469,564 22,715,852 19,708,525 20,904,909 69,798,850
Disposals ‒ (3,245,934) (10,683) (6,504,736) (12,596,570) (22,357,923)
Foreign exchange adjustment ‒ ‒ 4,686 ‒ ‒ 4,686
At end of year 1,013,187 214,926,035 510,635,109 95,899,312 68,388,726 890,862,369
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year ‒ 74,983,403 365,568,006 48,842,456 46,023,007 535,416,872
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) ‒ 8,631,711 39,620,722 11,606,542 10,858,800 70,717,775
Disposals ‒ (3,245,932) (5,697) (4,418,483) (12,596,570) (20,266,682)
Foreign exchange adjustment ‒ ‒ 4,365 ‒ ‒ 4,365
At end of year ‒ 80,369,182 405,187,396 56,030,515 44,285,237 585,872,330
Net book value P1,013,187 P134,556,853 P105,447,713 P39,868,797 P24,103,489 P304,990,039

 There are no fully depreciated assets that are still in use.

 There are no property and equipment items pledged or used as collateral to secure the liabilities of the Group.
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13. Other Assets

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Creditable withholding taxes P276,610,861 P294,113,007
Real estate properties for sale - at cost 82,436,978 90,374,300
Prepayments 23,286,589 9,363,229
Refundable deposits 14,146,192 8,888,739
Forms and supplies inventory 8,519,561 6,242,183
Miscellaneous assets 32,435,634 35,398,152

P437,435,815 P444,379,610

 Creditable withholding tax pertains to the Group’s tax withheld at source by its customers and is creditable against the income tax liability of the 
Group.

 Real estate properties for sale consist of investments in Malayan Plaza condominium units and memorial lots.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
amounts of the real estate properties for sale are as follows:

2015 2014
Malayan Plaza condominium units P75,921,978 P83,294,300
Memorial lots 6,515,000 7,080,000

P82,436,978 P90,374,300

 Cost of real estate properties disposed in 2015 and 2014 amounted to P7.94 million and P2.08 million, respectively.

14. Insurance Contract Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets

 Short-term insurance contract liabilities and reinsurers’ share of liabilities may be analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Provision for claims reported  
 and loss adjustment P8,262,297,422 P6,552,241,057 P1,710,056,365 P10,494,792,641 P8,839,351,730 P1,655,440,911
Provision for IBNR losses 182,428,593 37,984,667 144,443,926 383,471,213 258,693,081 124,778,132
Total claims reported and IBNR 8,444,726,015 6,590,225,724 1,854,500,291 10,878,263,854 9,098,044,811 1,780,219,043
Provision for unearned premiums 2,791,730,630 941,518,060 1,850,212,570 3,486,665,287 2,048,228,397 1,438,436,890
Total insurance contract liabilities P11,236,456,645 P7,531,743,784 P3,704,712,861 P14,364,929,141 P11,146,273,208 P3,218,655,933

 Provisions for claims reported by policyholders and claims IBNR may be analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
 Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Balance at beginning of year P10,878,263,854 P9,098,044,811 P1,780,219,043 P10,662,447,404 P8,744,346,663 P1,918,100,741
Claims incurred during the year 880,772,519 (653,585,199) 1,534,357,718 4,234,063,200 2,824,726,727 1,409,336,473
Increase in IBNR ‒ ‒ ‒ 19,000,000 ‒ 19,000,000
Total claims reported and  
 claims IBNR 11,759,036,373 8,444,459,612 3,314,576,761 14,915,510,604 11,569,073,390 3,346,437,214
Claims paid during the year  
 (Note 21) (3,314,310,358) (1,854,233,887) (1,460,076,471) (4,037,246,750) (2,471,028,579) (1,566,218,171)
Balance at end of year P8,444,726,015 P6,590,225,724 P1,854,500,291 P10,878,263,854 P9,098,044,811 P1,780,219,043

 Provision for unearned premiums may be analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
 Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Insurance
Contract

Liabilities

Reinsurers’
Share of

Liabilities
(see Note 10) Net

Balance at beginning of year P3,486,665,287 P2,048,228,397 P1,438,436,890 P3,570,350,842 P2,195,827,957 P1,374,522,885
New policies written during the 
year (Note 19) 8,610,780,370 4,892,215,588 3,718,564,782 7,842,400,305 4,945,389,665 2,897,010,640
Premiums earned during the year 
(Note 19) (9,305,715,027) (5,998,925,925) (3,306,789,102) (7,926,085,860) (5,092,989,225) (2,833,096,635)
Balance at end of year P2,791,730,630 P941,518,060 P1,850,212,570 P3,486,665,287 P2,048,228,397 P1,438,436,890
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15. Insurance Payables
 
 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Due to reinsurers P2,322,403,825 P2,293,390,994
Funds held for reinsurers 488,939,469 543,566,974

P2,811,343,294 P2,836,957,968

 The rollforward analysis of insurance payables follows:

Due to
Reinsurers

Funds held
for reinsurers Total

At January 1, 2014 P2,374,185,839 P1,381,587,189 P3,755,773,028
Arising during the year 3,354,350,911 362,801,869 3,717,152,780
Paid during the year (3,435,145,756) (1,200,822,084) (4,635,967,840)
At December 31, 2014 2,293,390,994 543,566,974 2,836,957,968
Arising during the year 648,612,406 220,561,210 869,173,616
Paid during the year (619,599,575) (275,188,715) (894,788,290)
At December 31, 2015 P2,322,403,825 P488,939,469 P2,811,343,294 

16. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Accounts payable P817,732,625 P890,218,761
Commissions payable 485,121,241 477,463,519
Deferred output value-added tax (VAT) 326,289,349 280,104,943
Accrued expenses 180,792,810 150,422,981
Accrued taxes 144,391,119 146,552,932
Surety deposits 96,748,100 49,282,432
Documentary stamp taxes payable 83,403,434 22,201,182
Output VAT 50,181,098 15,645,850
Dividends Payable 12,279,385 57,197,725
Deposits payable 5,138,748 7,132,247
Others 42,883,254 19,958,372

P2,244,961,163 P2,116,180,944

 All accounts payable and accrued expenses are due within one year.

 Accounts payable pertain to unpaid purchases of goods and services from suppliers.

 Commissions payable are unpaid commissions on the Group’s direct business, payable to agents and brokers which are due upon collection of the 
related premiums receivables.

 Accrued expenses pertain to accrual of monthly expenditures of the Group.  This includes expenses for utilities, allocated common expenses for the 
use of Y Tower 1 and 2 and other expenses that are necessary to carry out the operations of the Group.

 Accrued taxes include tax withheld, fringe benefit tax, local government tax, fire service tax and premiums tax.

17. Pension

 The Group has a defined benefit plan, covering substantially all of its employees, which requires contribution to be made to administered funds.  The 
plan is administered by a local bank as trustee. The Group’s trustee bank is RCBC.  The transactions of the fund are being approved by the President 
of the Group.

 The following tables summarize the components of net pension benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income and the funded 
status and amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the retirement plan.

 The net pension benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income, under employee benefits (see Note 22), follows:

2015 2014
Current service cost P49,938,022 P47,740,918
Interest cost 9,622,594 8,945,333
Net benefit expense P59,560,616 P56,686,251
Actual return on plan assets (P32,907,342) P20,385,764
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 The remeasurement effects recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income follows:

2015 2014
Actuarial loss P37,111,638 (P5,786,983)
Return on assets (excluding amount included in net interest cost) (51,931,814) 7,692,293
Tax effect 4,446,053 (571,593)
Total amount recognized in OCI (P10,374,123) P1,333,717

 The net pension obligation of the Group follows:

2015 2014
Present value of pension benefit obligation P489,725,428 P501,259,343
Fair value of plan assets (246,967,713) (296,471,317)

P242,757,715 P204,788,026

 The reconciliation of the present value of the pension benefit obligation follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P501,259,343 P512,663,620
Current service cost 49,938,022 44,652,122
Interest cost 23,507,760 25,260,729
Actuarial loss (28,823,313) 8,379,109
Present value of obligation of transferred employee ‒ 3,041,671
Benefits paid (56,156,384) (92,737,908)

P489,725,428 P501,259,343

 The reconciliation of the fair value of the plan assets follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P296,471,317 P306,402,944
Interest income 13,885,166 9,304,714
Contributions by employer 40,112,236 62,420,517
Actuarial loss (gain) (47,344,622) 11,081,050
Benefits paid (56,156,384) (92,737,908)
Balance at end of year P246,967,713 P296,471,317

 The distribution of the plan assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows:

2015 2014
Cash P38,040,550 P53,675,133
Receivables 5,895,864 7,652,198
Investments in:

  Equity securities 87,864,916 122,747,027
  Government securities 46,332,249 25,815,158
  Other securities and debt instruments 69,233,483 88,016,019

247,367,062 297,905,535
Less accrued trust fees and other payables 399,349 1,434,218

P246,967,713 P296,471,317

 The following presents the transactions of the Group’s retirement fund with related parties:

2015 2014
Category Balance Balance Terms Conditions
Other related parties
 RCBC
 Savings deposits P21,969 P23,804 Interest rate at 0.25% to 4.50%  p.a Unsecured; no impairment
 Time deposits ‒ 2,115,455 – Unsecured; no impairment
 Corporate bonds 2,692,433 2,639,103 Interest rates at 0% to 3.25%:  

terms of 3.5 to 5.5 years Unsecured; no impairment
 Common stocks 8,689,626 12,639,456 – Unsecured; no impairment
 HI
 Common stocks 2,165,706 2,417,258 – Unsecured; no impairment

 The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining plan assets and obligations are as follows:

2015 2014
Salary increase rate 5.00% to 5.07% 5.00%
Discount rate 5.00% to 5.20% 4.48% to 4.68%
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 The overall expected return on plan assets is determined based on the market expectations prevailing as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 applicable 
to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.

 The Group expects to contribute P43.19 million to the retirement fund in 2015.

 Sensitivities
 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each significant assumption on the defined benefit 

obligation as of the end of the reporting period, assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

 2015

Change in 
variables

Impact on present value of 
defined benefit obligation 

increase (Decrease)
Percentage 

change
Discount rate +0.5% (P399,700,690) -2.63%

–0.5% 421,191,278 2.89%

Salary increase rate +1.0% P435,840,918 5.93%
–1.0% (392,626,914) -4.89%

 2014

Change in 
variables

Impact on present value of 
defined benefit obligation 

Increase (Decrease)
Percentage 

change
Discount rate +0.5% (P375,307,749) 6.35%

–0.5% 399,432,305 (0.33%)

Salary increase rate +1.0% P415,824,329 3.76%
–1.0% (367,907,050) (8.20%)

 The average future working years of service is 20 to 27 years.

 The maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as of December 31, 2014 based on normal retirements (retirement age of 60 only) is as 
follows:

Year of Retirement No. of Retirees Total Benefit
1 year and less 4 P18,461,977
More than 1 year to 5 years 23 64,562,299
More than 5 year to 10 years 51 247,324,979
More than 10 to 15 years 97 400,660,012
More than 15 to 20 years 72 452,703,838
More than 20 years 517 3,004,756,175

18. Cash Dividends and Other Revaluation Reserve

 The Group’s capital stock consists of:

Shares Amount
Authorized: Common stock
  P100 par value 10,000,000 P1,000,000,000
Issued and outstanding:
  At beginning of year 6,000,000 P600,000,000
  At end of the year 6,000,000 P600,000,000

 Retained Earnings
 Retained earnings include the accumulated equity in undistributed net earnings of consolidated subsidiaries amounting to P4,652.91 million and 

P4,102.49 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 which are not available for dividend declaration by the Parent Company.

 Other Revaluation Reserve
 On April 10, 2008, MICO’s BOD and stockholders approved the articles of merger and plan of merger between TMMIC and MICO.  TMMIC is a 50-50 

joint venture company owned by MICO and Tokio Marine Asia Pte., Ltd. (Tokio Marine).  On July 2, 2008, the SEC approved the articles and plan of 
merger.  The effects of the merger were reckoned from January 1, 2008.  The merger was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with 
PFRS 3.  TMMIC and MICO became a single corporation, with MICO as the surviving corporation.  TMMIC ceased to exist and its legal personality was 
terminated.  As at the date of acquisition, the identifiable assets and liabilities of TMMIC have been measured at fair value resulting in a difference 
of P46,933,294 against its carrying values.  The difference between the carrying value and fair value pertains mainly to the increase in the appraised 
value of the building.  MICO recorded the appraisal increase amounting to P23,466,647 pertaining to its previously held interest as “Other revaluation 
reserve” in the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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 Equity Reserve
 On November 7, 2014, the Parent Company sold to Tokyo Marine Asia 737,660 shares or 8.7% shares for P1,030.20 million that resulted to a gain of 

P1,024.63 million.  Since the change in ownership of the Parent Company over Malayan Insurance Company, Inc. is without loss of control, the gain of 
P1,024.63 million was recognized as equity reserve in Equity.

19. Net Premiums Earned

 Gross premiums earned and reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned consist of the following:

2015 2014
Gross premiums on insurance contracts (see Note 14) P8,610,780,370 P7,842,400,305
Gross change in provision for unearned premiums 694,934,657 83,685,555
Gross premiums earned (see Note 14) 9,305,715,027 7,926,085,860
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums on insurance contracts (see Note 14) 4,892,215,586 4,945,389,665
Reinsurers’ share of gross change in provision for unearned premiums 1,106,710,339 147,599,560
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned on insurance contacts (see Note 14) 5,998,925,925 5,092,989,225
Net premiums earned P3,306,789,102 P2,833,096,635

20. Investment and Other Income and Investment and Other Expense

 Investment and other income

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Dividend income (Note 28) P228,962,611 P284,017,813
Interest income (Note 28):
  AFS financial assets 127,322,278 159,429,839
  Long-term commercial papers 59,384,608 61,673,900
  Cash and cash equivalents 30,039,469 16,427,724
  Long-term Investments 2,551,633 ‒
  Notes receivables 2,437,308 832,824
  Funds held by ceding companies 418,230 520,199
  Short-term investments (Note 5) 57,366 28,034
  Financial assets at FVPL ‒ 2,815,705
  Others 312,995 1,366,128
Gain (loss) on sale of: 
  AFS financial assets (Note 7) 68,419,476 182,328,348
  Real estate for sale 434,556 11,420,817
  Financial assets at FVPL (1,830,676) 2,466,564
  Property and equipment (Note 12) 191,308 627,221
  Investment property ‒ 246,074
Rental income (Notes 11 and 28) 25,657,859 22,507,064
Foreign currency exchange gains 131,759,198 22,283,800
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVPL (Note 7) 4,505,282 7,151,939
Others 5,566,128 8,244,832

P686,189,629 P784,388,825

 Investment and other expense

 This account consists of the following

2015 2014
Impairment loss on AFS (Note 7) P242,804,548 P14,582,339
Investment expense 13,322,547 24,721,278
Interest expense on reinsurance funds held 5,751,046 6,326,731

P261,878,141 P45,630,348

 The unrealized foreign exchange loss as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to P154.54 million and P35.78 million, respectively.
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21. Insurance Contract Benefits and Claims Paid

 Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid consist of:

2015 2014
Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid:
  Direct insurance P2,755,082,588 P3,438,534,098
  Assumed reinsurance 559,227,770 598,712,652
Total gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid (see Note 14) P3,314,310,358 P4,037,246,750

 Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid consist of:

2015 2014
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract benefits and claims paid:
  Direct insurance P1,787,176,395 P2,349,317,096
  Assumed reinsurance 67,057,492 121,711,483
Total reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract benefits  
  and claims paid (see Note 14) P1,854,233,887 P2,471,028,579

 Gross change in insurance contract liabilities consist of:

2015 2014
Change in provision for claims reported:
  Direct insurance (P484,163,487) (P601,331,431)
  Assumed reinsurance (1,949,374,352) 798,147,881
Change in provision for IBNR ‒ 19,000,000
Total gross change in insurance contract liabilities (see Note 14) (P2,433,537,839) P215,816,450

 Reinsurers’ shares of gross change in insurance contract liabilities consist of:

2015 2014
Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract liabilities:
  Direct insurance (P630,468,617) (P474,305,288)
  Assumed reinsurance (1,877,350,470) 828,003,435
Change in provision for IBNR ‒ ‒
Total reinsurers’ share of gross change in insurance  
  contract liabilities (see Note 14) (P2,507,819,087) P353,698,147

22. General and Administrative Expenses

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Salaries, wages and allowances (Note 28) P591,330,106 P548,583,791
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 11, 12 and 13) 72,434,592 70,824,512
Rent, light and water (Notes 23 and 28) 65,852,280 60,730,763
Professional fees 67,305,996 64,466,216
Transportation and travel 46,073,346 49,537,329
Provisions for impairment loss - net of reversals (Notes 6) 48,156,274 47,013,609
Advertising and promotions 55,046,045 39,729,735
Postage, telephone and cable 42,180,212 43,879,473
Printing and office supplies 31,332,734 33,662,551
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 32,771,455 35,674,677
Repairs and maintenance 19,734,491 21,974,746
Business development 7,667,432 9,505,070
Taxes, licenses and fees 11,922,441 4,378,120
Membership and association dues 3,276,892 3,860,560
Management fees 1,842,455 1,830,079
Donations and contributions 7,162,379 1,329,573
Insurance 1,504,910 1,208,161
Others 30,876,619 39,027,167

P1,136,470,659 P1,077,216,132
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23. Leases

 Operating leases - Group as lessor
 The Group entered into various lease agreements for its office spaces.  These leases generally have terms of one year, renewable every year.

 Operating leases - Group as lessee
 The Group entered into various property leases with various lessors for office space of its head office and local and provincial branches.  These leases 

generally have terms of one year, renewable every year.

24. Income Tax

 The provision for income tax consists of:

2015 2014
Final P25,859,737 P133,123,511
Current 13,892,081 10,600,905
Deferred (4,274,755) 4,811,443

P35,477,063 P148,535,859

 The Group’s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of:

2015 2014
Deferred tax assets:
  Excess of deferred reinsurance premiums per tax over books basis P107,462,300 P‒
  Allowance for impairment losses 45,033,273 44,086,391
  Deferred reinsurance commissions 43,514,591 55,205,936
  Provision for IBNR losses 33,570,027 33,570,027
  Unamortized past service costs 18,218,261 22,142,294
  Pension obligation 7,161,609 5,799,941
  NOLCO 6,586,589 6,703,731
  Accrual for short-term benefits 4,192,766 4,192,766
  Excess of provision for unearned premiums per books over tax basis ‒ 203,591,657
  MCIT 289,331 ‒

266,028,747 375,292,743
Deferred tax asset through equity:
  Pension obligation 64,421,834 56,274,649
Deferred tax liabilities:
  Excess of deferred reinsurance premiums per books over tax basis ‒ (114,160,390)
  Excess of provision for unearned premiums per tax over books basis (26,206,366) ‒
  Unrealized foreign exchange gains (46,357,496) (60,765,038)
  Deferred acquisition costs (93,936,559) (105,113,744)

(166,500,421) (280,039,172)
Deferred tax liability through equity:
  Net unrealized gain on AFS financial assets (28,731,844) (44,150,363)

P135,218,316 P107,377,857

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group did not recognize the deferred tax assets on the following deductible temporary differences, 
carryforward of unused tax credits from excess of MCIT over RCIT, and unused NOLCO:

2015 2014
NOLCO P1,084,729,350 P1,272,345,558
Accrued expenses 110,433,463 112,011,134
Allowance for doubtful accounts 43,030,373 7,156,033
Pension obligation 30,718,306 13,065,052
MCIT 29,630,880 24,934,810
Provision for short-term employee benefits 5,690,730 4,863,514
Unamortized past service cost 3,434,036 17,768,937

 The related tax benefits will be recognized only as reassessment demonstrates that they are realizable.  Realization is entirely dependent upon future 
taxable income.

 As of December 31, 2014, details of NOLCO and MCIT, which are available for offset against future taxable income and future income tax liability, 
respectively, follows:

Inception Year NOLCO Tax Effect of NOLCO MCIT Expiration Year
2015 P103,993,596 P31,210,632 P11,588,875 2018
2014 359,526,348 109,463,272 10,600,905 2017
2013 642,713,961 174,686,861 7,441,100 2016

P1,106,233,905 P315,360,765 P29,630,880
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 The following are the movements in NOLCO:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P1,294,691,327 P1,223,034,107
Addition 103,993,596 359,526,348
Expiration (292,451,018) (287,869,128)
Balance at end of year P1,106,233,905 P1,294,691,327

 The following are the movements in MCIT:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P24,934,810 P22,791,387
Addition 11,588,875 10,600,905
Expiration (6,892,805) (8,457,482)
Balance at end of year P29,630,880 P24,934,810

 The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory corporate income tax rate to provision for income tax shown in the 
consolidated statements of income follows:

2015 2014
At statutory income tax rate P10,341,237 P431,670,949
Adjustments for:
  Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 38,920,660 107,293,651
  Nondeductible expenses 75,110,048 9,197,389
  Provision for impairment losses 2,499,255 ‒
  Expired MCIT 151,604 8,457,482
  Nontaxable income (7,402,289) (131,763)
  Gain on sale of AFS financial assets (14,844,138) (47,750,844)
  Interest income exempt or already subjected to final tax (25,386,610) (240,503,865)
  NOLCO 15,482,629
  Dividend income (59,395,333) (119,697,140)

P35,477,063 P148,535,859

25. Reconciliation of Net Income under PFRS to Statutory Net Income

 The reconciliation of net income under PFRS to statutory net income of the Group follows:

2015 2014
Net income under PFRS P29,603,982 P129,152,342
Adjustments:
  Difference in change in provision for unearned premiums - net 52,839,326 31,093,537
  Net pension benefit expense (income) ‒ 3,104,744
  Deferred acquisition costs - net (3,756,727) 52,452,259
  Eliminated dividend income ‒ 10,940,000
  Tax effect of adjustments (14,449,995) 2,718,032
  Others 9,282 (262)

P64,245,868 P229,460,652

26. Insurance and Financial Risk Management

 Insurance Risk
 The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the timing thereof, differ from 

expectations.  This is influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of claims.  Therefore, 
the objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.

 The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts and geographical areas.  The variability of risks 
is also improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements.

 The Group purchases reinsurance as part of its risks mitigation program.  Reinsurance ceded is placed on both a proportional and non-proportional 
basis with retention limits varying by product line and territory.  The majority of proportional reinsurance is quota-share reinsurance which is taken 
out to reduce the overall exposure of the Group to certain classes of business.  Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss reinsurance 
designed to mitigate the Group’s net exposure to catastrophe losses.  Retention limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line and 
territory.

 Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance with the 
reinsurance contracts.  Although the Group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus 
a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such 
reinsurance agreements.
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 The Group’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the operations of the Group 
substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract.

 The Group principally issues the following types of general insurance contracts: fire, motorcar, personal accident, marine, engineering, bonds and 
miscellaneous casualty.  The most significant risks arise from climate changes and natural disasters.  These risks do not vary significantly in relation to 
the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk insured and by industry.

 To further reduce the risk exposure, the Group requires strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed review of 
claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims.

 The Group further enforces a policy of actively managing and prompt pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future 
developments that can negatively impact the Group.

 The Group also has limited its exposure level by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements 
in order to limit exposure to catastrophic events.  The purpose of these underwriting and reinsurance strategies is to limit exposure to catastrophes 
to a predetermined maximum amount based on the Group’s risk appetite as decided by management.

 The tables below set out the concentration of the claims liabilities by type of contract (see Note 14).

2015
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Fire P6,002,104,388 P5,294,750,563 P707,353,825
Miscellaneous casualty 231,547,629 145,041,289 86,506,340
Bonds 552,303,259 272,134,551 280,168,708
Engineering 681,018,344 507,478,858 173,539,486
Marine cargo 420,993,795 364,086,261 56,907,534
Motor 498,730,680 7,268,111 491,462,569
Others 58,027,920 (533,909) 58,561,829

P8,444,726,015 P6,590,225,724 P1,854,500,291

2014
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Fire P8,079,336,149 P7,292,901,809 P786,434,340
Miscellaneous casualty 219,797,302 66,115,324 153,681,978
Bonds 712,027,244 414,791,744 297,235,500
Engineering 939,198,794 879,490,154 59,708,640
Marine cargo 516,046,883 432,650,870 83,396,013
Motor 354,315,821 12,086,440 342,229,381
Others 57,541,661 8,470 57,533,191

P10,878,263,854 P9,098,044,811 P1,780,219,043

 The tables below set out the geographical concentration of the Group’s claims liabilities based on the countries where the insurance business is 
written.

2015
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Philippines P8,362,851,336 P6,590,225,724 P1,772,625,612
Greece 81,874,679 – 81,874,679

P8,444,726,015 P6,590,225,724 P1,854,500,291

2014
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Philippines P10,798,610,994 P9,098,044,811 P1,700,566,183
Greece 72,822,916 - 72,822,916
Others 6,829,944 - 6,829,944

P10,878,263,854 P9,098,044,811 P1,780,219,043

 Key Assumptions
 The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is the Group’s future claims development will follow a similar pattern to past claims 

development experience.  This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claims handling costs, claims inflation factors and claim 
numbers for each accident year.  Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, 
for example once-off occurrence, changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal factors such 
as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures.  Judgment is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as 
judicial decisions and government legislation affect the estimates.

 Other key assumptions include variations in interest, delays in settlement and changes in foreign currency rates.
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 Sensitivities
 The insurance claims provision is sensitive to the above key assumptions.  Because of delays that arise between occurrence of a claim and its 

subsequent notification and eventual settlement, the outstanding claim provisions are not known with certainty at the reporting dates.

 The table below shows the impact of changes in certain important assumptions in general insurance business while other assumptions remain 
unchanged.  The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the claims but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in 
assumptions, assumptions had to be changed on individual basis.

2015

Change in
Assumptions %

Impact on
Gross Insurance

Contract Liabilities 
increase 

(Decrease)

Impact on
Net Insurance

Contract
Liabilities  

increase 
(Decrease)

Impact on
Income Before

Income Tax 
increase 

(Decrease)
Average claim costs +5% P93,836,713 P60,285,847 (P60,285,847)
Average number of claims +5% 87,512,782 56,223,008 (56,223,008)

2014

Change in
Assumptions %

Impact on
Gross Insurance

Contract Liabilities 
Increase 

(Decrease)

Impact on
Net Insurance

Contract
Liabilities  
Increase 

(Decrease)

Impact on
Income Before

Income Tax 
Increase 

(Decrease)
Average claim costs +5% P96,533,613 P62,173,677 (P62,173,677)
Average number of claims +5% 90,212,570 58,112,860 (58,112,860)

 Claims Development Table
 The following tables reflect the cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at each reporting 

dates, together with cumulative payments to date.

 The Group aims to maintain strong reserves in respect of its insurance business in order to protect against adverse future claims experience and 
developments.  As claims develop and the ultimate cost of claims becomes more certain, adverse claims experiences are eliminated which results in 
the release of reserves from earlier accident years.  In order to maintain strong reserves, the Group transfers much of this release to current accident 
year reserves when the development of claims is less mature and there is much greater uncertainty attaching to the ultimate cost of claims.

 The risks vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risks insured and in respect of commercial and business 
interruption insurance by industry.
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 Financial Risk
 The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities.  In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from 

its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts.  The most important components of this financial risk 
are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

 Credit Risk
 Credit risk is a risk due to uncertainty in a counterparty’s (also called an obligor) ability to meet its obligation.

 Prior to extending credit, the Group manages its credit risk by assessing credit quality of its counterparty.

 The Group has a credit policy group that reviews all information about the counterparty which may include its statement of financial position, 
statements of income and other market information.  The nature of the obligation is likewise considered.  Based on this analysis, the credit analyst 
assigns the counterparty a credit rating to determine whether or not credit may be provided.

 Credit risk limit is also used to manage credit exposure which specifies exposure credit limit for each intermediary depending on the size of its 
portfolio and its ability to meet its obligation based on past experience.

 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, net of impairment 
loss.

2015 2014
AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P5,600,060,874 P7,452,647,071
 Unlisted equity securities 170,873,463 107,885,697
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities 1,853,667,523 1,625,828,156
 Government debt securities:
   Local currency 625,272,427 620,400,000
   Foreign currency 11,004,349 34,528,400
 Funds 220,267,335 249,179,147
FVPL financial assets:
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities 91,930,298 81,470,404
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities 185,892,788 177,467,608
Investment funds
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,027,164,685 1,113,588,824
Short-term investments 97,920,122 70,227,245
Insurance receivables:
 Due from policyholders, agents and brokers 3,765,826,268 3,608,884,571
 Due from ceding companies:
   Treaty 234,689,338 1,313,293,755
   Facultative 102,696,332 139,154,154
 Funds held by ceding companies 102,596,495 109,838,500
 Premium and loss reserve 50,470,297 46,488,050
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
   Facultative 125,181,972 135,347,778
   Treaty 43,694,796 31,522,889
Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers 1,119,468,505 1,196,760,653
 Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 62,677,478
 Accounts receivable 143,677,159 167,838,918
 Notes receivable 17,018,394 297,114,526
 Cash advances 8,081,250 1,566,577
 Claims recoverable 6,408,374 811,250
Dividend Receivable 401,700 ‒
 Security fund 342,294 342,294
 Due from related party ‒ 3,629,034
Accrued income:
 Accrued interest income:
   AFS financial assets 29,984,872 33,303,473
   Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 8,356,397
   Notes receivable ‒ 58,476
   Security fund 193,873 148,854
   Funds held by ceding companies 62,494 108,990
   Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 559,803
   Financial assets at FVPL ‒ 1,107,088
   Bonds ‒ 3,709,667
 Accrued rent income 2,760,759 1,536,610
 Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 6,770,106
 Accrued management fee ‒ 700,000

P17,796,910,118 P18,704,852,443
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 The following tables provide information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Group by classifying the financial assets according to the Group’s 
credit ratings of the counter parties.

2015
Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually

High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total
AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P5,357,603,675 P74,222,044 P‒ P228,642,050 P5,660,467,469
 Unlisted equity securities 99,883,561 70,989,902 ‒ ‒ 170,873,463
Debt securities:
Private debt securities 452,818,874 1,400,848,649 ‒ ‒ 1,853,667,523
Government debt securities:
 Local currency 625,272,427 ‒ ‒ ‒ 625,272,427
 Foreign currency 11,004,349 ‒ ‒ ‒ 11,004,349
Funds 215,350,646 4,916,689 ‒ ‒ 220,267,335
FVPL financial assets:
Debt securities:
Private debt securities ‒ 91,930,298 ‒ ‒ 91,930,298
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities ‒ 185,892,788 ‒ ‒ 185,892,788
Investment Funds ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,027,182,897 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,027,182,897
Short-term investments 97,920,122 ‒ ‒ ‒ 97,920,122
Insurance receivables:
 Due from policyholders, agents, and brokers 718,325,970 587,503,639 2,615,933,523 7,991,154 3,929,754,286
 Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 35,519,921 18,638,133 33,981,094 14,557,184 102,696,332
  Treaty 16,179,252 ‒ 220,859,701 341,002 237,379,953
 Funds held by ceding companies (17,955,228) 68,125 119,102,821 1,380,777 102,596,496
 Premium and loss reserve 50,470,297 ‒ ‒ ‒ 50,470,297
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 884,557 33,407,439 90,889,976 ‒ 125,181,972
  Treaty 43,694,796 ‒ ‒ ‒ 43,694,796
Accrued income:
 Accrued interest:
  AFS financial assets 29,984,872 ‒ ‒ ‒ 29,984,872
  Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 ‒ ‒ ‒ 10,960,026
  Notes receivable ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
Security fund 442,905 ‒ ‒ ‒ 442,905
  Funds held by ceding companies 193,873 ‒ ‒ ‒ 193,873
  Cash and cash equivalents 62,494 ‒ ‒ ‒ 62,494
  Financial assets at FVPL ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
  Bonds 3,745,751 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,745,751
 Accrued rent income 2,760,759 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,760,759
 Accrued dividend income ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
 Accrued management fee ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers 201,214,893 918,253,612 ‒ ‒ 1,119,468,505
 Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 ‒ ‒ ‒ 144,152,400
 Accounts receivable 69,653,268 74,023,890 ‒ ‒ 143,677,158
 Notes receivable 15,278,894 42,249 ‒ 1,697,251 17,018,394
 Cash advances 8,081,250 ‒ ‒ ‒ 8,081,250
 Claims recoverable 6,408,374 ‒ ‒ ‒ 6,408,374
 Dividend Receivable 401,700 ‒ ‒ ‒ 401,700
 Security fund 342,294 ‒ ‒ ‒ 342,294

P11,227,839,869 P3,460,737,457 P3,080,767,115 P254,609,418 P18,023,953,558

2014
Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually

High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total
AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P7,334,673,564 P117,973,507 P‒ P‒ P7,452,647,071
 Unlisted equity securities ‒ 107,885,697 ‒ ‒ 107,885,697
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities 398,919,192 1,226,908,964 ‒ ‒ 1,625,828,156
 Government debt securities:
  Local currency 620,400,000 ‒ ‒ ‒ 620,400,000
  Foreign currency 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ ‒ 34,528,400
Funds 249,179,147 ‒ ‒ ‒ 249,179,147
FVPL financial assets:
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities ‒ 81,470,404 ‒ ‒ 81,470,404
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities ‒ 177,467,608 ‒ ‒ 177,467,608
Investment Funds

(Forward)
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2014
Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually

High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents P1,114,595,347 P‒ P‒ P‒ P1,114,595,347
Short-term investments 70,227,245 ‒ ‒ ‒ 70,227,245
Insurance receivables:
 Due from policyholders, agents, and brokers 809,287,596 545,273,737 2,375,804,258 6,572,658 3,736,938,249
 Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 102,975,631 10,658,998 18,300,094 7,219,431 139,154,154
  Treaty 375,827,340 3,178,977 930,926,014 3,361,426 1,313,293,757
 Funds held by ceding companies 71,828,974 30,380,755 6,247,993 1,380,777 109,838,499
 Premium and loss reserve 46,488,050 ‒ ‒ ‒ 46,488,050
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 64,766,862 61,769,843 ‒ 8,811,073 135,347,778
  Treaty ‒ ‒ 31,522,889 ‒ 31,522,889
Accrued income:
 Accrued interest:
  AFS financial assets 33,303,473 ‒ ‒ ‒ 33,303,473
  Long-term commercial papers 8,356,397 ‒ ‒ ‒ 8,356,397
  Notes receivable 58,476 58,476
Security fund 148,854 ‒ ‒ ‒ 148,854
  Funds held by ceding companies 92,895 16,095 ‒ ‒ 108,990
  Cash and cash equivalents 559,803 ‒ ‒ ‒ 559,803
  Financial assets at FVPL 1,107,088 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,107,088
  Bonds 3,709,667 3,709,667
 Accrued rent income 1,536,610 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,536,610
 Accrued dividend income 6,770,106 ‒ ‒ ‒ 6,770,106
 Accrued management fee 700,000 700,000
Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers 1,176,760,653 20,000,000 ‒ ‒ 1,196,760,653
 Notes receivable 295,417,275 ‒ ‒ 1,697,251 297,114,526
 Creditable withholding tax 62,677,478 ‒ ‒ ‒ 62,677,478
 Accounts receivable 93,259,564 74,559,354 ‒ 2,050,610 169,869,528
 Cash advances 1,566,577 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,566,577
 Claims recoverable 811,250 ‒ ‒ ‒ 811,250
 Due from related party 3,629,034 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,629,034
 Security fund 342,294 ‒ ‒ ‒ 342,294

P12,984,504,842 P2,457,543,939 P3,362,801,248 P31,093,226 P18,835,943,255

 The credit rating is based on the following:

a) Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and related accrued income
 High grade pertains to those deposited, placed or invested in foreign and local banks belonging to the top banks in the Philippines in terms of 

resources and profitability, while medium grade pertains to those deposited, placed or invested in thrift banks and rural banks in the Philippines.

b) Insurance receivables, loans and receivables, accrued rent income and dividend income 
 For insurance receivables and loans and receivables except Due from ceding companies, Funds held by ceding companies, and Long-term 

commercial papers, the Group uses a credit rating concept based on the borrowers and counterparties’ overall creditworthiness.  High grade is 
given to borrowers and counterparties who possess strong to very strong capacity to meet its obligations.  Medium grade is given to borrowers 
and counterparties who possess above average capacity to meet its obligations.  These counterparties are somewhat susceptible to adverse 
changes in business and economic conditions.

 For Due from ceding companies and Funds held by ceding companies from local sources, the Group uses a credit rating concept based on the debt-
to-equity ratios of the borrowers and counterparties.  High grade is given to borrowers and counterparties with debt-to-equity ratio of less than 
or equal to 2:1, while medium grade is given to borrowers and counterparties with debt-to-equity ratio of more than 2:1.

 For Due from ceding companies and Funds held by ceding companies from foreign sources, the Group uses Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and A.M. Best’s 
credit rating of insurance companies.  High grade pertains to insurance companies rated by S&P and A.M. Best as higher than BB+, which means 
that the insurance company has good to strong financial security characteristics, but may be affected by adverse business conditions.  Medium 
grade pertains to insurance companies that are ungraded and rated by S&P and A.M. Best as lower than BB+, which means that the insurance 
company has marginal financial security characteristics.  Positive attributes exist, but adverse business conditions could lead to insufficient ability 
to meet financial commitments.

c) Equity securities
 Listed equity securities are classified as high grade.  Unlisted equity securities are classified as medium grade.

d) Debt securities, long-term commercial papers, and related accrued income
 These are based on the credit ratings by the international rating agency, Standard & Poors (S&P), and by Philippine Ratings Services Corporation 

(Philratings), the only domestic credit rating services in the Philippines accredited by Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) and SEC, in cases where 
an S&P rating is not available.  High grade pertains to investments rated by S&P as BBB- and higher, which means that the counterparties have 
extremely strong to adequate capacity of paying interest and repaying principal, as well as Investments in Securities issued by the Philippine 
Government.  Medium grade pertains to investments rated as Baa and higher by Philratings, as well as investments rated by S&P as BB+ to B- 
(except Philippine Government Securities).  The Group’s holdings under this category are rated either BB- by S&P (due to sovereign credit rating 
ceiling) or Aaa by Philratings which is defined by Philratings to mean that the obligor’s capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation 
is extremely strong.
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e) Insurance receivables
 Receivables from related entities are considered as high grade.

 The following shows the aging analysis of insurance receivables:

2015

 <30 days > 30 days

Total past due 
but not 

impaired
Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P374,655,677 P2,241,277,846 P2,615,933,523
Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 7,463,792 26,517,302 33,981,094
  Treaty 3,677,613 217,182,088 220,859,701
Funds held by ceding companies – treaty 3,559,185 119,328,959 122,888,144
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
  Facultative ‒ 90,889,976 90,889,976

P389,356,267 P2,695,196,171 P3,084,552,438

2014

 <30 days > 30 days

Total past due 
but not 

impaired
Loans and receivables:
  Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P338,796,089 P2,037,008,169 P2,375,804,258
  Due from ceding companies:
    Facultative 5,618,939 12,681,155 18,300,094
    Treaty 5,722,029 925,203,985 930,926,014
 Funds held by ceding companies – treaty ‒ 6,247,993 6,247,993
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
    Treaty ‒ 31,522,889 31,522,889

P350,137,057 P3,012,664,191 P3,362,801,248

 Liquidity Risk
 Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  

Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing on repayment of a contractual 
obligation; or insurance liability falling due for payment earlier than expected; or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.

 An institution may suffer from a liquidity problem when its credit rating falls.  The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk if markets on which it depends 
on are subject to loss of liquidity.  The major liquidity risk faced by the Group is the potential daily calls on its available cash resources in respect of 
claims from insurance contracts.

 The Group manages liquidity through a management team which determines liquidity risk for the Group by identifying events that would trigger 
liquidity problems, providing contingency plans, identifying potential sources of funds and monitoring compliance of liquidity risk policy.

 The tables below analyze financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group into their relevant maturity groups based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to their contractual maturities or expected repayment dates.

2015

Up to a year* 1-3 years
More than

3 years No term Total
Cash and cash equivalents P3,027,861,479 P‒ P‒ P‒ P3,027,861,479
Short-term investments 97,920,122 ‒ ‒ ‒ 97,920,122
Insurance receivables 4,589,083,516 ‒ ‒ ‒ 4,589,083,516
AFS financial assets 4,428,722,312 558,799,025 1,475,649,693 2,017,974,940 8,481,145,970
Financial assets at FVPL 277,823,087 277,823,086
Loans and receivables 1,298,082,548 51,971,993 90,000,000 7,244,558 1,447,299,098
Accrued income 48,150,680 ‒ ‒ ‒ 48,150,680
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 6,287,027,291 360,756,908 ‒ ‒ 6,647,784,199
Total financial assets P19,776,847,948 P971,527,926 P1,565,649,693 P2,303,042,585 P24,617,068,150
Insurance contract liabilities P7,449,225,677 P21,900,581 P402,100,000 P‒ P7,873,226,258
Insurance payables 2,811,299,699 43,595 ‒ ‒ 2,811,343,294
Accounts payable, accrued expenses
 and other liabilities 1,643,276,437 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,643,276,437
Total financial liabilities P11,903,801,813 P21,944,176 P402,100,000 P‒ P12,327,845,989

 *Up to a year are all commitments which are either due within one year or are payable in demand.
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2014

Up to a year* 1-3 years
More than

3 years
No term Total

Cash and cash equivalents P1,114,595,347 P‒ P‒ P‒ P1,114,595,347
Short-term investments 70,227,245 ‒ ‒ ‒ 70,227,245
Insurance receivables 5,512,583,375 ‒ ‒ ‒ 5,512,583,375
AFS financial assets 24,907,841 198,024,118 1,904,974,074 7,962,562,438 10,090,468,471
Financial assets at FVPL ‒ ‒ ‒ 258,938,012 258,938,012
Loans and receivables 1,630,058,014 37,167,884 61,000,000 797,581 1,729,023,479
Accrued income 41,388,645 10,154,064 ‒ 4,816,755 56,359,464
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 9,098,044,811 ‒ ‒ ‒ 9,098,044,811
Total financial assets 17,491,805,278 245,346,066 1,965,974,074 8,227,114,786 27,930,240,204
Insurance contract liabilities 10,878,263,854 ‒ ‒ ‒ 10,878,263,854
Insurance payables 2,836,957,968 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,836,957,968
Accounts payable, accrued expenses  
  and other liabilities 2,116,180,944 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,116,180,944

Total financial liabilities P15,831,402,766 P‒ P‒ P‒ P15,831,402,766

 *Up to a year are all commitments which are either due within one year or are payable in demand.

 In 2015 and 2014, certain insurance receivables, AFS securities and loans and receivables have been provided with allowance for impairment.

 It is unusual for the Group primarily transacting insurance business to predict the requirements of funding with absolute certainty as theory of 
probability is applied on insurance contracts to ascertain the likely provision and the time period when such liabilities will require settlement.  The 
amounts and maturities in respect of insurance liabilities are thus based on management’s best estimate based on past experience.

 Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates 

(interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or 
factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

 Market risk is the risk to an institution’s financial condition from volatility in the price movements of the assets contained in a portfolio.  Market risk 
represents what the Group would lose from price volatilities.  Market risk can be measured as the potential gain or loss in a position or portfolio that 
is associated with a price movement of a given probability over a specified time horizon. 

 The Group manages market risk by evenly distributing capital among investment instruments, sectors and geographical areas.

 The Group structures levels of market risk it accepts through a sound market risk policy based on specific guidelines set by an Investment Committee.  
This policy constitutes certain limits on exposure of investments mostly with top-rated banks, which are selected on the basis of the bank’s credit 
ratings, capitalization and quality servicing being rendered to the Group.  Also, the said policy includes diversification benchmarks of investment 
portfolio to different investment types duly approved by the IC, asset allocation and portfolio limit structure.

 Moreover, control of relevant market risks can be addressed through compliance reporting of market risk exposures, regular monitoring and review 
of the Group’s investment performance and upcoming investment opportunities for pertinence and changing environment.

a) Currency Risk

 The Group’s principal transactions are carried out in Philippine Peso and its exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primarily with respect to 
U.S. Dollar and Euro.  In addition, the Parent Company enters into non-deliverable forward contracts to hedge its exposure on foreign currency 
exchange risks.

 The tables below summarize the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risks by categorizing assets and liabilities by major currencies.

2015
Philippine Peso U.S. Dollar Euro Others Total

AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P5,124,076,538 P344,091,549 P64,818,927 P67,073,860 P5,600,060,874
 Unlisted equity securities 113,758,435 57,115,028 ‒ ‒ 170,873,463
Private debt securities ‒ 1,853,667,523 ‒ ‒ 1,853,667,523
Government debt securities 624,272,427 11,004,349 ‒ ‒ 635,279,776
Funds 50,346,904 158,172,191 ‒ 11,748,240 220,267,335
Financial assets at FVPL
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities ‒ 91,930,298 ‒ ‒ 91,930,298
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities ‒ 185,892,788 ‒ ‒ 185,892,788
Cash and cash equivalents 2,518,197,003 473,202,723 27,063,358 9,398,395 3,027,861,479
Short-term investments 42,569,373 55,350,749 ‒ ‒ 97,920,122
Insurance receivables - net 2,426,085,799 1,923,132,567 ‒ 53,628,000 4,402,846,366
Accrued income 26,568,605 21,536,665 45,410 ‒ 48,150,680
Loans and receivables 1,436,276,680 7,244,558 ‒ ‒ 1,443,521,238
Total assets P12,362,151,764 P5,182,340,988 P91,927,695 P141,848,495 P17,778,268,942
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities P2,764,210,343 P108,067,073 P‒ P4,900,466 P2,877,177,882
Insurance payables 833,970,406 745,328,515 ‒ ‒ 1,579,298,921
Total liabilities P3,598,180,749 P853,395,588 P‒ P4,900,466 P4,456,476,803
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2014
Philippine Peso U.S. Dollar Euro Others Total

AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P6,843,499,603 P434,580,213 P101,550,667 P73,016,588 P7,452,647,071
 Unlisted equity securities 107,885,697 ‒ ‒ ‒ 107,885,697
Private debt securities ‒ 1,611,479,887 ‒ 14,348,269 1,625,828,156
Government debt securities 620,400,000 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ 654,928,400
Funds 18,165,540 220,712,297 ‒ 10,301,310 249,179,147
Financial assets at FVPL
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities ‒ 81,470,404 ‒ ‒ 81,470,404
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities ‒ 177,467,608 ‒ ‒ 177,467,608
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 631,746,796 478,158,479 403,999 4,286,072 1,114,595,346
Short-term investments 29,884,215 40,343,030 ‒ ‒ 70,227,245
Insurance receivables - net 3,677,640,836 1,629,899,639 3,762,518 50,917,573 5,362,220,566
Accrued income 29,918,851 26,333,139 ‒ 107,474 56,359,464
Loans and receivables 1,728,225,898 797,581 ‒ ‒ 1,729,023,479
Total assets P13,687,367,436 P4,735,770,677 P105,717,184 P152,977,286 P18,681,832,583                              
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities P1,630,252,971 P‒ P‒ P2,333,470 P1,632,586,441
Insurance payables 2,564,797,519 254,830,467 1,786,988 15,542,994 2,836,957,968
Total liabilities P4,195,050,490 P254,830,467 P1,786,988 P17,876,464 P4,469,544,409

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US Dollar, euro and other currency exchange rates, with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the foreign exchange rate).

Impact on income before tax  
increase (Decrease)

Currency Change in rate 2015 2014
US Dollar + 5% P136,481,622 P122,895,883

- 5% (136,481,622) (122,895,883)
Euro + 5% 1,960,666 2,566,841

- 5% (1,960,666) (2,566,841)
Others + 5% (159,463) 565,985

- 5% 159,463 (565,985)

b) Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value/future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
The Group’s fixed rate investments in particular are exposed to such risk.

 The Group’s market risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.  The 
policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets.

 The following table sets out the Group’s financial assets exposed to interest rate risk by maturity:

2015

Interest Rate Within one year 1-3 years
More than

3 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 0.25% - 2.75% P3,027,182,897 P‒ P‒ P3,027,182,897
Short-term investments 0.63% - 7.50% 97,920,122 ‒ ‒ 97,920,122
Notes receivable 8% - 8.5% 15,787,779 ‒ 1,230,615 17,018,394
Long-term commercial papers 1.125% - 9% 1,066,468,505 8,000,000 45,000,000 1,119,468,505
Security fund 4.76% 342,294 ‒ ‒ 342,294
Financial debt assets at FVPL 1.25% - 5.88% ‒ ‒ 91,930,298 91,930,298
AFS debt financial assets 5.13% - 9.50% 287,015,089 511,231,218 1,691,697,992 2,489,944,299
Total interest-bearing financial assets P4,494,716,686 P519,231,218 P1,829,858,905 P6,843,806,809

2014

Interest Rate Within one year 1-3 years
More than

3 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 0.25% - 2.75% P1,113,588,824 P‒ P‒ P1,113,588,824
Short-term investments 0.63% - 7.50% 70,227,245 ‒ ‒ 70,227,245
Notes receivable 8% - 8.5% 296,312,050 ‒ 802,476 297,114,526
Long-term commercial papers 1.125% - 9% 148,252,628 38,315,513 1,010,192,512 1,196,760,653
Security fund 4.76% 342,294 ‒ ‒ 342,294
Financial debt assets at FVPL 1.25% - 5.88% ‒ ‒ 81,470,404 81,470,404
AFS debt financial assets 5.13% - 9.50% 23,943,058 198,160,675 2,058,652,823 2,280,756,556
Total interest-bearing financial assets P1,652,666,099 P236,476,188 P3,151,118,215 P5,040,260,502
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 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the AFS debt securities, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s equity:

Impact on equity 
increase (decrease)

Currency Change in basis points 2015 2014
Philippine Peso + 100 P66,470,671 P66,850,351
U.S. Dollar + 100 2,969,561 3,796,637

Philippine Peso - 100 (P54,611,218) P71,715,080
U.S. Dollar - 100 (41,434,939) 60,078,650

c) Equity Price Risk

 The Group’s price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets and liabilities whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, principally, AFS equity financial assets.

 Such financial assets are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from factors specific to individual 
instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

 The Group’s market risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on investments; diversification 
plan; limits on investment in each country, sector and market; and careful and planned use of derivative instruments.  The price risk on investments 
securities is also actively managed through the use of derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk of adverse market movements.

 The following table shows the equity impact of reasonably possible change of Philippine Stock Exchange index (PSEi), Morgan Stanley Capital 
International (MSCI) Euro, Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 50 (SX5E Index) and Hang Seng index (HIS Index):

Impact on equity
increase (decrease)

Change in equity prices PSEi SX5E Index DJ Stoxx HIS Index
2015 +(11%-15%) P514,595,947 P‒ P20,276,023 P‒

-(11%-15%) (514,595,947) ‒ (20,276,023) ‒

2014 +(11%-15%) P937,843,966 P‒ P18,765,019 P‒
-(11%-15%) (937,843,966) ‒ (18,765,019) ‒

27. Financial Assets and Liabilities

 The table below presents a comparison by category of carrying amounts and estimated fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments.

2015 2014
Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value

AFS financial assets:
Listed equity securities:
 Common shares P5,557,937,941 P5,557,937,941 P7,425,804,631 P7,425,804,631
 Preferred shares 42,122,933 42,122,933 26,842,440 26,842,440
Unlisted equity securities:
 Common shares 170,855,923 170,855,923 107,868,157 107,868,157
 Preferred shares 17,540 17,540 17,540 17,540
Private debt securities 1,853,667,523 1,853,667,523 1,625,828,156 1,625,828,156
Government debt securities:
 Local currency 625,272,427 625,272,427 620,400,000 620,400,000
 Foreign currency 11,004,349 11,004,349 34,528,400 34,528,400
Funds 220,267,335 220,267,335 249,179,147 249,179,147
Financial assets at FVPL:
Debt securities:
 Private debt securities 91,930,298 91,930,298 81,470,404 81,470,404
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities 185,892,788 185,892,788 177,467,608 177,467,608
Money market fund, unlisted
Cash and cash equivalents P3,027,861,479 P3,027,861,479 P1,114,595,347 P1,114,595,347
Short-term cash investments 97,920,122 97,920,122 70,227,245 70,227,245
Insurance receivables:
 Due from policyholders, agents and brokers 3,929,754,286 3,929,754,286 3,608,884,571 3,608,884,571
 Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 102,696,332 102,696,332 130,398,299 130,398,299
  Treaty 234,689,338 234,689,338 1,309,932,329 1,309,932,329
 Premium and loss reserve 50,470,297 46,488,050 46,488,050 46,488,050
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 125,181,972 125,181,972 135,347,778 135,347,778
  Treaty 43,694,796 43,694,796 31,522,889 31,522,889
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2015 2014
Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value

 Funds held by ceding companies 102,596,495 102,596,495 109,838,500 109,838,500
Accrued income:
 AFS financial assets 29,984,872 29,984,872 33,303,473 33,303,473
 Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 10,960,026 8,356,397 8,356,397
 Notes receivable – – 58,476 58,476
 Security fund 193,873 193,873 148,854 148,854
 Funds held by ceding companies 62,494 62,494 108,990 108,990
 Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 442,905 559,803 559,803
 Financial assets at FVPL – – 1,107,088 1,107,088
 Bonds – – 3,709,667 3,709,667
Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 3,745,751 6,770,106 6,770,106
Accrued rent income 2,760,759 1,536,610 1,536,610 1,536,610
Accrued management income – – 700,000 700,000
Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers 1,119,468,505 1,119,468,505 1,196,760,653 1,298,956,565
 Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 144,152,400 62,677,478 62,677,478
Account receivable 143,677,159 169,869,528 169,869,528 167,838,918
 Notes receivable 17,018,394 17,018,394 297,114,526 295,417,275
 Cash advances =8,081,250 =8,081,250 =1,566,577 =1,566,577
Claims receivable 6,408,374 6,408,374 811,250 811,250
Dividend Receivable 401,700 – – –
 Security fund 342,294 342,294 342,294 342,294
 Due from related party – – 3,629,034 10,429,321
Total financial assets P17,961,534,930 P17,982,119,203 P18,695,772,295 P18,801,040,633
Other financial liabilities
Insurance payables
 Due to reinsurers and ceding companies P2,322,403,823 P2,322,403,823 P2,293,390,994 P2,293,390,994
 Funds held for reinsurers 488,939,472 488,939,472 543,566,974 543,566,974
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 
liabilities:
Accounts payable 817,732,625 817,732,625 890,218,761 890,218,761
Commissions payable 485,121,241 477,463,519 477,463,519 477,463,519
Accrued expenses 180,792,810 180,792,810 150,422,981 150,422,981
Surety deposits 96,748,100 96,748,100 49,282,432 49,282,432
Due to related parties – – 35,097 35,097
Others 42,883,254 42,883,254 19,958,372 19,958,372
Total financial liabilities P4,434,621,325 P4,426,963,603 P4,424,339,130 P4,424,339,130

 Fair values of financial assets are estimated as follows:

 Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments - the fair value approximates the carrying amounts at initial recognition due to their short term 
nature.

 Debt securities - the fair values are based on quoted market prices.

 Quoted equity securities - the fair values are generally based on quoted market prices.

 Unquoted equity securities - these are carried at cost less allowance for impairment losses because fair value cannot be measured reliably due to lack 
of reliable estimates of future cash flows and discount rates necessary to calculate the fair value.  There is no active market for the equity securities.  
The Group intends to dispose the securities through selling to a willing buyer in arms length transactions.

 Insurance receivables, accrued income, short-term loans and receivables (including notes receivable, long-term investments and security fund), 
insurance payables, accounts payable and accrued expenses - the fair values approximate the carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the 
transactions.

 Long-term commercial papers - fair values are based on present value of future cash flows discounted using risk-free rates that ranged from 2.43% to 
3.08% and 1.08% to 1.29% in 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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 Fair Value Hierarchy
 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities:

 December 31, 2015
Quoted 

prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Total

Assets measured at fair value:
AFS financial assets
 Listed equity securities:
  Common shares P5,557,937,941 P– P– P5,557,937,941
  Preferred shares 42,122,933 – – 42,122,933
 Private debt securities 1,853,667,523 – – 1,853,667,523
 Government debt securities:
  Local currency 625,272,427 – – 625,272,427
  Foreign currency 11,004,349 – – 11,004,349
 Funds 220,267,335 – – 220,267,335
Financial assets at FVPL:
 Debt securities:
  Private debt securities 91,930,298 – – 91,930,298
 Equity securities:
  Listed equity securities 185,892,788 – – 185,892,788

P8,588,095,594 P– P– P8,588,095,594
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
 Loans and receivables
  Long-term commercial papers P– P1,119,468,505 P– P1,119,468,505
  Notes Receivables – 17,018,394 – 17,018,394

– 1,136,486,899 – 1,136,486,899
P8,588,095,594 P1,136,486,899 P– P9,724,582,493

 December 31, 2014
Quoted 

prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Total

Assets measured at fair value:
AFS financial assets
 Listed equity securities:
  Common shares P7,425,804,631 P‒ P‒ P7,425,804,631
  Preferred shares 26,842,440 ‒ ‒ 26,842,440
 Private debt securities 1,625,828,156 ‒ ‒ 1,625,828,156
 Government debt securities:
  Local currency 620,400,000 ‒ ‒ 620,400,000
  Foreign currency 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ 34,528,400
 Funds 249,179,147 ‒ ‒ 249,179,147
Financial assets at FVPL:
 Debt securities:
  Private debt securities 81,470,404 ‒ ‒ 81,470,404
 Equity securities:
  Listed equity securities 177,467,608 ‒ ‒ 177,467,608

P10,241,520,786 – – P10,241,520,786
Assets for which fair values are  disclosed:
 Loans and receivables
  Long-term commercial papers P– P1,298,956,565 P– P1,298,956,565
  Notes Receivables ‒ 297,193,537 ‒ 297,193,537

‒ 1,596,150,102 ‒ 1,596,150,102
P10,241,520,786 P1,596,150,102 P– P11,837,670,888

 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation technique:

 Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly
 Level 3: techniques which uses inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data

 During the reporting period ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.
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28. Related Party Transactions

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party, or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or 
common significant influence.

 Outstanding balances as of year-end are unsecured and to be settled in cash.  There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related 
party receivables or payables.  In 2015 and 2014, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related 
parties.  This assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related 
party operates.

 Significant transactions with related parties include:

2015 2014

Category
Amount / 
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable 
(Payable)

Amount / 
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable 
(Payable) Terms Conditions

Other related parties
a. Y Realty Corporation

 Rent expense P16,454,632 P15,617,530 P8,689,131 P8,689,131 Non-interest bearing; on 
demand

Unsecured; no 
impairment

b. RCBC Bankard

 Shared expenses 7,373,215 7,373,215 1,175,370 1,175,370 Non-interest bearing; on 
demand

Unsecured; no 
impairment

c. HI
 Investment in AFS

  Equity securities 99,292,343 114,665,243 – 124,174,586 – Unsecured; no 
impairment

  Dividend income 181,350 – 1,103,678 – – Unsecured; no 
impairment

d. FMLC

 Notes receivable P– P– P280,000,000 P280,000,000
Due within one year; 

interest at 4.75% to  
6.00% p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Interest income – – 11,956,458 11,956,458 Interest at 5% p.a. Unsecured; no 
impairment

e. RCBC

 Cash in bank 1,165,858,717 1,165,958,639 464,037,685 106,754,450 Interest rate at 0.25% to 
4.50%  p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Short-term deposits 51,661,716 51,661,716 48,794,136 56,872,183 2 to 35-day term, Interest 
at 0.50% - 4.50% p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Investment in AFS:

 Debt securities 340,716,471 340,716,471 479,424,543 519,742,619
Maturing in 2016 and 
2017; Interest rate at 

5.25% to 9.88%
Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Stocks 1,222,463,154 1,499,729,154 665,787,377 1,107,285,381 – Unsecured; no 
impairment

  Funds 15,136,951 15,136,951 – –

 Long-term commercial papers 180,000,000 180,000,000 130,000,000 130,000,000
Maturing in 2019 and 
2027; Interest rate at 

5.25% to 7.00%
Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Interest and dividend income

 Cash in bank 228,377 37,228 2,414,382 2,414,382 Interest at 0.25% - 4.25% 
p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Short-term deposits 710,963 710,963 1,617 – 2 to 35-day term, Interest 
at 0.50% - 4.50% p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Investment in AFS:

 Debt securities 25,173,922 5,660,779 36,603,125 34,415,629 Interest at 4.77% - 9.88% 
p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Stocks 22,226,603 22,226,603 40,444,339 40,444,339 – Unsecured; 
impaired

 Long-term commercial papers 6,406,250 6,406,250 3,719,306 3,719,306 Interest at 5.25% - 7.00% 
p.a.

Unsecured; no 
impairment

 Dividend Income 5,041,200 5,002,000
            Long-term investments 2,551,633 2,551,633 – –
f. Ipeople inc.
 Investment in AFS

  Stocks – 73,645,000 3,123,255 80,340,000 –
Unsecured; no 
impairment

  Dividend income 2,544,100 – 1,258,500 – –
Unsecured; no 
impairment
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 The outstanding receivables and payables are to be settled in cash.

 MEI, RCBC, HI, FLMC and iPeople are subsidiaries of PMMIC, the holding company of the flagship institutions of the Yuchengco Group of Companies.  
Lex Services, Inc., Y Realty, Inc. and Go! Travel Insurance Agency are related to the Yuchengco Group of Companies.

 Key management personnel of the Group include senior management.

 The summary of compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

2015 2014
Short-term employee benefits P15.41 million P10.88 million
Long-term employee benefits 62.63 million 108.89 million 

P78.04 million P119.77 million

29. Capital Management

 Governance Framework
 The primary objective of the Group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the Group from events that hinder the sustainable 

achievement of the Group’s performance objectives, including failure to exploit opportunities.  The Group recognizes the importance of having 
efficient and effective risk management systems in place.

 Regulatory Framework
 Regulators are interested in protecting the rights of the policyholders and maintain close vigil to ensure that the Group is satisfactorily managing 

affairs for their benefit.  At the same time, the regulators are also interested in ensuring that the Group maintains appropriate solvency position to 
meet liabilities arising from claims and that the risk levels are at acceptable levels.

 The operations of the Group are subject to the regulatory requirements of the IC.  Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of 
activities but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g., margin of solvency to minimize the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the 
insurance companies to meet the unforeseen liabilities as these arise, fixed capitalization requirements, risk-based capital requirements).

 As mandated by the IC, most of the additional capital infusions are invested in government securities.

 Capital Management Framework
 The Group has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to managing the risks that affect its capital position.

 The capital management objectives are:

a) to maintain the required level of stability of the Group thereby providing a degree of security to policyholders;
b) to allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital employed meet the requirements of 

its capital providers and of its shareholders;
c) to retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital markets;
d) to align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the business;
e) to maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the policyholders, regulators and stakeholders; 

and
f) to maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support the Group’s business objectives and maximize shareholders’ value.

 The operations of the Group are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions where it operates.  Such regulations not only 
prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g. capital adequacy) to minimize the risk of default 
and insolvency on the part of the insurance companies to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.

 The Group has met all of these requirements throughout the financial year.

 The Group’s capital management policy for its insurance and non-insurance business is to hold sufficient capital to cover the statutory requirements 
based on the IC directives, including any additional amounts required by the regulator.

 The Group seeks to optimize the structure and sources of capital to ensure that it consistently maximizes returns to the shareholders and policyholders.  
The Group’s approach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a coordinated way, assessing shortfalls between reported 
and required capital levels (by each regulated entity) on a regular basis and taking appropriate actions to influence the capital position of the Group 
in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics.   An important aspect of the Group’s overall capital management process is 
the setting of target risk adjusted rates of return which are aligned to performance objectives and ensure that the Group is focused on the creation of 
value for shareholders. 
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 Fixed Capitalization Requirements
 On August 15, 2013, the President of the Philippines approved Republic Act No. 10607 to be known as the “New Insurance Code” which provides the 

new capitalization requirements for all existing insurance companies based on net worth on a staggered basis starting June 30, 2013 up to December 
31, 2022.  The following presents the amount of required net worth and the schedule of compliance per New Insurance Code:

Networth Compliance Date
P250,000,000 June 30, 2013

550,000,000 December 31 ,2016
900,000,000 December 31, 2019

1,300,000,000 December 31, 2022

 On January 13, 2015, the IC issued the Circular Letter (CL) No. 2015-02-A which provides for the clarification of minimum capital requirements under 
Sections 194, 197, 200 and 289 of the New Insurance Code. The said circular supersedes the Department Order Nos. 27-06 and 15-2012 and CL Nos. 
22-2008 and 26-2008.

 Unimpaired capital requirement
 Insurance Memorandum Circular (IMC) 22-2008 provided that for purposes of determining compliance with the law, rules and regulations requiring 

that the paid-up capital should remain intact and unimpaired at all times, the statement of financial position should show that the net worth or equity 
is at least equal to the actual paid-up capital.

30. Contingencies

 The Group operates in the insurance industry and has various contingent liabilities arising in the ordinary conduct of business, which are either 
pending decision by the courts or being contested, the outcome of which are not presently determinable.  In the opinion of management and its legal 
counsel, the eventual liability under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material or adverse effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 
position and results of operations.
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Statement of Management 
Responsibility for Financial Statement

The management of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, including the additional components attached therein, in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes designing and implementing internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approved the consolidated financial statements and submits the 
same to the stockholders.

SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors, appointed by the stockholders has examined the 
consolidated financial statements of the company in accordance with Philippine Standard on Auditing, 
and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 
completion of such examination.

frederick P. Pineda
Chief Financial Officer

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

helen Y. dee
Chairperson

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
President

alegria r. castro
Controller
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Malayan Insurance Co., Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. and 
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 
and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements 
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and their 
financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORReS VeLAYO & CO.

Michael C. Sabado
Partner
CPA Certificate no. 89336
SeC Accreditation no. 0664-AR-2 (Group A),
March 26, 2014, valid until March 25, 2017
Tax Identification No. 160-302-865
BIR Accreditation no. 08-001998-73-2015,
February 27, 2015, valid until February 26, 2018
PTR no. 5321688, January 4, 2016, Makati City

March 30, 2016
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 December 31
2015 2014

assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4, 26, 27 and 28) P2,714,551,186 P662,723,074
Short-term investments (Notes 5, 26, 27 and 28) 55,416,330 29,884,215
Insurance receivables - net (Notes 6, 26, 27 and 28) 4,390,112,108 5,356,923,170
Financial assets (Notes 7, 26, 27 and 28)

Available-for-sale financial assets 7,406,887,661 8,949,285,522
Loans and receivables - net 1,347,323,803 1,636,856,691

Accrued income (Notes 8, 26, 27 and 28) 48,150,680 50,448,645
Deferred acquisition costs (Notes 9 and 29) 314,468,237 350,379,085
Reinsurance assets (Notes 10, 14, 26 and 29) 8,176,119,199 11,127,176,693
Investment properties - net (Note 11) 27,099,092 27,169,980
Property and equipment - net (Notes 12 and 29) 303,205,754 304,930,919
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 24) 135,218,316 107,377,857
Other assets - net (Notes 13 and 26) 422,840,041 431,339,235

P25,341,392,407 P29,034,495,086

LiabiLities anD eqUity
Liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities (Notes 14 and 26) P11,722,615,022 P14,192,015,161
Insurance payables (Notes 15, 26 and 27) 2,852,283,413 2,863,923,235
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

(Notes 16, 26 and 27) 2,227,785,715 2,038,892,959
Income tax payable 275,311 281,365
Deferred reinsurance commissions (Note 9) 144,971,422 184,019,788 
Dividends payable ‒ 9,060,000
Pension liability (Note 17) 235,595,231 186,921,599

17,183,526,114 19,475,114,107
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (Note 26)

Capital stock - P100 par value
Preferred shares Authorized and unissued - 5,000 shares
Common shares Authorized - 10,000,000 shares

Issued and outstanding - 8,452,925 P845,292,500 P845,292,500
Capital in excess of par value 780,882,008 780,882,008
Contributed surplus  50,000 50,000
Contingency surplus 4,485,618 4,485,618
Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial assets

(Note 7) 2,643,034,341 4,173,571,879
Other revaluation reserve (Note 18) 23,466,647 23,466,647
Remeasurement loss on net pension obligation (149,845,175)  (130,484,735)
Retained earnings (Note 18)  3,739,635,753 3,534,298,429

7,887,001,692 9,231,562,346
Non-controlling interests (Note 1) 270,864,601 327,818,633

8,157,866,293 9,559,380,979
 P25,341,392,407 P29,034,495,086

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

Consolidated Statements of Income
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Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position

 Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

income
Gross premiums earned P8,851,305,522 P7,606,010,846
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned (5,598,289,507) (4,823,465,587)
Net premiums earned (Notes 14 and 19) 3,253,016,015 2,782,545,259
Investment and other income (Note 20) 638,964,265 732,508,684
Commission income (Note 9) 467,935,110 388,531,867
Other income 1,106,899,375 1,121,040,551
Total income 4,359,915,390 3,903,585,810

benefits, cLaims anD exPenses
Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid (Notes 14 and 21) 3,482,859,099 4,061,809,777
Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract benefits

and claims paid (Notes 14 and 21)  (2,051,782,883) (2,530,583,410)
Gross change in insurance contract liabilities (Note 21) (2,222,830,613) 1,787,677,435
Reinsurers’ share of gross change in insurance contract

liabilities (Note 21)  2,302,511,889 (1,953,585,996)
Net insurance contract benefits and claims 1,510,757,492 1,365,317,806

Commission expense (Note 9) 1,256,262,688 1,031,068,080
Other underwriting expenses 195,135,424 141,234,773
General and administrative expenses (Note 22) 1,060,021,751 999,287,507
Investment and other expense (Note 20) 85,068,989 24,721,278
Interest expense on reinsurance funds held 5,907,637 6,443,360
Other expenses 2,602,396,489 2,202,754,998 
Total benefits, claims and other expenses 4,113,153,981 3,568,072,804

income before income tax 246,761,409 335,513,006

Provision for income tax (Note 24) 34,667,455 46,027,306

net income (Note 25) P212,093,954 P289,485,700

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 205,337,324 283,060,362
Non-controlling interests 6,756,630 6,425,338

212,093,954 289,485,700
 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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 Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

net income P212,093,954 P289,485,700

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net change on fair values of available-for-sale
 financial assets - net of tax effect (Note 7)  (1,594,598,540) 308,153,397

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement loss on pension obligation - net of tax effect (19,010,100) (5,958,543)

totaL comPreHensive income (Loss) (1,401,514,686) 591,680,554
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company (1,344,560,654) 574,035,065
Non-controlling interests (56,954,032) 17,645,489

(P1,401,514,686) P591,680,554

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income
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Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

casH fLows from oPerating activities
Income before income tax P246,761,409 P335,513,006
Adjustments for:
 Dividend income (Note 20) (211,476,522) (267,810,303)
 Interest income (Note 20) (201,832,376) (230,963,048)
 Unrealized foreign currency exchange loss - net (154,538,536) 923,674
 Interest expense on reinsurance funds held 5,907,637 6,443,360
 Impairment loss on AFS financial assets (Notes 7 and 20) 71,746,444 ‒
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 72,406,685 70,797,076
 Gain on sale of (Note 20): 

 Available-for-sale financial assets (62,179,168) (170,155,505)
  Real estate properties for sale (434,556) (11,420,817)
  Property and equipment (191,308) (627,221)
  Investment properties ‒ (246,074)
Operating loss before working capital changes (233,830,291) (267,545,852)
 Decrease (increase) in:
  Loans and receivables 223,240,740 (108,090,668)
  Insurance receivables 996,814,158 47,467,189
  Accrued rent income 5,820,079 2,611,681
  Deferred acquisition costs 35,910,848 61,537,270
  Reinsurance assets 2,951,057,494 (1,788,952,095)
  Other assets 561,872 (58,167,097)
 Increase (decrease) in:
  Insurance contract liabilities (2,469,400,139) 1,703,991,880
  Insurance payables (11,639,822) (879,118,897)
  Deferred reinsurance commissions (39,048,366) (12,596,814)
  Pension liability 21,516,347 (14,917,260)
  Dividends Payable ‒ 9,060,000
  Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 188,892,756 373,432,003
Net cash from (used in) operations 1,669,895,676 (931,288,660)
Income tax paid (38,948,264) (41,882,492)
Interest paid on reinsurance funds held (5,907,637) (6,443,360)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,625,039,775 (979,614,512)
casH fLows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale or maturities of:
 Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7) 1,286,015,053 1,102,986,116
 Long-term commercial papers (Note 7) 172,076,464 62,300,000
 Short-term investments 29,884,215 12,277,860
 Real estate properties for sale 8,371,878 13,500,817
 Property and equipment (Note 12) 191,313 2,718,462
 Investment properties (Note 11) ‒ 1,242,824
(Forward)

Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS
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Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

Dividends received P208,752,071 P263,918,732
Interest received 205,302,904 243,246,656
Acquisitions of:
 Non-trade notes receivable (Note 7) ‒ 100,000,000
 Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7) (1,267,537,350) (650,036,809)
 Long-term commercial papers (Note 7) (106,404,204) (103,127,645)
 Property and equipment (Note 12) (70,610,637) (69,796,033)
 Short-term investments (55,416,330) (29,884,215)
Net cash provided by investing activities 410,625,377 949,346,765
casH fLows from financing activity
Dividends paid (Note 18) (9,060,000) (135,853,875)
effect of excHange rate cHanges on  

casH anD casH eqUivaLents 25,222,960 (2,746,831)
net increase in (Decrease) casH anD casH eqUivaLents 2,051,828,112 (168,868,453)
casH anD casH eqUivaLents at  

beginning of year (Note 4) 662,723,074 831,591,527
casH anD casH eqUivaLents at  

enD of year P2,714,551,186 P662,723,074

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial  
Statements

MALAYAn InSuRAnCe CO., InC. AnD SuBSIDIARIeS

1. Corporate Information

 Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (the Parent Company) is a domestic corporation, which was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) on February 16, 1949. The Parent Company is engaged in the nonlife insurance business dealing with all kinds of insurance such as 
fire, marine, bond, motor car, personal accident, miscellaneous casualty, and engineering, except life insurance.

 On October 22, 2001, the SEC approved the Amended Articles of Incorporation extending the Parent Company’s existence to another 50 years from 
February 16, 1999.

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and the following wholly and majority-owned 
subsidiaries:

Place of Percentage of Ownership
Incorporation 2015 2014

Bankers Assurance Corporation (BAC) Philippines 100.0 100.0
The First Nationwide Assurance Corporation (FNAC) Philippines 54.7 54.7

 Bankers Assurance Corporation a wholly owned subsidiary of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (MICO), was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in 
nonlife insurance business dealing with all kinds of insurance such as fire, marine, motorcar, personal accident, miscellaneous casualty, engineering, 
bonds and aviation, except life insurance.

 BAC was incorporated on September 6, 1955.  On August 12, 2004, the Board of Directors (BOD) and stockholders approved the amendment of the 
Articles of Incorporation extending the corporate term for another 50 years from September 6, 2005, which was approved by the Philippine Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 13, 2006.

 The First Nationwide Assurance Corporation is 54.7% owned by Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (MICO) and 45.3% owned by MICO Equities, Inc. (MEI).  
FNAC’s ultimate parent is Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation (PMMIC).  FNAC was incorporated in the Philippines to engage in 
nonlife insurance business dealing with all kinds of insurance such as fire, marine, motor car, personal accident, miscellaneous casualty and bonds, 
except life insurance, and to act as agent of other insurance or surety companies in any of the branches of insurance, including life insurance.

 FNAC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on June 11, 1965.  On July 31, 2012, SEC approved 
the Amended Articles of Incorporation of FNAC whereby the period during which FNAC is to exist is fifty (50) years from and after June 11, 2015.

 The Parent Company’s parent is MICO Equities, Inc. (MEI).  The registered office address of the Parent Company is 5th Floor, Yuchengco Building, 500 
Quintin Paredes Street, Binondo, Manila.  The Parent Company’s ultimate parent is Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation (PMMIC) 
with registered office address at 48th Floor, Yuchengco Tower, RCBC Plaza, 6819 Ayala Avenue, Makati City.

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Group) were approved and authorized for 
issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 30, 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 Basis of Preparation
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) 

financial assets which have been measured at fair value.  The consolidated financial statements are measured in Philippine Peso (P), which is also the 
Group’s functional and presentation currency.  All values are rounded off to the nearest Philippine Peso values, unless otherwise indicated.

 Statement of Compliance
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

(PFRS).

 Basis of Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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 Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee.  Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

• power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

 When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated 
until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and 
dividends are eliminated in full.

 Non-controlling interests (NCIs) pertains to the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly to the Parent Company.  Any equity 
instruments issued by a subsidiary that are not owned by the Parent Company are NCIs.

 NCIs represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not wholly-owned and are presented separately in the consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements 
of financial position, separately from the Parent Company’s equity.  

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the summarized financial information attributable to non-controlling interests for significant subsidiaries follows:

2015 2014
Total assets P524,940,809 P574,762,520
Total liabilities 254,076,208 246,943,887
Net Assets P270,864,601 P327,818,633

Total income P72,947,214 P76,691,256
Total benefits, claims and expenses 65,679,846 68,566,735
Income before income tax 7,267,368 8,124,521
Provision for income tax 510,738 1,699,182
Net income P6,756,630 P6,425,339

 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the NCI even if that results in a deficit balance.

 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  Any difference between the 
amount by which the NCIs are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity as “Equity reserve” and 
attributed to the owners of the Parent Company.

 If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary it:

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as 

appropriate.

 Changes in Accounting Policies
 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of the following amended PFRS and 

Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) interpretations which became effective beginning January 1, 2015.  Except as otherwise stated, the adoption 
of these amended standards and Philippine Interpretations did not have any impact on the financial statements.

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments)
 PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions 

are linked to service, they should be attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount of the 
contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service 
cost in the period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service.
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 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle)

 PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition 
 This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of performance and service conditions which are 

vesting conditions, including:

• A performance condition must contain a service condition
• A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
• A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in the same group
• A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
• If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting period, the service condition is not satisfied.

 This amendment was not applicable to the Group as it has no share-based payments.

 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business Combination
 The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after July 1, 2014. It clarifies that a contingent 

consideration that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) whether or not it falls within the scope 
of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This amendment did not significantly impact the financial statements of the Group.

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s 
Assets

 The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarify that:

• An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria in the standard, including a brief description 
of operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess whether the 
segments are ‘similar’.

• The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision 
maker, similar to the required disclosure for segment liabilities.

 The amendments affected disclosures only and had no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Revaluation Method – Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation 
and Amortization

 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by reference to the observable data 
on either the gross or the net carrying amount.  In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between the gross and 
carrying amounts of the asset.  The amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

 PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an entity that provides key management personnel 

services, is a related party subject to the related party disclosures.  In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the 
expenses incurred for management services. The amendments affected disclosures only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle)

 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope exceptions within PFRS 3:

• Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.
• This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

 The amendment had no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

 PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied not only to financial assets and financial 

liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of PAS 39. The amendment had no significant impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.

 PAS 40, Investment Property
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the 

transaction is the purchase of an asset or business combination. The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates between investment 
property and owner-occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment).  The amendment had no significant impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance.

 Future Changes in Accounting Policies

 Deferred
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
 This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly or 

through subcontractors.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting Standard Council (FRSC) have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final 
Revenue standard is issued by the IASB and an evaluation of the requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine 
real estate industry is completed.  Adoption of the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any impact on the financial statements of 
the Group.
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 PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

 These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS 10 and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized when a 
transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not).  A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets 
that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.  In December 2015, the IASB deferred indefinitely the effective 
date of these amendments pending the final outcome of the IASB’s research project on International Accounting Standards 28.  Adoption of these 
amendments when they become effective will not have any impact on the financial statements.

 Effective 2016
 PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 

Exception (Amendments)
 These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an 

investment entity that measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value and that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity 
itself and that provides support services to the investment entity parent is consolidated. The amendments also allow an investor (that is not an 
investment entity and has an investment entity associate or joint venture), when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  These amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after  January 1, 2016. These amendments are not applicable to the Group.

 PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments)
 The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 

financial statements.  Entities already applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply 
that change retrospectively.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  
These amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

 PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests (Amendments)
 The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of 

the joint operation constitutes a business (as defined by PFRS 3), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting.  The 
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same 
joint operation while joint control is retained.  In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply 
when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party.

 The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint 
operation and are prospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  These amendments 
are not expected to have any impact to the Group.

 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments)
 The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the presentation and disclosure requirements in PFRS.  They 

clarify the following:

• That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either obscuring material information with immaterial 
information; or aggregating material items that have different natures or functions

• That specific line items in the statement of income and OCI and the statement of financial position may be disaggregated
• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements
• That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, 

and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

 Early application is permitted and entities do not need to disclose that fact as the amendments are considered to be clarifications that do not affect an 
entity’s accounting policies or accounting estimates.  The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its financial statements.

 PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate- regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting 

policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS.  Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral 
accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the 
statement of income and other comprehensive income.  The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s 
rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements.  PFRS 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2016. Since the Group is an existing PFRS preparer, this standard would not apply.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
 The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, 

biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After initial 
recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model 
(after maturity).  The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at fair value less 
costs to sell.  For government grants related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, will 
apply. The amendments are retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group.

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 
(Amendments)

 The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating 
a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset.  As a result, a revenue-based 
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method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible 
assets. The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted.  These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-
current assets.

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
 The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 and are not expected to 

have a material impact on the Group.  They include:

 PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of Disposal
 The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-

versa should not be considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the 
application of the requirements in PFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification. 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts
 PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognized in its entirety.  The 

amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset.  An entity must assess the 
nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance on continuing involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required.  
The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done 
retrospectively.  However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the 
entity first applies the amendments.

 PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements
 This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in 

the condensed interim financial report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual report. 

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - regional market issue regarding discount rate
 This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which 

the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located.  When there is no deep market for high quality corporate 
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. 

 PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting – disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’
 The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or 

incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial report 
(i.e., in the management commentary or risk report).

 Effective 2018
 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
 In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The new standard (renamed as PFRS 9) reflects all phases of the financial 

instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.  PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  Retrospective application is required, but providing comparative information is not 
compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. Early application of previous 
versions of PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date of initial application is before February 1, 2015. 

 The Group did not early adopt PFRS 9. The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, 
but will have no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.  

 The following new standards have been issued by the IASB but have not yet been adopted locally.

 International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to 

revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to 
measuring and recognizing revenue.

 The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or 
modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

 IFRS 16, Leases
 On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued its new standard, IFRS 16, Leases, which replaces International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17, the current leases 

standard, and the related Interpretations.

 Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance leases in accordance with IAS 17. Rather, lessees will 
apply the single-asset model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases on their balance sheets, and 
subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss.  Leases with a term of twelve (12) 
months or less or for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requirements.

 The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the principles of lessor accounting under IAS 17.  Lessors, 
however, will be required to disclose more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual value.
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 The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

 Entities may early adopt IFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. When adopting IFRS 16, an 
entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

 Product Classification
 Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholders) 

by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders. As a general 
guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits paid with benefits payable if the insured event did 
not occur. Insurance contracts can also transfer financial risk.

 Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance 
risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or has expired.

 Use of Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments
 The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions and judgments. These estimates and assumptions affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for the year.  
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of current facts as at the end of the reporting period, the actual 
outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly significantly.  For further information on critical estimates and judgments, refer to Note 3.

 Fair Value Measurement
 The Group measures financial instrument at fair value at each reporting period. 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

 For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred 
between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of placements and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Insurance Receivables
 Premium receivables are recognized on policy inception dates and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the consideration receivable for 

the period of coverage. The carrying value of insurance receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable, with the impairment loss recorded in statement of income.

 Financial Instruments
 Date of recognition
 The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date.

 Initial recognition of financial instruments
 All financial assets and liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Except for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 

or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of financial instruments includes transaction costs. The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and loans and receivables.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every 
reporting date.
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 Determination of fair value
 The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations 

(bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and ask prices are not 
available, the price of the most recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in 
economic circumstances since the time of the transaction.

 For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, option pricing models, 
and other relevant valuation models.

 ‘Day 1’ difference
 Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value based on other observable current market transactions on the 

same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type 
of asset or liability.  In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each 
transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount.

 AFS financial assets
 AFS investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as designated at FVPL, Held-to-Maturity (HTM) or loans and 

receivables.  They are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions.

 After initial measurement, AFS investments are subsequently measured at fair value. The effective yield component of AFS debt securities, as well as 
the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the statement of income.  Interest earned on holding 
AFS investments are reported as interest income using the effective interest rate.

 Dividends earned on holding AFS investments are recognized in the profit or loss when the right to receive the payment has been established. The 
unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS investments are reported as ‘Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial 
assets’ in the equity section of the statement of financial position. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized in the 
statement of income. When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized as realized gains or 
losses in the statement of income. Where the Group holds more than one investment in the same security, the cost is determined using the weighted 
average method.

 When the fair value of AFS investments cannot be measured reliably because of lack of reliable estimates of future cash flows and discount rates 
necessary to calculate the fair value of unquoted equity instruments, these investments are carried at cost.

 Loans and receivables
 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  They are 

not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as financial assets held for trading, designated as AFS or 
FVPL.  This accounting policy relates to the statement of financial position captions: (a) “Cash and Cash Equivalents”, (b) “Insurance Receivables”, (c) 
“Loans and receivables” and (d) “Accrued Income”.

 After initial measurement, the loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less allowance 
for impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. The amortization is included in the investment and other income account in the statement of income.  The losses arising from 
impairment of such loans and receivables are recognized in the statement of income.

 Other financial liabilities
 Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at FVPL are classified as other financial liabilities where the substance 

of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the 
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  The components 
of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned 
the residual amount after deducting from the instrument a whole amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component on the 
date of issue. 

 After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Any effects 
of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the statement of income.

 This accounting policy applies primarily to insurance payables, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities that meet the above 
definition (other than liabilities covered by other accounting standards, such as retirement benefit liability and income tax payable).

 Offsetting Financial Instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right to offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally 
enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties.

 Impairment of Financial Assets
 The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
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on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 Financial Assets carried at amortized cost
 For financial assets carried at amortized cost (e.g., loans and receivables, HTM investments), the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of 

impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the 
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the 
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment.

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

 If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged against profit or loss.  If, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

 The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Time value is generally not 
considered when the effect of discounting is not material.  If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is 
the current effective interest rate, adjusted for the original credit risk premium. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or 
not foreclosure is probable.

 For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of credit risk characteristics such as past-due status 
and term.

 AFS financial assets carried at fair value
 In case of equity investments, impairment indicators would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its 

cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement of income is removed from equity and recognized in 
the statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the statement of income.  Increases in fair value after 
impairment are recognized directly in equity.

 In case of debt instruments, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income 
is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the impairment loss and is recorded as part of interest income in the statement of income.  If subsequently, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increased and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the statement of income, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of income.

 AFS financial assets carried at cost
 If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value 

cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instrument has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

 Offsetting Financial Instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  The Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right to offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally 
enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties.

 Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
 Financial asset
 A financial asset (or where applicable a part of financial asset or a part of a group of financial asset) is derecognized when:

a. the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
b. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 

party under a pass-through arrangement or;
c. the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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 Financial liability
 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability has expired, or is discharged or cancelled. Where an existing financial 

liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income.

 Reinsurance
 The Group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business.  Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies for its share 

on the unpaid losses incurred by the Group.  Recoverable amounts are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and 
are in accordance with the reinsurance contract.  Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses are included as part of “Insurance receivables”.

 Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each end of the reporting period or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises 
during the reporting year.  Impairment occurs when objective evidence exists that the Group may not recover outstanding amounts under the terms 
of the contract and when the impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer can be measured reliably.  The impairment loss is 
recorded in the statement of income.

 Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policy holders.

 The Group also assumes reinsurance risk in the normal course of business for insurance contracts.  Premiums and claims on assumed reinsurance are 
recognized in profit or loss as income and expenses in the same manner as they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking 
into account the product classification of the reinsured business.  Reinsurance liabilities represent balances due to reinsurance companies.  Amounts 
payable are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated reinsurance contract.

 Premiums and claims are presented on a gross basis for both ceded and assumed reinsurance.

 Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognized when the contractual rights are extinguished or expired or when the contract is transferred to 
another party.

 When the Group enters into a proportional treaty reinsurance agreement for ceding out its insurance business, the Group initially recognizes a liability 
at transaction price.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the portion of the amount initially recognized as a liability, which is presented as Insurance 
payables in the liabilities section of the statement of financial position, will be withheld and recognized as Funds held for reinsurers and included as 
part of the Insurance payables in the liabilities section of the statement of financial position.  The amount withheld is generally released after a year.  
Funds held by ceding companies are accounted for in the same manner.

 Deferred Acquisition Costs (DAC)
 Commission and other acquisition costs incurred during the financial period that vary with and are related to securing new insurance contracts and or 

renewing existing insurance contracts, but which relates to subsequent financial periods, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of 
future revenue margins.  All other acquisition costs are recognized as expense when incurred.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis using the 24th method over the life of the contract except for the 
marine cargo where commissions for the last two months of the year are recognized as expense the following year.  Amortization is charged against 
the statement of income.  The unamortized acquisition costs are shown as DAC in the assets section of the statement of financial position.

 An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises.  The carrying value is written 
down to the recoverable amount.  The impairment loss is charged against the statement of income.  DAC is also considered in the liability adequacy 
test for each reporting period.

 Property and Equipment
 Property and equipment, except for land, are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value.  Land is 

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

 The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including nonrefundable taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

 Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the properties as follows:

Years
Building and improvements 40
Building equipment 5
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 5
Transportation equipment 5

 Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or estimated useful life of 5 years, whichever is shorter.

 The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and method of depreciation 
and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.
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 When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
accumulated provision for impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets, which 
is calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is included in the consolidated statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized.

 Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs)
 Creditable withholding pertains to the indirect tax paid by the Group that is withheld by its counterparty for the payment of its expenses and other 

purchases.  These CWTs are initially recorded at cost as an asset under “Other assets” account.  

 At each end of the tax reporting deadline, these CWTs may either be offset against future tax income payable or be claimed as a refund from the 
taxation authorities at the option of the Group.  If these CWTs are claimed as a refund, these will be recorded as a receivable under “Loans and 
receivables” account.

 At each end of the reporting period, an assessment for impairment is performed as to the recoverability of these CWTs.

 Computer Software
 Costs associated with the acquisition of computer software are capitalized only if the asset can be reliably measured, will generate future economic 

benefits, and there is an ability to use or sell the asset.

 Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortization.  Computer software cost is amortized over the expected useful life of the asset, 
but not to exceed five (5) years.  All computer software components are amortized over five (5) years.  Amortization commences when the asset is 
available for use or when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group.

 Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
 The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is an indication that investment properties, property and equipment and 

computer software may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 An assessment is made at each end of the reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such 
reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  
After such reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

 Value-added Tax (VAT)
 The input value added tax pertains to the 12% indirect tax paid by the Group in the course of the Group’s trade or business on local purchase of goods 

or services. 

 Output VAT pertains to the 12% tax due on the sale of insurance policies and other goods or services by the Group.

 If at the end of any taxable month, the output VAT exceeds the input VAT, the outstanding balance is included under “Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses” account.  If the input VAT exceeds the output VAT, the excess shall be carried over to the succeeding months and included under “Other 
assets” account.

 Real Estate Properties for Sale
 Real estate properties for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).  NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to sell.  The cost of 
inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property.

 Insurance Contract Liabilities
 Provision for Unearned Premiums
 The proportion of written premiums, gross of commissions payable to intermediaries, attributable to subsequent periods or to risks that have not 

yet expired is deferred as provision for unearned premiums.  Premiums from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over 
the period of the contracts using the 24th method except for the marine cargo where premiums for the last two months are considered earned the 
following year.  The portion of the premiums written that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted 
for as Provision for unearned premiums as part of Insurance contract liabilities and presented in the liabilities section of the consolidated statement of 
financial position.  The change in the provision for unearned premiums is taken to profit or loss in order that revenue is recognized over the period of 
risk.  Further provisions are made to cover claims under unexpired insurance contracts which may exceed the unearned premiums and the premiums 
due in respect of these contracts.

 Claims Provision and Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Losses
 These liabilities are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the end of the reporting period together with 

related claims handling costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced in the notification 
and settlement of certain types of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty at the end of the reporting period.  
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The liability is not discounted for the time value of money and includes provision for IBNR losses. The liability is derecognized when the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or has expired.

 Liability Adequacy Test
 At each end of the reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed, to ensure the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities, net of related 

DAC assets. In performing the test, current best estimates of future cash flows, claims handling and policy administration expenses are used. Changes 
in expected claims that have occurred, but which have not been settled, are reflected by adjusting the liability for claims and future benefits. Any 
inadequacy is immediately charged to the consolidated statement of income by establishing an unexpired risk provision for losses arising from the 
liability adequacy tests. The provision for unearned premiums is increased to the extent that the future claims and expenses in respect of current 
insurance contracts exceed future premiums plus the current provision for unearned premiums.

 Insurance Payables
 Insurance payables are recognized when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the consideration received less attributable 

transaction cost.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Insurance payables 
are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is settled, cancelled or expired.

 Pension Cost
 The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 

reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

 The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method.

 Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
 • Service cost
 • Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
 • Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

 Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit 
or loss.  Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated periodically by independent 
qualified actuaries.

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability or asset that arises from 
the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss.

 Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest 
on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are not 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

 Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance policies.  Plan assets are not available to the 
creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group.  Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market 
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk 
associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until 
the settlement of the related obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the 
measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan 
or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

 The Group’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset 
at fair value when and only when reimbursement is virtually certain.

 Equity
 Capital stock is recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding subscription agreement and is measured at par value.

 Capital in excess of par value includes any premiums received in excess of par value on the issuance of capital stock.

 Contributed surplus represents the original contribution of the stockholders of the Parent Company, in addition to the paid-in capital stock, in order 
to comply with the pre-licensing requirements as provided under the Insurance Code (the Code).

 Contingency surplus pertains to capital infusion of shareholders in order to comply with Margin of Solvency (MOS) deficiency as a result of the 
examination made by the Insurance Commission (IC).

 Other revaluation reserve pertains to the appraisal increment on building relating to the Parent Company’s previously held interest in Tokio Marine 
Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. (TMMIC) at the time of the business combination.  The balance of the other revaluation reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings when the building is disposed or derecognized.

 Retained earnings include all the accumulated earnings of the Group, net of dividends declared.
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 Revenue Recognition
 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

 Premiums Revenue
 Gross insurance written premiums comprise the total premiums receivable for the whole period of cover provided by contracts entered into during 

the accounting period and are recognized on the date on which the policy incepts.  Premiums include any adjustments arising in the accounting period 
for premiums receivable in respect of business written in prior periods.

 Premiums from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contracts using the 24th method except for the 
marine cargo where premiums for the last two months are considered earned the following year. The portion of the premiums written that relate 
to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted for as Provision for unearned premiums as part of Insurance 
contract liabilities and presented in the liabilities section of the consolidated statements of financial position. The related reinsurance premiums 
ceded that pertains to the unexpired periods at end of the reporting period are accounted for as Deferred reinsurance premiums and shown as part 
of reinsurance assets in the consolidated statements of financial position.  The net changes in these accounts between each end of reporting periods 
are recognized in profit or loss.

 Reinsurance Commissions
 Commissions earned from short-duration insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contracts using the 24th method 

except for the marine cargo where the deferred reinsurance commissions for the last two months of the year are considered earned the following 
year.  The portion of the commissions that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies at end of the reporting period are accounted for as deferred 
reinsurance commissions and presented in the Liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

 Interest income
 For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial instruments, interest income is recorded at the effective 

interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options), includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective 
interest rate.  The change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income.

 Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income 
continues to be recognized using the original effective interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.

 Rental income
 Rental income from investment properties are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

 Management fees
 Management fees are recognized as income when services are rendered.

 Other income
 Income from other sources is recognized when earned.

 Expense Recognition
 Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrence of liabilities 

that result in decrease in equity, other than those relating to distribution to equity participants.

 Benefits and Claims
 Benefits and claims consists of benefits and claims paid to policyholders, which includes changes in the valuation of Insurance contract liabilities, 

except for changes in the provision for unearned premiums which are recorded in insurance revenue.  It further includes internal and external claims 
handling costs that are directly related to the processing and settlement of claims.  Amounts receivable in respect of salvage and subrogation are also 
considered.  General insurance claims are recorded on the basis of notifications received.

 Commission Expense
 Commissions are recognized as expense over the period of the contracts using the 24th method.  The portion of the commissions that relates to 

the unexpired periods of the policies at the end of the reporting period is accounted for as “Deferred acquisition cost” in the assets section of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

 Other underwriting expense
 Other underwriting expense pertains to the costs incurred by the Group prior to the issuance of policies to its policyholders.  These costs include 

expenses for technical inspections, actuarial reviews and other work that is deemed necessary to determine whether or not to accept the risks to be 
written.  These costs are recognized as expense as they are incurred.

 Expenses
 General and administrative expense and other investment expense, except for lease agreements, are recognized as expense as they are incurred.

 Interest expense
 Interest expense is charged against operations as they are incurred.
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 Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 

whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term;
c.  is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset or;
d. There is a substantial change to the asset.

 Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

 Group  as a lessor
 Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases.  Lease 

payments received are recognized as an income in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same 
basis as the rental income.

 Group as a lessee
 Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Fixed lease 

payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis.

 Foreign Exchange Transactions
 The functional and presentation currency of the Group is the Philippine Peso (P). Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 

functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.  Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Nonmonetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.  All foreign 
exchange differences are taken to profit or loss, except where it relates to equity securities where gains or losses are recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income.

 Provisions and Contingencies 
 Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or 
loss, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense.

 Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

 Income Tax
 Current tax
 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
income tax, and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, 
however, is not recognized on temporary differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each end of the reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.  Movements in the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities arising from changes in tax rates are charged against or credited to income for the period.
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 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized as other comprehensive income is also recognized in the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

 Events after End of the Reporting Period
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) are 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

 The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make judgments and estimates 
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions used in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the 
consolidated financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.

 Judgments
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, 

which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

 Product classification
 The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insured event and the magnitude of its potential effect. As a general 

guideline, the Group defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at 
least 5% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

 The Group has determined that the insurance policies it issues have significant insurance risks and therefore meet the definition of insurance contracts 
and should be accounted for as such.

 Functional Currency
 Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Group, the functional currency of the Group has been determined 

to be the Philippine Peso.  The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.  It is the currency 
that mainly influences the revenue and costs of the Group operations.

 Operating lease commitments - Group Company as lessor
 The Group entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The Group determined that it retains all the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the property, thus accounts for them as operating lease.

 Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
 The Group entered into various property leases with various lessors.  The Group determined that the lessors retain all the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership of the leased properties thus accounts for them as operating leases.

 Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
 The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property. In making this judgment, the Group considers whether the property 

generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable 
not only to property but also to the other assets used in the production or supply process.

 When properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion is held for use in the production or 
supply of goods or services or for administrative purpose, and these portions cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted for as investment 
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  Judgment is 
applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers 
each property separately in making this judgment.

 Management’s Use of Estimates 
 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at each reporting date, that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

 Fair values of financial assets
 The Group carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates and judgments.  Fair value determinations 

for financial assets are based generally on listed or quoted market prices.  If prices are not readily determinable or if liquidating positions is reasonably 
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on either internal valuation models or management’s estimate of amounts that could be realized 
under current market conditions, assuming an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time.  While significant components of fair value were 
determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, volatility rates), the amount of changes in fair value of 
these financial assets and liabilities would affect the statement of other comprehensive income.

 The carrying value of AFS financial assets is P7,406.89 million and P8,949.29 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 7).

 Valuation of insurance contract liabilities
 Estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported and for the expected ultimate cost of claims IBNR at the end of 

reporting period.  It can take a significant period of time before the ultimate claims cost can be established with certainty.
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 The primary technique adopted by management in estimating the cost of notified and claims IBNR, is that of using past claims settlement trends to 
predict future claims settlement trends.  At each reporting date, prior year claims estimates are assessed for adequacy and changes made are charged 
to provision.  Insurance contract liabilities are not discounted for the time value of money.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying values of provision for claims reported and IBNR amounted to P8,359.38 million and P10,582.22 
million, respectively (Note 14).

 Estimation of allowance for impairment losses
 The Group maintains allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables.  The level of 

this allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts.  These factors include, but are not 
limited to, age of balances, financial status of counterparties, and legal opinion on recoverability in case of legal disputes.  The Group reviews the age 
and status of receivables, and identifies accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a regular basis.

 The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An 
increase in allowance for impairment losses would increase recorded expenses and decrease the related asset accounts.

 The carrying value of insurance receivables, net of impairment losses amounted to P4,390.11 million and P5,356.92 million as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. The related allowance for impairment losses amounted to P186.24 million and P150.36 million as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014 respectively (Note 6).

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of loans and receivables amounted to P1,347.32 million and P1,636.86 million, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the related allowance for impairment losses amounted to P3.75 million. (Note 7).

 Impairment of AFS equity financial assets
 The Group determines that AFS equity financial assets are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its 

cost.  The determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ 
as continuous decline for a period of six (6) months or more. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility 
in share price for quoted securities. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the 
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the Group’s AFS equity financial assets amounted to P5,154.42 million and P6,832.70 million, 
respectively (Note 7).

 Impairment loss recognized on Group’s AFS equity financial assets amounted to P71.75 million and nil in 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 7).

 Estimation of useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment
 The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment, based on the period 

over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in 
these estimates.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of computer software, investment properties and property and equipment would increase 
recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease the related asset accounts.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the investment properties amounted to P27.10 million and P27.17 million, respectively  
(Note 11). 

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the property and equipment amounted to P303.21 million and P304.93 million, respectively 
(Note 12).

 Evaluation of net realizable value of real estate properties for sale
 Real estate properties for sale are valued at the lower of cost and NRV. This requires the Group to make an estimate of the real estate properties’ 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, cost of completion and costs necessary to make a sale to determine the NRV. The Group 
adjusts the cost of its real estate properties to net realizable value based on its assessment of the recoverability of its real estate properties for sale.  
In determining the recoverability of its real estate properties for sale, management considers whether its real estate properties for sale are damaged 
or if their selling prices have declined.

 Likewise, management also considers whether the estimated costs of completion or the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sale have 
increased.  In the event that NRV is lower than the cost, the decline is recognized as an expense.  The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any 
period would differ if different judgments were made or different estimates were utilized.  Note 13 for the related balances.

 Impairment of nonfinancial assets
 The Group assesses the impairment of its nonfinancial assets (i.e., investment properties, property and equipment and computer software) whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Group considers 
important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

 • significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
 • significant changes in the manner of use of the assets; and
 • significant negative industry or economic trends.

 The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amounts are 
estimated for individual asset or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has not recognized any impairment losses on its nonfinancial assets. Notes 11, 12 and 13 for related 
balances.
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 Recognition of deferred tax assets
 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available 

against which these can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized.  These assets are periodically reviewed for realization.  Periodic reviews cover the nature and amount of deferred income and expense 
items, expected timing when assets will be used or liabilities will be required to be reported, reliability of historical profitability of businesses expected 
to provide future earnings and tax planning strategies which can be utilized to increase the likelihood that tax assets will be realized.  Note 24 for the 
related balances.

 Estimating pension obligation and other retirement benefits
 The determination of pension obligation and cost of pension is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used in calculating such amounts.  

Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates and salary increase rates.  

 Due to the long-term nature of this plan, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

 The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected 
employee benefit payout as of the reporting date. In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and 
appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the pension obligations.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of pension obligation amounted to P235.60 million and P186.92 million, respectively (Note 17).

 Contingencies
 The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings. The estimate of probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed 

in consultation with the legal counsels and based upon analysis of potential results. The Group does not believe that these proceedings will have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Cash on hand:
  Petty cash fund P650,582 P978,523
  Special funds 28,000 28,000
Cash in banks:
  Commercial banks and trust company (Note 28) 1,554,450,384 404,250,874
  Thrift banks, rural banks and cooperatives 4,191,339 5,304,095
Short-term deposits (Note 28) 1,155,230,881 252,161,582

P2,714,551,186 P662,723,074

 Cash in banks earns interest at the respective bank rates.  

 Short-term deposits are placed for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.

 The range of interest rates of the short-term deposits follows:

2015 2014
Philippine Peso 0.25% to 2.13% 1.13% to 1.25%
US Dollar 0.02% to 0.88% 0.02% to 1.13%

5. Short-term Investments

 This account consists of time deposits with maturity of more than three months but less than one year from dates of placement and earns interest 
with annual rates ranging from 0.63% to 2.00% and 0.50% to 4.25% in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 Interest earned on short-term investments amounted to P0.57 million and P0.03 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 20).
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6. Insurance Receivables - net

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P3,929,754,286 P3,736,938,249
Due from ceding companies:
  Treaty (Note 28) 231,521,891 1,315,451,584
  Facultative 102,696,332 141,004,182
Funds held by ceding companies - treaty (Note 28) 143,499,980 147,021,297
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 125,181,972 135,347,778
  Treaty 43,694,796 31,522,889

4,576,349,257 5,507,285,979
Less allowance for impairment losses 186,237,149 150,362,809

P4,390,112,108 P5,356,923,170

 Terms and Conditions 
 Due from policyholders, agents and brokers and due from ceding companies are unsecured, interest free and are settled in cash. The Group has 

recognized impairment losses amounting to P48.16 million and P47.01 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

 The reinsurance recoverable on paid losses is the amount recoverable from the reinsurers in respect of claims already paid by the Group.

 The following table shows aging information of insurance receivables:

 December 31, 2015

< 30 days 30 > 60 days 60 > 90 days 90 >  
120 days > 120 days Total

Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P596,832,921 P364,651,381 P352,972,730 P374,655,677 P2,240,641,577 P3,929,754,286
Due from ceding companies:
  Treaty 3,197,702 247,563 10,397,823 3,677,613 214,001,190 231,521,891
  Facultative 48,301,543 4,114,327 1,742,183 7,463,792 41,074,487 102,696,332
Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 84,093 626,453 19,901,290 3,559,185 119,328,959 143,499,980
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 5,333,765 3,524,990 25,310,107 1,137,680 89,875,430 125,181,972
  Treaty - - - 43,694,796 43,694,796

P653,750,024 P373,164,714 P410,324,133 P390,493,947 P2,748,616,439 P4,576,349,257

 December 31, 2014

< 30 days 30 > 60 days 60 > 90 days 90 >  
120 days > 120 days Total

Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P472,458,707 P316,721,437 P443,447,633 P338,796,089 P2,165,514,383 P3,736,938,249
Due from ceding companies:
  Treaty 381,502,370 262,681 2,673,003 5,722,029 925,291,501 1,315,451,584
  Facultative 93,216,921 17,415,799 4,851,937 5,618,939 19,900,586 141,004,182
Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 5,674,477 496,925 23,403,339 76,206 117,370,350 147,021,297
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
  Facultative 22,954,394 12,912,780 6,432,726 3,687,695 89,360,183 135,347,778
  Treaty - 959,476 - 30,563,413 31,522,889

P975,806,869 P347,809,622 P481,768,114 P353,900,958 P3,348,000,416 P5,507,285,979

 The allowance for impairment loss on insurance receivables has been determined as follows:

2015

Due from 
Policyholders, 

Agents and 
Brokers

Due from 
Ceding 

Companies - 
Treaty

Due from 
Ceding 

Companies - 
Facultative

Funds Held 
by Ceding 

Companies

Reinsurance 
Recoverable 

on Paid 
Losses - 

Facultative Total
Balance at beginning of year P128,053,678 P3,361,426 P8,755,855 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809
Impairment loss (Note 22) 48,156,274 - - - - 48,156,274
Reclassification (Note 22) (3,020,424) - 5,801,329 - (2,780,905) -
Written-off (9,261,510) (3,020,424) - - - (12,281,934)
Balance at end of year P163,928,018 P341,002 P14,557,184 P1,380,777 P6,030,168 P186,237,149
Individually impaired P7,991,154 P341,002 P14,557,184 P1,380,777 P- P24,270,117
Collectively impaired 155,936,864 - - - 6,030,168 161,967,032
Total P163,928,018 P341,002 P14,557,184 P1,380,777 P6,030,168 P186,237,149
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2014

Due from 
Policyholders, 

Agents and 
Brokers

Due from 
Ceding 

Companies - 
Treaty

Due from 
Ceding 

Companies - 
Facultative

Funds Held 
by Ceding 

Companies

Reinsurance 
Recoverable 

on Paid 
Losses - 

Facultative Total

Balance at beginning of year P133,920,246 P2,153,063 P12,202,631 P1,380,777 P8,026,496 P157,683,213
Impairment loss (Note 22) 52,383,144 1,208,363 - - 784,577 54,376,084
Reversals (Note 22) (3,915,699) - (3,446,776) - (7,362,475)
Written-off (54,334,013) - - - - (54,334,013)
Balance at end of year P128,053,678 P3,361,426 P8,755,855 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809
Individually impaired P6,572,658 P3,361,426 P7,219,431 P1,380,777 P- P18,534,292
Collectively impaired 121,481,020 - 1,536,424 - 8,811,073 131,828,517
Total P128,053,678 P3,361,426 P8,755,855 P1,380,777 P8,811,073 P150,362,809

7. Financial Assets

 The Group’s financial assets, categorized based on subsequent measurement, follow:

2015 2014
AFS financial assets P7,406,887,661 P8,949,285,522
Loans and receivables - net 1,347,323,803 1,636,856,691

P8,754,211,464 P10,586,142,213

 The assets included in each of the categories above are detailed below.

a) AFS financial assets

2015 2014
Quoted securities - at fair value
Listed equity securities (Note 28):
  Common shares P4,778,985,387 P6,449,486,090
  Preferred shares 42,122,933 26,842,440
Government debt securities:
  Local currency 625,272,427 620,400,000
  Foreign currency 11,004,349 34,528,400
Private debt securities (Note 28) 1,616,169,209 1,461,656,162

7,073,554,305 8,592,913,092
Non-quoted securities - at cost
Unlisted equity securities:
  Common shares 113,048,481 107,175,743
  Preferred shares 17,540 17,540

113,066,021 107,193,283
Funds 220,267,335 249,179,147

P7,406,887,661 P8,949,285,522

 In accordance with the provisions of the Insurance Code (the Code), government securities amounting to P234.67 million and P232.32 million are 
deposited with the Insurance Commission (IC) as security for the benefit of policyholders and creditors of the Group as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has certain investments in debt securities with embedded call option feature which allows the issuers 
to redeem, on specified dates, the securities at face amount.  Based on the Group’s assessment, the embedded call options identified are clearly and 
closely related to the host contracts and therefore do not require bifurcation.

 For the year ended December 31, 2015, impairment loss recognized on AFS investments amounted to P71.75 million.

 The carrying values of AFS financial assets have been determined as follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P8,949,285,522 P8,919,764,353
Acquisitions 1,267,537,350 650,036,809
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain 99,312,480 1,823,157
Fair value changes (1,619,584,335) 488,115,520
Disposals and maturities (1,286,015,053) (1,102,986,116)
Amortization of premium (3,648,303) (7,468,201)
Balance at end of year P7,406,887,661 P8,949,285,522
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 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets amounted to P2,770.41 million and P4,365.01 million, 
respectively.

 The rollforward analysis of the revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets follow:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P4,365,005,292 P4,056,851,895
Fair value gain (loss) credited to equity (1,619,584,335) 488,115,520
Impairment loss (Note 20) 71,746,444 ‒
Realized gain transferred to profit or loss (Note 20) (62,179,168) (170,155,505)
Tax effect of net fair value gain (loss) (Note 24) 15,418,519 (9,806,618)

P2,770,406,752 P4,365,005,292
Attributable to:
  Equity holders of the Parent Company P2,643,034,341 P4,173,571,879
  Non-controlling interests 127,372,411 191,433,413

P2,770,406,752 P4,365,005,292

b) Loans and receivables - net

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Long-term commercial papers (Note 28) P1,069,468,505 P1,135,760,653
Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 62,677,478
Accounts receivable 114,100,269 140,302,797
Notes receivable 15,787,779 296,312,050
Claims recoverable 6,408,374 811,250
Cash advances 766,578 768,996
Security fund 342,294 342,294
Due from related parties (Note 28) 45,465 3,629,034

1,351,071,664 1,640,604,552
Less allowance for impairment losses 3,747,861 3,747,861

P1,347,323,803 P1,636,856,691

 Long-term commercial papers pertain to the Group’s investments in unquoted private debt securities and corporate notes with terms of 2 to 15 
years and bear annual interest rates ranging from 3.25% to 9.33% in 2015 and from 3.25% to 8.66% in 2014. The Group has not recognized any 
impairment losses on these debt securities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

 Creditable withholding taxes pertain to the CWTs claimed as refund from the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR).

 The Group also granted advances to its related parties, MEI and Rizal Leasing and Finance Corporation (RLFC), in 2014 by way of receipt of 
promissory notes from these related parties (Note 28).  

 Accounts receivables pertain to advances on utilities, commission and for the employees’ hospitalization.

 The allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivable had been determined as follows:

2015
Accounts 

Receivable
Notes 

Receivable Total

Balance at beginning and end of the year P2,050,610 P1,697,251 P3,747,861
Individually impaired P‒ P1,697,251 P1,697,251
Collectively impaired 2,050,610 ‒ 2,050,610
Total P2,050,610 P1,697,251 P3,747,861

2014
Accounts 

Receivable
Notes 

Receivable Total

Balance at beginning of the year P2,005,675 P1,697,251 P3,702,926
Additions (Note 22) 44,935 ‒ 44,935
Balance at end of the year P2,050,610 P1,697,251 P3,747,861
Individually impaired P‒ P1,697,251 P1,697,251
Collectively impaired 2,050,610 ‒ 2,050,610
Total P2,050,610 P1,697,251 P3,747,861

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, accounts and notes receivable with a total carrying value of P3.75 million was specifically determined as 
impaired and was fully provided with allowance. The Group recognized additional allowance of P0.05 million in 2014. No additional allowance was 
provided in 2015.



972 015  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

8. Accrued Income

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Accrued interest income on (Note 28):
  AFS financial assets P29,984,872 P33,303,473
    Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 8,287,904
  Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 534,136
  Security fund 193,873 148,854
  Funds held by ceding companies - treaty 62,494 108,990
  Notes receivables – 58,476
Accrued rent income 2,760,759 1,536,610
Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 6,470,202

P48,150,680 P50,448,645

9. Deferred Acquisition Costs - net

The details of deferred acquisition costs net of deferred reinsurance commissions follow:

2015 2014
Deferred acquisition costs
  Balance at beginning of year P350,379,085 P411,916,355
  Cost deferred during the year (Note 28) 1,220,351,840 969,530,810
  Amortized during the year (1,256,262,688) (1,031,068,080)
  Balance at end of year 314,468,237 350,379,085
Deferred reinsurance commissions
  Balance at beginning of year 184,019,788 196,616,602
  Income deferred during the year (Note 28) 428,886,744 375,935,053
  Amortized during the year (467,935,110) (388,531,867)
  Balance at end of year 144,971,422 184,019,788

P169,496,815 P166,359,297

10. Reinsurance Assets

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses (Note 14) P6,647,784,199 P8,950,296,088
Deferred reinsurance premiums (Note 14) 1,528,335,000 2,176,880,605

P8,176,119,199 P11,127,176,693

11. Investment Properties - net

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2015
Land Buildings Total

Cost
At beginning and end of year P25,700,011 P12,691,826 P38,391,837
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year – 11,221,857 11,221,857
Depreciation (Note 22) – 70,888 70,888
At end of year – 11,292,745 11,292,745
Net book value P25,700,011 P1,399,081 P27,099,092

2014
Land Buildings Total

Cost
At beginning of year P26,696,761 P12,691,826 P39,388,587
Disposals (996,750) – (996,750)
At end of year 25,700,011 12,691,826 38,391,837
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
At beginning of year – 11,115,120 11,115,120
Depreciation (Note 22) – 106,737 106,737
At end of year – 11,221,857 11,221,857
Net book value P25,700,011 P1,469,969 P27,169,980
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 Rental income from investment properties recognized in the consolidated statements of income amounted to P25.66 million and P22.51 million in 
2015 and 2014, respectively (Note 20).  Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties amounted to P0.07 million in 2015 and 2014 
(Note 23).

 Buildings with book value of P1.40 million and P1.47 million have fair values amounting to P5.14 million and P3.36 million as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively.  Parcels of land with book value of P25.7 million have fair value amounting to P79.50 million as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014. The fair values of the investment properties were determined by independent professionally qualified appraisers.

 The fair value of the land and buildings were arrived at using the Market Data Approach. In this approach, the value of the land and buildings are 
based on sales and listings of comparable property registered within the vicinity. The technique of this approach requires the establishment of 
comparable property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a common denominator. This is done by adjusting the differences 
between the subject property and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparable. The properties used as basis of comparison are situated 
within the immediate vicinity of the subject property.

 Depreciation expense pertaining to investment properties amounted to P0.07 million in 2015 and P0.11 million in 2014 (Note 22).

12. Property and Equipment - net

 The rollforward analysis of this account as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows:

2015

Land

Building, 
Building 

Equipment and 
Improvements

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment

Transportation 
Equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

Cost
At beginning of year P1,013,187 P214,926,035 P509,969,228 P95,899,312 P68,388,726 P890,196,488
Additions – 10,806,152 42,156,327 13,898,782 3,749,375 70,610,637
Disposals – – (301,669) (3,136,162) – (3,437,831)
At end of year 1,013,187 225,732,187 551,823,886 106,661,932 72,138,101 957,369,294
Accumulated depreciation and 
  amortization
At beginning of year – 80,369,182 404,580,635 56,030,515 44,285,237 585,265,569
Depreciation and amortization  
  (Note 22) – 9,281,947 43,063,471 12,984,738 7,005,641 72,335,797
Disposals – – (301,664) (3,136,162) – (3,437,826)
At end of year – 89,651,129 447,342,442 65,879,091 51,290,878 654,163,540
Net book value P1,013,187 P134,556,853 P105,388,593 P39,868,797 P24,103,489 P303,205,754

2014

Land

Building, 
Building 

Equipment and 
Improvements

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment

Transportation 
Equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

Cost
At beginning of year P1,013,187 P211,702,405 P487,266,876 P82,695,523 P60,080,387 P842,758,378
Additions – 6,469,564 22,713,035 19,708,525 20,904,909 69,796,033
Disposal (Note 13) – (3,245,934) (10,683) (6,504,736) (12,596,570) (22,357,923)
At end of year 1,013,187 214,926,035 509,969,228 95,899,312 68,388,726 890,196,488
Accumulated depreciation and  
  amortization
At beginning of year – 74,983,403 364,993,046 48,842,456 46,023,007 534,841,912
Depreciation and amortization  
  (Note 22) – 8,631,711 39,593,286 11,606,542 10,858,800 70,690,339
Disposals – (3,245,932) (5,697) (4,418,483) (12,596,570) (20,266,682)
At end of year – 80,369,182 404,580,635 56,030,515 44,285,237 585,265,569
Net book value P1,013,187 P134,556,853 P105,388,593 P39,868,797 P24,103,489 P304,930,919

 Depreciation and amortization expense charged against operations amounted to P72.34 million and P70.69 million 2015 and 2014, respectively 
(Note 22).

 There are no fully depreciated assets that are still in use.

 There are no property and equipment items pledged or used as collateral to secure the liabilities of the Group. 
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13. Other Assets - net

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Creditable withholding taxes P263,625,269 P282,194,561
Real estate properties for sale - at cost 82,436,978 90,374,300
Prepayments 23,023,524 9,206,709
Refundable deposits 14,146,192 8,888,739
Forms and supplies inventory 8,519,561 6,242,183
Others 31,088,517 34,432,743

P422,840,041 P431,339,235

 Creditable withholding tax pertains to the Group’s tax withheld at source by its customers. 

 Real estate properties for sale consist of investments in Malayan Plaza condominium units and memorial lots. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
amounts of the real estate properties for sale follow:

2015 2014
Malayan Plaza condominium units P75,921,978 P83,294,300
Memorial lots 6,515,000 7,080,000

P82,436,978 P90,374,300

 Cost of real estate properties disposed in 2015 and 2014 amounted to P7.94 million and P2.08 million, respectively.

14. Insurance Contract Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets

 Short-term insurance contract liabilities and reinsurers’ share of liabilities may be analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Insurance 
Contract 

Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Insurance 
Contract 

 Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Provision for claims reported and  
loss adjustment P8,235,578,778 P6,647,784,199 P1,587,794,579 P10,458,409,391 P8,950,296,088 P1,508,113,303

Provision for IBNR losses 123,805,857 – 123,805,857 123,805,857 – 123,805,857
Total claims reported and IBNR 8,359,384,635 6,647,784,199 1,711,600,436 10,582,215,248 8,950,296,088 1,631,919,160
Provision for unearned premiums 3,363,230,387 1,528,335,000 1,834,895,387 3,609,799,913 2,176,880,605 1,432,919,308
Total insurance contract liabilities P11,722,615,022 P8,176,119,199 P3,546,495,823 P14,192,015,161 P11,127,176,693 P3,064,838,468

 Provisions for claims reported by policyholders and claims IBNR may be analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Insurance 
Contract 

Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
 Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Insurance 
Contract 

Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Balance at beginning of year P10,582,215,248 P8,950,296,088 P1,631,919,160 P8,794,537,813 P6,996,710,092 P1,797,827,721
Claims incurred during the year 1,260,028,486 (250,729,006) 1,510,757,492 5,820,487,212 4,484,169,406 1,336,317,806
Increase in IBNR – – – 29,000,000 – 29,000,000
Total claims reported and claims IBNR 11,842,243,734 8,699,567,082 3,142,676,652 14,644,025,025 11,480,879,498 3,163,145,527
Claims paid during the year (Note 21) (3,482,859,099) (2,051,782,883) (1,431,076,216) (4,061,809,777) (2,530,583,410) (1,531,226,367)
Balance at end of year P8,359,384,635 P6,647,784,199 P1,711,600,436 P10,582,215,248 P8,950,296,088 P1,631,919,160

 Provision for unearned premiums may be analyzed as follows:
2015 2014

Insurance 
Contract 

Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
 Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Insurance 
Contract 

Liabilities

Reinsurers’ 
Share of 

Liabilities 
(Note 10) Net

Balance at beginning of year P3,609,799,913 P2,176,880,605 P1,432,919,308 P3,693,485,468 P2,341,514,506 P1,351,970,962
New policies written during  

the year (Note 19) 8,604,735,996 4,949,743,902 3,654,992,094 7,522,325,291 4,658,831,686 2,863,493,605
Premiums earned during  

the year (Note 19) (8,851,305,522) (5,598,289,507) (3,253,016,015) (7,606,010,846) (4,823,465,587) (2,782,545,259)
Balance at end of year P3,363,230,387 P1,528,335,000 P1,834,895,387 P3,609,799,913 P2,176,880,605 P1,432,919,308
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15. Insurance Payables

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Due to reinsurers (Note 28) P2,318,934,580 P2,274,764,364
Funds held for reinsurers (Note 28) 533,348,833 589,158,871

P2,852,283,413 P2,863,923,235

 Terms and Conditions 
 Due to reinsurers are unsecured, interest-free and are normally settled in cash within one (1) year.  

 The rollforward analysis of insurance payables follows:

Due to 
reinsurers

Funds held 
for reinsurers Total

At January 1, 2014 P2,366,935,153 P1,376,106,979 P3,743,042,132
Arising during the year 3,342,542,652 410,130,401 3,752,673,053
Paid during the year (3,434,713,441) (1,197,078,509) (4,631,791,950)
At December 31, 2014 2,274,764,364 589,158,871 2,863,923,235
Arising during the year 703,359,645 218,509,840 921,869,485
Paid during the year (659,189,429) (274,319,878) (933,509,307)
At December 31, 2015 P2,318,934,580 P533,348,833 P2,852,283,413

16. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Accounts payable P824,506,549 P890,433,452
Commissions payable 485,121,241 477,463,519
Deferred output value-added tax (VAT) 326,289,349 280,104,943
Accrued expenses 172,974,122 142,572,815
Accrued taxes 142,534,046 134,213,139
Surety deposits 96,748,100 49,282,432
Documentary stamp taxes payable 83,403,434 22,201,182
Output VAT 50,181,098 15,645,850
Deposits payable 5,138,748 7,132,247
Others 40,889,028 19,843,380

P2,227,785,715 P2,038,892,959

 Accounts payable pertain to unpaid purchases of goods and services from suppliers.

 Commissions payable are unpaid commissions on the Group’s direct business, payable to agents and brokers which are due upon collection of the 
related premiums receivables.

 Accrued expenses pertain to accrual of monthly expenditures of the Group.  This includes expenses for utilities and other expenses that are necessary 
to carry out the operations of the Group.

 Accrued taxes include tax withheld, fringe benefit tax, local government tax, fire service tax and premiums tax.

 Surety deposits pertain to cash advances received from bonds policy contracts.

 Others consists mainly of unpaid leave conversion of employees, survey and service fees.

17. Pension

 The Group has a defined benefit plan, covering substantially all of its employees, which requires contribution to be made to administered funds. The 
plan is administered by a local bank as trustee. The Group’s trustee bank is RCBC. The transactions of the fund are being approved by the President 
of the Parent Company.

 The following tables summarize the components of net pension benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income and the 
funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the retirement plan.
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 The net pension benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income, under employee benefits (Note 22), follows:

2015 2014
Current service cost P42,833,204 P40,521,375
Net interest cost 8,795,378 8,204,103
Net benefit expense P51,628,582 P48,725,478
Actual return on plan assets (P26,029,612) P15,752,280

 The remeasurement effects recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income follows:

2015 2014
Actuarial loss (gain) (P9,483,887) P14,427,402
Return on assets (excluding amount included in net interest cost) 36,641,173 (5,915,197)
Tax effect (8,147,186) (2,553,662)
Total amount recognized in OCI P19,010,100 P5,958,543

 The net pension obligation recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position follows:

2015 2014
Present value of pension benefit obligation P426,916,673 P400,763,989
Fair value of plan assets (191,321,442) (213,842,390)

P235,595,231 P186,921,599

 The reconciliation of the present value of the pension benefit obligation follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P400,763,989 P416,822,615
Current service cost 42,833,204 40,521,375
Interest cost 18,854,825 18,041,186
Actuarial loss recognized in OCI (9,483,887) 14,427,402
Present value of obligation of transferred employees from a related party – net – 3,041,671
Benefits paid (26,051,458) (92,090,260)

P426,916,673 P400,763,989

 The reconciliation of the fair value of the plan assets follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P213,842,390 P227,759,853
Interest income 10,059,447 9,837,083
Contributions by employer 30,112,236 62,420,517
Actuarial gain (loss) (36,641,173) 5,915,197
Benefits paid (26,051,458) (92,090,260)
Balance at end of year P191,321,442 P213,842,390

 The Group expects to contribute P66.37 million to the retirement fund in 2015.

 The distribution of the plan assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows:

2015 2014
Cash P38,040,550 P30,246,684
Receivables 5,692,096 5,861,955
Investments:
  Equity securities 69,845,292 98,889,656
  Government securities 8,820,238 10,919,691
  Other securities and debt instruments 69,233,483 68,863,670

191,631,659 214,781,656
Less accrued trust fees and other payables 310,217 939,266

P191,321,442 P213,842,390

 The following presents the transactions of the Group’s retirement fund with related parties:

2015 2014
Category Balance Balance Terms Conditions
Other related parties
 Savings deposits - RCBC P21,969 P23,804 Non-interest bearing; 

on demand
Unsecured; no impairment

 Time deposits - RCBC – 2,115,455 – Unsecured; no impairment
 Common stocks - RCBC 8,689,626 12,639,456 – Unsecured; no impairment
 Common stocks - HI 2,165,706 2,417,258 – Unsecured; no impairment
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2015 2014
Category Balance Balance Terms Conditions
 Corporate bonds - RCBC 2,692,433 2,639,103 Interest rates at 0%

to 3.25%: terms of
3.5 to 5.5 years

Unsecured; no impairment

 The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining plan assets and obligations are as follows:

2015 2014
Salary increase rate 5.00%-5.07% 5.00%
Discount rate 5.00%-5.20% 4.48% - 4.68%

 Sensitivities
 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each significant assumption on the defined benefit 

obligation as of the end of the reporting period, assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

 2015

Change in 
variables

Impact on present value of 
defined benefit obligation 

increase (Decrease)
Percentage 

change
Discount rate +0.50% (P399,700,690) -2.63%

-0.50%  421,191,278 2.89%

Salary increase rate +1.00% P435,840,918 5.93%
-1.00% (392,626,914) -4.89%

 2014

Change in 
variables

Impact on present value of 
defined benefit obligation 

Increase (Decrease)
Percentage 

change
Discount rate +0.5% (P375,307,749) 6.35% 

–0.5% 399,432,305 (0.33%)

Salary increase rate +1.0% P415,824,329 3.76%
–1.0% (367,907,050) (8.20%)

 The average duration of defined benefit obligation is 20 to 27 years.

 The maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as of December 31, 2014 based on normal retirements (retirement age of 60 only) is as 
follows:

Year of Retirement No. of Retirees Total Benefit
1 year and less 4 P18,461,977
More than 1 year to 5 years 23 64,562,299
More than 5 year to 10 years 51 247,324,979
More than 10 year to 15 years 97 400,660,012
More than 15 year to 20 years 72 452,703,838
More than 20 years 517 3,004,756,175

18. Cash Dividends and Other Revaluation Reserve

 Cash Dividends
 On August 1, 2014, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to P126.8 million or P15 per share out of 

the unappropriated retained earnings of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2014 in favor of the stockholders of record as of August 1, 2014. 
Dividends were paid on December 29, 2014.

 Other Revaluation Reserve
 On April 10, 2008, the Parent Company’s BOD and stockholders approved the articles of merger and plan of merger between TMMIC and the Parent 

Company.  TMMIC is a 50-50 joint venture company owned by the Parent Company and Tokio Marine Asia Pte., Ltd. (Tokio Marine).  On July 2, 2008, 
the SEC approved the articles and plan of merger.  The effects of the merger were reckoned from January 1, 2008. The merger was accounted for as 
a business combination in accordance with PFRS 3.  

 TMMIC and the Parent Company became a single corporation, with the Parent Company as the surviving corporation. TMMIC ceased to exist and 
its legal personality was terminated.  As at the date of acquisition, the identifiable assets and liabilities of TMMIC have been measured at fair value 
resulting in a difference of P46,933,294 against its carrying values. The difference between the carrying value and fair value pertains mainly to the 
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increase in the appraised value of the building. The Parent Company recorded the appraisal increase amounting to P23,466,647 pertaining to its 
previously held interest as “Other revaluation reserve” in the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

 The Parent Company is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Insurance Commission such as Fixed Capitalization Requirements and Risk-
based Capital Requirements (Note 26).

19. Net Premiums Earned

 Gross premiums earned and reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned consists of the following:

2015 2014
Gross premiums written 
  Direct P6,844,691,389 P6,036,197,727
  Assumed (Note 28) 1,760,044,607 1,486,127,564
Total gross premiums on insurance contracts (Note 14) 8,604,735,996 7,522,325,291
Gross change in provision for unearned premiums 246,569,526 83,685,555
Gross premiums earned (Note 14) 8,851,305,522 7,606,010,846
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums written
  Direct insurance 3,901,464,610 3,760,881,038
  Assumed reinsurance (Note 28) 1,048,279,292 897,950,648
Total reinsurers’ share of gross premiums on insurance contracts (Note 14) 4,949,743,902 4,658,831,686
Reinsurers’ share of gross change in provision for unearned premiums 648,545,605 164,633,901
Reinsurers’ share of gross premiums earned on insurance contacts (Note 14) 5,598,289,507 4,823,465,587
Net premiums earned P3,253,016,015 P2,782,545,259

20. Investment and Other Income and Investment and Other Expense

 Investment and other income

 This account consists of:

2015 2014
Dividend income (Note 28) P211,476,522 P267,810,303
Interest income (Note 28):
  AFS financial assets 123,267,162 145,940,567
  Long-term commercial papers 59,384,608 61,673,900
  Cash and cash equivalents 16,011,407 14,796,110
  Notes receivables 2,357,126 6,727,350
  Funds held by ceding companies 441,712 516,576
  Short-term investments (Note 5) 57,366 28,034
  Others 312,995 1,280,511
Gain on sale of: 
  AFS financial assets (Note 7) 62,179,168 170,155,505
  Real estate for sale 434,556 11,420,817
  Property and equipment (Note 12) 191,308 627,221
  Investment Property (Note 11) – 246,074
Rental income (Note 11) 25,657,859 22,507,064
Foreign currency exchange gains - net 131,621,284 22,123,225
Others 5,571,192 6,655,427

P638,964,265 P732,508,684

 Investment and other expense

 This account consists of the following:

2015 2014
Investment expense P13,296,195 P22,727,324
Broker’s fee 26,350 1,993,954
Impairment loss on financial assets (Note 7) 71,746,444 –

P85,068,989 P24,721,278

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the foreign exchange gain from non-deliverable foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by the Parent 
Company to hedge its exposure on foreign currency risk amounted to P31.9 million and P16.5 million, respectively. In 2015 and 2014, the weighted 
average rate of exchange rate of these forward currency contracts are P44.53 and P44.48, respectively.

 The unrealized foreign exchange loss as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to P147.16 million and P35.50 million, respectively.
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21. Insurance Contract Benefits and Claims Paid

 Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid consist of:

2015 2014
Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid:
  Direct insurance P2,755,082,589 P3,438,534,098
  Assumed reinsurance 727,776,510 623,275,679
Total gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid (Note 14) P3,482,859,099 P4,061,809,777

 Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid consist of:

2015 2014
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract benefits and claims paid:
  Direct insurance P1,787,176,395 P2,349,317,096
  Assumed reinsurance 264,606,488 181,266,314
Total reinsurers’ share of gross insurance 
  contract benefits and claims paid (Note 14) P2,051,782,883 P2,530,583,410

 Gross change in insurance contract liabilities consist of:

2015 2014
Change in provision for claims reported:
  Direct insurance (P484,163,487) (P601,331,431)
  Assumed reinsurance (1,738,667,126) 2,370,008,866
Change in provision for IBNR – 19,000,000
Total gross change in insurance contract liabilities (Note 14) (P2,222,830,613) P1,787,677,435

 Reinsurers’ shares of gross change in insurance contract liabilities consist of:

2015 2014
Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance contract liabilities:
  Direct insurance (P630,468,617) (P474,305,288)
  Assumed reinsurance (1,672,043,272) 2,427,891,284
Total reinsurers’ share of gross change in 
  insurance contract liabilities (Note 14) (P2,302,511,889) P1,953,585,996

22. General and Administrative Expenses

 This account consists of:
2015 2014

Salaries, wages and allowances (Note 28) P420,576,355 P379,527,920
Employee benefits (Note 17) 105,021,615 99,417,048
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 11, 12 and 13) 72,406,685 70,797,076
Rent, light and water (Notes 23 and 28) 65,457,101 60,380,445
Professional fees 61,097,722 58,326,611
Advertising and promotions 55,046,045 39,729,735
Provisions for impairment loss - net of reversals (Notes 6 and 7) 48,156,274 47,058,544
Transportation and travel 45,735,385 49,278,485

2015 2014
Postage, telephone and cable 42,144,701 43,827,996
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 32,771,455 35,674,677
Printing and office supplies 31,332,734 33,662,551
Repairs and maintenance 19,734,491 19,346,364
Taxes, licenses and fees 8,898,504 3,623,170
Business development 7,667,432 9,505,070
Management fees (Note 28) 7,500,000 7,500,000
Donations and contributions 7,162,379 1,329,573
Bank charges 5,680,252 5,660,530
Membership and association dues 3,276,892 3,860,560
Insurance 1,504,910 1,208,161
Others 18,850,819 29,572,991

P1,060,021,751 P999,287,507
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23. Leases

 Operating leases - Group as lessor
 The Group entered into various lease agreements for its office spaces.  These leases generally have terms of one year, renewable every year.

 Operating leases - Group as lessee
 The Group entered into various property leases with various lessors for office space of its head office and local and provincial branches.  These leases 

generally have terms of one year, renewable every year.

24. Income Tax

 The benefit from income tax consists of:

2015 2014
Final P25,201,734 P31,281,587
Current 13,740,476 10,600,905
Deferred (4,274,755) 4,144,814

P34,667,455 P46,027,306

 The Group’s net deferred tax assets consist of:

2015 2014
Deferred tax assets:
  Excess of provision for unearned premiums per books over tax basis P1,867,478 P204,882,979
  Excess of deferred reinsurance premiums per books over tax basis 107,462,300 12,405
  Allowance for impairment losses 45,033,273 44,086,391
  Deferred reinsurance commissions 43,514,591 55,205,936
  Unamortized past service costs 18,218,261 22,142,294
  Pension obligation 7,161,609 5,799,941
  NOLCO 6,586,589 6,703,731
  Provision for IBNR losses 33,570,027 33,570,027
  Accrual for short-term benefits 4,192,766 4,192,766
  MCIT 289,331 –

267,896,225 376,596,470
Deferred tax liabilities:
  Deferred reinsurance premiums – (114,172,795)
  Deferred acquisition costs (93,936,559) (105,113,744)
  Excess of provision for unearned premiums per tax over books basis (28,073,844) (1,291,322)
  Unrealized foreign exchange gains - net (46,357,496) (60,765,038)

(168,367,899) (281,342,899)
Deferred tax asset through equity:
  Remeasurement loss on defined benefit obligation 64,421,834 56,274,649
Deferred tax liability through equity:
  Net unrealized gain on AFS financial assets (28,731,844) (44,150,363)

P135,218,316 P107,377,857

 Movements in net deferred tax assets comprise of:
2015 2014

At beginning of the year P107,377,857 P118,775,626
Amounts credited to (charged against) statements of income 4,274,755 (4,144,814)
Amount credited to (charged against) statements of comprehensive income 23,565,704 (7,252,955)
At end of the year P135,218,316 P107,377,857

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group did not recognize the deferred income tax assets on the following deductible temporary differences, 
carryforward of unused tax credits from excess of MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO:

2015 2014
NOLCO P797,365,024 P991,065,008
Accrued expenses 110,433,463 112,011,134
Allowance for doubtful accounts 43,030,373 7,156,033
Pension obligation 30,718,306 13,065,052
MCIT 29,341,549 24,934,810
Unrealized foreign exchange gains - net – 35,498,064

 The related tax benefits will be recognized only as reassessment demonstrates that they are realizable.  Realization is entirely dependent upon 
future taxable income.
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 As of December 31, 2015, details of the NOLCO and MCIT, which is available for offset against future taxable income and future income tax liability, 
respectively, follows:

Inception Year NOLCO
Tax Effect 

 of NOLCO MCIT Expiration Year
2015 P46,276,648 P13,882,995 P11,588,875 2018
2014 301,766,777 90,530,033 10,600,905 2017
2013 470,826,154 141,247,846 7,441,100 2016

P818,869,579 P245,660,874 P29,630,880

 The following are the movements in NOLCO:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P1,013,410,778 P952,861,139
Addition 46,276,648 301,766,777
Expiration (240,817,847) (241,217,138)
Balance at end of year P818,869,579 P1,013,410,778

 The following are the movements in MCIT:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P24,934,810 P22,791,387
Addition 11,588,875 10,600,905
Expiration (6,892,805) (8,457,482)
Balance at end of year P29,630,880 P24,934,810

 The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory corporate income tax rate to benefit from income tax shown in the 
consolidated statements of income follows:

2015 2014
At statutory income tax rate P74,028,423 P103,935,902
Adjustments for:
  Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 37,228,833 86,887,008
  Nondeductible expenses 23,966,722 6,571,670
  Dividend income (59,395,333) (79,577,924)
  Interest income exempt or already subjected to final tax (25,057,608) (32,495,988)
  Gain on sale of AFS financial assets (14,844,138) (47,750,844)
  Nontaxable income (3,758,699) -
  Expired MCIT - 8,457,482
  Provision for Impairment Losses 2,499,255 -

P34,667,455 P46,027,306

25. Reconciliation of Net Income under PFRS to Statutory Net Income

 The reconciliation of net income under PFRS to statutory net income of the Group follows:

2015 2014
Net income under PFRS P212,093,954 P289,485,700
Adjustments:
  Difference in change in provision for unearned premiums - net 52,839,326 (81,491,562)
  Deferred acquisition costs - net (3,756,727) 52,452,259
  Eliminated dividend income - 10,940,000
  Net pension benefit expense - 3,104,744
  Others 9,282 (262)
  Tax effect of adjustments (14,449,995) 306,500

P246,735,840 P274,797,379

26. Management of Capital, Insurance and Financial Risks 

 Governance Framework
 The primary objective of the Group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the Group from events that hinder the sustainable 

achievement of the Group’s performance objectives, including failure to exploit opportunities.  The Group recognizes the importance of having 
efficient and effective risk management systems in place.
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 Regulatory Framework
 Regulators are interested in protecting the rights of the policyholders and maintain close vigil to ensure that the Group is satisfactorily managing 

affairs for their benefit.  At the same time, the regulators are also interested in ensuring that the Group maintains appropriate solvency position to 
meet liabilities arising from claims and that the risk levels are at acceptable levels.

 Capital Management and Regulatory Requirements
 The Group maintains a certain level of capital to ensure sufficient solvency margins and to adequately protect the policyholders.  The level of capital 

maintained is usually higher than the minimum capital requirements set by the regulators and the amount computed under the Risk-based Capital 
(RBC) Model. 

 The Insurance Commission’s (IC) capital requirements are fixed capitalization requirements, RBC requirements and unimpaired capital requirement.

 The operations of the Group are subject to the regulatory requirements of the IC.  Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of 
activities but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g., margin of solvency to minimize the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the 
insurance companies to meet the unforeseen liabilities as these arise, fixed capitalization requirements, RBC requirements).

 No changes were made to its capital base, objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.

 Fixed Capitalization Requirements
 On August 15, 2013, the President of the Philippines approved Republic Act No. 10607 to be known as the “New Insurance Code” which provides 

the new capitalization requirements for all existing insurance companies based on net worth on a staggered basis starting June 30, 2013 up to  
December 31, 2022. The following presents the amount of required net worth and the schedule of compliance per New Insurance Code:

 Networth Compliance Date
P250,000,000 June 30, 2013

550,000,000 December 31 ,2016
900,000,000 December 31, 2019

1,300,000,000 December 31, 2022

 On January 13, 2015, the IC issued the Circular Letter (CL) No. 2015-02-A which provides for the clarification of minimum capital requirements under 
Sections 194, 197, 200 and 289 of the New Insurance Code. The said circular supersedes the Department Order Nos. 27-06 and 15-2012 and CL Nos. 
22-2008 and 26-2008. 

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Parent Company’s estimated statutory net worth amounted to P5,546,130,147 and P6,640,086,717, 
respectively.

 Unimpaired capital requirement
 IC CL No. 2015-02-A says that all domestic life and non-life insurance companies duly licensed by the Insurance Commission must have a networth 

of at least Two hundred and fifty million pesos (250,000,000) by December 31, 2013 and the minimum networth of these companies shall remain 
unimpaired at all times.

 As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Parent Company, BAC and FNAC have complied with the unimpaired capital requirement.

 Financial Reporting Framework
 On June 10, 2015, IC issued Circular No. 2015-29 that clarifies the rules and regulations concerning Titles III and IV of Chapter III of the New Insurance 

Code and all the other accounts not discussed in the New Insurance Code but are used in accounting of insurance and reinsurance companies. This 
circular enumerated the list of admitted and non-admitted assets and investments. It includes the manual of accounts which enumerates certain 
admitted assets not specifically listed in Section 202 of the New Insurance Code. The manual of accounts discusses the nature, types and recognition 
and measurement of each account in the financial statement. This circular will be fully implemented starting June 30, 2016, with a transition cut-off 
date of January 1, 2016.

 Valuation Standards for Policy Reserves
 Under sections 219 and 220, as amended, these sections require every insurance company other than life to maintain a reserve for unearned 

premiums and other special reserves, IC issued Circular No. 2015-32 which provides the new set of Valuation standards for Non-Life Insurance 
Policy Reserves. The Circular sets out the valuation method to be used by Insurance Companies in determining the level of reserves that they 
should maintain. Premium reserve will be aligned with the current practice under PFRS. Claims reserve specifically on IBNR will now be actuarially 
computed and an actuarial report must be submitted to IC following the report format provided in the said Circular. The actuarial report must 
include the certification of the Actuary and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or responsible officer and must be duly notarized.

 Insurance Risk
 The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the timing thereof, differ from 

expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of claims.  Therefore, 
the objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.

 The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts and geographical areas. The variability of risks 
is also improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements.

 The Group purchases reinsurance as part of its risks mitigation program.  Reinsurance ceded is placed on both a proportional and non-proportional 
basis with retention limits varying by product line and territory.  The majority of proportional reinsurance is quota-share reinsurance which is taken 
out to reduce the overall exposure of the Group to certain classes of business.  Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss reinsurance 
designed to mitigate the Group’s net exposure to catastrophe losses.  Retention limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line and 
territory.
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 Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance with the 
reinsurance contracts.  Although the Group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus 
a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such 
reinsurance agreements.

 The Group’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the operations of the Group 
substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract.

 The Group principally issues the following types of general insurance contracts: fire, motorcar, personal accident, marine, engineering, bonds and 
miscellaneous casualty.  The most significant risks arise from climate changes and natural disasters.  These risks do not vary significantly in relation 
to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk insured and by industry.

 To further reduce the risk exposure, the Group requires strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed review of 
claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims.  

 The Group further enforces a policy of actively managing and prompt pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future 
developments that can negatively impact the Group.  

 The Group also has limited its exposure level by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements 
in order to limit exposure to catastrophic events.  The purpose of these underwriting and reinsurance strategies is to limit exposure to catastrophes 
to a predetermined maximum amount based on the Group’s risk appetite as decided by management.

 The tables below set out the concentration of the claims liabilities by type of contract (Note 14).

2015
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Fire P5,953,501,102 P5,353,748,414 P599,752,688
Miscellaneous casualty 203,602,319 143,624,359 59,977,960
Bonds 552,303,259 272,134,551 280,168,708
Engineering 681,018,344 507,478,858 173,539,486
Marine 412,201,010 364,063,813 48,137,197
Motor 498,730,680 7,268,111 491,462,569
Others 58,027,921 (533,907) 58,561,828

P8,359,384,635 P6,647,784,199 P1,711,600,436

2014

Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net
Fire P7,811,623,118 P7,147,686,474 P663,936,644
Marine 197,377,019 63,604,162 133,772,857
Miscellaneous casualty 712,027,244 414,791,744 297,235,500
Motor 939,198,794 879,490,154 59,708,640
Engineering 515,590,650 432,628,644 82,962,006
Bonds 354,315,821 12,086,440 342,229,381
Others 52,082,602 8,470 52,074,132

P10,582,215,248 P8,950,296,088 P1,631,919,160

 The tables below set out the geographical concentration of the Group’s claims liabilities based on the countries where the insurance business is 
written.

2015
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Philippines P8,277,509,956 P6,647,784,199 P1,629,725,757
Greece 81,874,679 ‒ 81,874,679

P8,359,384,635 P6,647,784,199 P1,711,600,436

2014
Gross Reinsurers’ Share Net

Philippines P10,509,392,332 P8,950,296,088 P1,559,096,244
Greece 72,822,916 ‒ 72,822,916

P10,582,215,248 P8,950,296,088 P1,631,919,160
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 Key Assumptions
 The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is the Group’s future claims development will follow a similar pattern to past claims 

development experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claims handling costs, claims inflation factors and claim 
numbers for each accident year.  Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for 
example once-off occurrence, changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal factors such as 
portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures.  

 Judgment is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and government legislation affect the estimates.

 Other key assumptions include variations in interest, delays in settlement and changes in foreign currency rates.

 Sensitivities
 The insurance claims provision is sensitive to the above key assumptions. Because of delays that arise between occurrence of a claim and its 

subsequent notification and eventual settlement, the outstanding claim provisions are not known with certainty at the reporting dates.

 The table below shows the impact of changes in certain important assumptions in general insurance business while other assumptions remain 
unchanged. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the claims but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in 
assumptions, assumptions had to be changed on individual basis.

2015

Change in 
Assumptions %

Impact on 
Gross Insurance 

Contract 
Liabilities 

increase 
(Decrease)

Impact on 
Net Insurance 

Contract 
Liabilities 

increase 
(Decrease)

Impact on 
Income Before 

Income Tax 
increase 

(Decrease)
Average claim costs +5% P93,836,713 P60,285,847 (P60,285,847)
Average number of claims +5% 87,512,782 56,223,008 (56,223,008)

2014

Change in 
Assumptions %

Impact on 
Gross Insurance 

Contract 
Liabilities 
Increase 

(Decrease)

Impact on 
Net Insurance 

Contract 
Liabilities 
Increase 

(Decrease)

Impact on 
Income Before 

Income Tax 
Increase 

(Decrease)
Average claim costs +5% P96,533,613 P62,173,677 (P62,173,677)
Average number of claims +5% 90,212,570 58,112,860 (58,112,860)

 Claims Development Table
 The following tables reflect the cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at each 

reporting dates, together with cumulative payments to date.

 The Group aims to maintain strong reserves in respect of its insurance business in order to protect against adverse future claims experience and 
developments.  As claims develop and the ultimate cost of claims becomes more certain, adverse claims experiences are eliminated which results in 
the release of reserves from earlier accident years.  In order to maintain strong reserves, the Group transfers much of this release to current accident 
year reserves when the development of claims is less mature and there is much greater uncertainty attaching to the ultimate cost of claims.

 The risks vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risks insured and in respect of commercial and business 
interruption insurance by industry. The uncertainty of the BAC’s ultimate cost of claims is typically resolved within one year. The bonds claims 
payable amounting to P73.39 million and P74.09 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively is determined to be the BAC’s ultimate cost 
of claims.
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 Financial Risk
 The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities.  In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from 

its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The most important components of this financial 
risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

 Credit Risk
 Credit risk is a risk due to uncertainty in a counterparty’s (also called an obligor) ability to meet its obligation.

 Prior to extending credit, the Group manages its credit risk by assessing credit quality of its counterparty.

 The Group has a credit policy group that reviews all information about the counterparty which may include its statement of financial position, 
statements of income and other market information.  The nature of the obligation is likewise considered. Based on this analysis, the credit analyst 
assigns the counterparty a credit rating to determine whether or not credit may be provided.

 Credit risk limit is also used to manage credit exposure which specifies exposure credit limit for each intermediary depending on the size of its 
portfolio and its ability to meet its obligation based on past experience.

 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, net of 
impairment loss.

2015 2014
AFS financial assets:
Quoted securities:
  Listed equity securities
    Common shares P4,778,985,387 P6,449,486,090
    Preferred shares 42,122,933 26,842,440
  Government debt securities:
    Local currency 625,272,427 620,400,000
    Foreign currency 11,004,349 34,528,400
  Private debt securities 1,616,169,209 1,461,656,162
  Funds 220,267,335 249,179,147
Non-quoted securities:
  Unlisted equity securities 113,066,021 107,193,283
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,713,872,604 661,716,551
Short-term investments 55,416,330 29,884,215
Insurance receivables:
  Due from policyholders, agents and brokers 3,765,826,268 3,608,884,571
  Due from ceding companies:
    Treaty 231,180,889 1,312,090,158
    Facultative 88,139,148 132,248,327
  Funds held by ceding companies 142,119,203 145,640,520
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
    Facultative 119,151,804 126,536,705
    Treaty 43,694,796 31,522,889
Loans and receivables:
  Long-term commercial papers 1,069,468,505 1,135,760,653
  Notes receivable 14,090,528 294,614,799
  Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 62,677,478
  Claims recoverable 6,408,374 811,250
  Accounts receivable 112,049,659 138,252,187
  Miscellaneous Receivable ‒ ‒
  Cash advances 766,578 768,996
  Security fund 342,294 342,294
  Due from related parties 45,465 3,629,034
Accrued income:
  Accrued interest income:
    AFS financial assets 29,984,872 33,303,473
    Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 8,287,904
    Notes receivable ‒ 58,476
    Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 534,136
    Funds held by ceding companies 62,494 108,990
    Security fund 193,873 148,854
  Accrued rent income 2,760,759 1,536,610
  Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 6,470,202

P15,961,763,186 P16,685,114,793
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 The following tables provide information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Group by classifying the financial assets according to the Group’s 
credit ratings of the counter parties.

2015
Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually

High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total
AFS financial assets:
Quoted securities:
 Listed equity securities
Common shares P4,610,750,232 P‒ P‒ P228,642,050 P4,839,392,282
Preferred shares 42,122,933 ‒ ‒ ‒ 42,122,933
Government debt securities:
 Local currency 625,272,427 ‒ ‒ ‒ 625,272,427
 Foreign currency 11,004,349 ‒ ‒ ‒ 11,004,349
Private debt securities 452,818,874 1,163,350,335 ‒ ‒ 1,616,169,209
Funds 215,350,646 4,916,689 ‒ ‒ 220,267,335
Non-quoted securities:
Unlisted equity securities
 Common shares 99,866,021 13,182,460 ‒ ‒ 113,048,481
 Preferred shares 17,540 ‒ ‒ ‒ 17,540
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,713,872,604 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,713,872,604
Short-term investments 55,416,330 ‒ ‒ ‒ 55,416,330
Insurance receivables: ‒ ‒
 Due from policyholders, agents, and brokers 718,325,970 587,503,639 2,615,933,523 7,991,154 3,929,754,286
 Due from ceding companies:
  Treaty 13,011,805 ‒ 220,859,701 341,002 234,212,508
  Facultative 35,519,921 18,638,133 33,981,094 14,557,184 102,696,332
 Funds held by ceding companies 22,948,257 68,125 119,102,821 1,380,777 143,499,980
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
  Facultative 884,557 33,407,439 90,889,976 ‒ 125,181,972
  Treaty 43,694,796 ‒ ‒ 43,694,796
Accrued income:
 Accrued interest:
  AFS financial assets 29,984,872 ‒ ‒ ‒ 29,984,872
  Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 ‒ ‒ ‒ 10,960,026
  Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 ‒ ‒ ‒ 442,905
  Funds held by ceding companies 62,494 ‒ ‒ ‒ 62,494
  Security fund 193,873 ‒ ‒ ‒ 193,873
  Accrued rent income 2,760,759 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,760,759
  Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,745,751
Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers 151,214,893 918,253,612 ‒ ‒ 1,069,468,505
 Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 ‒ ‒ ‒ 144,152,400
 Notes receivable 14,048,279 42,249 ‒ 1,697,251 15,787,779
 Claims recoverable 6,408,374 ‒ ‒ ‒ 6,408,374
 Accounts receivable 38,025,769 74,023,890 ‒ ‒ 112,049,659
 Due from related parties 3,629,034 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,629,034
 Cash advances 768,996 ‒ ‒ ‒ 768,996
 Security fund 342,294 ‒ ‒ ‒ 342,294

P10,067,424,108 P2,813,386,571 P3,080,767,115 P254,609,418 P16,216,381,085

2014
Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually

High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total
AFS financial assets:
Quoted securities:
 Listed equity securities

Common shares P6,449,486,090 P‒ P‒ P‒ P6,449,486,090
Preferred shares 26,842,440 ‒ ‒ ‒ 26,842,440

Government debt securities:
 Local currency 620,400,000 ‒ ‒ ‒ 620,400,000
 Foreign currency 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ ‒ 34,528,400
Private debt securities 398,919,192 1,062,736,970 ‒ ‒ 1,461,656,162
Funds 244,517,756 4,661,391 ‒ ‒ 249,179,147

Non-quoted securities:
Unlisted equity securities

  Common shares ‒ 107,175,743 ‒ ‒ 107,175,743
  Preferred shares ‒ 17,540 ‒ ‒ 17,540
Cash and cash equivalents 662,723,074 ‒ ‒ ‒ 662,723,074
Short-term investments 29,884,215 ‒ ‒ ‒ 29,884,215
Insurance receivables:
 Due from policyholders, agents, and brokers 809,287,596 545,273,737 2,375,804,258 6,572,658 3,736,938,249
 Due from ceding companies:
  Treaty 377,985,167 3,178,977 930,926,014 3,361,426 1,315,451,584
  Facultative 104,825,659 10,658,998 18,300,094 7,219,431 141,004,182
 Funds held by ceding companies 109,011,772 30,380,755 6,247,993 1,380,777 147,021,297
 Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
  Facultative 64,766,862 70,580,916 ‒ ‒ 135,347,778
  Treaty ‒ ‒ 31,522,889 ‒ 31,522,889
Accrued income:
 Accrued interest:
  AFS financial assets 33,303,473 ‒ ‒ ‒ 33,303,473
  Long-term commercial papers 8,287,904 ‒ ‒ ‒ 8,287,904
  Notes receivable 58,476 ‒ ‒ ‒ 58,476
  Cash and cash equivalents 534,136 ‒ ‒ ‒ 534,136
  Funds held by ceding companies 92,895 16,095 ‒ ‒ 108,990

Security fund 148,854 ‒ ‒ ‒ 148,854
  Short-term investments ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
 Accrued rent income 1,536,610 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,536,610
 Accrued dividend income 6,470,202 ‒ ‒ ‒ 6,470,202

(Forward)
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2014

Neither past due nor impaired Past due but Individually
High Grade Medium Grade not impaired Impaired Total

Loans and receivables:
 Long-term commercial papers P1,115,760,653 P20,000,000 P‒ P‒ P1,135,760,653
 Creditable withholding tax 62,677,478 ‒ ‒ ‒ 62,677,478
 Notes receivable 294,614,799 ‒ ‒ 1,697,251 296,312,050
 Claims recoverable 811,250 ‒ ‒ ‒ 811,250

 Accounts receivable 63,692,833 76,609,964 ‒ ‒ 140,302,797
 Due from related parties 3,629,034 ‒ ‒ ‒ 3,629,034

 Cash advances 768,996 ‒ ‒ ‒ 768,996
 Security fund 342,294 ‒ ‒ ‒ 342,294

P11,525,908,110 P1,932,291,086 P3,362,801,248 P20,231,543 P16,840,231,987

 The credit rating is based on the following:

a) Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and related accrued income
 High grade pertains to those deposited, placed or invested in foreign and local banks belonging to the top banks in the Philippines in terms of 

resources and profitability, while medium grade pertains to those deposited, placed or invested in thrift banks and rural banks in the Philippines.

b) Insurance receivables, loans and receivables, accrued rent income and dividend income 
 For insurance receivables and loans and receivables except Due from ceding companies, Funds held by ceding companies, and Long-term 

commercial papers, the Group uses a credit rating concept based on the borrowers and counterparties’ overall creditworthiness.  High grade is 
given to borrowers and counterparties who possess strong to very strong capacity to meet its obligations. Medium grade is given to borrowers 
and counterparties who possess above average capacity to meet its obligations. These counterparties are somewhat susceptible to adverse 
changes in business and economic conditions.

 For Due from ceding companies and Funds held by ceding companies from local sources, the Group uses a credit rating concept based on the 
debt-to-equity ratios of the borrowers and counterparties.  High grade is given to borrowers and counterparties with debt-to-equity ratio of 
less than or equal to 2:1, while medium grade is given to borrowers and counterparties with debt-to-equity ratio of more than 2:1.

 For Due from ceding companies and Funds held by ceding companies from foreign sources, the Group uses Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and A.M. 
Best’s credit rating of insurance companies.  High grade pertains to insurance companies rated by S&P and A.M. Best as higher than BB+, which 
means that the insurance company has good to strong financial security characteristics, but may be affected by adverse business conditions.  
Medium grade pertains to insurance companies that are ungraded and rated by S&P and A.M. Best as lower than BB+, which means that the 
insurance company has marginal financial security characteristics.  Positive attributes exist, but adverse business conditions could lead to 
insufficient ability to meet financial commitments.

c) Equity securities
 Listed equity securities are classified as high grade.  Unlisted equity securities are classified as medium grade.

d) Debt securities, long-term commercial papers, and related accrued income
 These are based on the credit ratings by the international rating agency, Standard & Poors (S&P), and by Philippine Ratings Services Corporation 

(Philratings), the only domestic credit rating services in the Philippines accredited by Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) and SEC, in cases where 
an S&P rating is not available.  High grade pertains to investments rated by S&P as BBB- and higher, which means that the counterparties have 
extremely strong to adequate capacity of paying interest and repaying principal, as well as Investments in Securities issued by the Philippine 
Government. Medium grade pertains to investments rated as Baa and higher by Philratings, as well as investments rated by S&P as BB+ to 
B- (except Philippine Government Securities). The Group’s holdings under this category are rated either BB- by S&P (due to sovereign credit 
rating ceiling) or Aaa by Philratings which is defined by Philratings to mean that the obligor’s capacity to meet its financial commitment on the 
obligation is extremely strong.

e) Notes receivables
 Receivables from related entities are considered as high grade.

 The following shows the aging analysis of financial assets:
2015

 <30 days > 30 days
Total past due 

but not impaired
Due from policyholders,  agents and brokers P374,655,677 P2,241,277,846 P2,615,933,523
Due from ceding companies:
  Facultative 7,463,792 26,517,302 33,981,094
  Treaty 3,677,613 217,182,088 220,859,701
Funds held by ceding  companies - treaty 3,559,185 119,328,959 122,888,144
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
  Facultative - 90,889,976 90,889,976

P389,356,267 P2,695,196,171 P3,084,552,438
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2014

 <30 days > 30 days
Total past due 

but not impaired
Loans and receivables:
  Due from policyholders, agents and brokers P338,796,089 P2,037,008,169 P2,375,804,258
  Due from ceding companies:
    Facultative 5,722,029 925,203,985 930,926,014
    Treaty 5,618,939 12,681,155 18,300,094
  Funds held by ceding companies - treaty ‒ 6,247,993 6,247,993
  Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses: 
    Treaty ‒ 31,522,889 31,522,889

P350,137,057 P3,012,664,191 P3,362,801,248

 Liquidity Risk
 Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  

Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing on repayment of a 
contractual obligation; or insurance liability falling due for payment earlier than expected; or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.

 An institution may suffer from a liquidity problem when its credit rating falls.  The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk if markets on which it 
depends on are subject to loss of liquidity.  The major liquidity risk faced by the Group is the potential daily calls on its available cash resources in 
respect of claims from insurance contracts.

 The Group manages liquidity through a management team which determines liquidity risk for the Group by identifying events that would trigger 
liquidity problems, providing contingency plans, identifying potential sources of funds and monitoring compliance of liquidity risk policy.

 The tables below analyze financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group into their relevant maturity groups based on the remaining period at 
the reporting date to their contractual maturities or expected repayment dates.

2015
Up to a year* 1-3 years More than 3 years No term Total

Cash and cash equivalents P2,714,551,186 P‒ P‒ P‒ P2,714,551,186
Short-term investments 55,416,330 ‒ ‒ ‒ 55,416,330
Insurance receivables 4,576,349,257 ‒ ‒ ‒ 4,576,349,257
AFS financial assets 4,428,722,312 558,799,025 1,475,649,693 943,716,631 7,406,887,661
Loans and receivables 1,298,081,183 13,020,481 40,000,000 1,351,101,664
Accrued income 48,150,680 ‒ ‒ ‒ 48,150,680
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 6,287,027,291 360,756,908 ‒ ‒ 6,647,784,199
Total financial assets P19,408,298,239 P932,576,414 P1,515,649,693 P943,716,631 P22,800,240,977
Insurance contract liabilities P7,935,384,054 P21,900,581 P402,100,000 P‒ P8,359,384,635
Insurance payables 2,852,239,818 43,595 ‒ ‒ 2,852,283,413
Accounts payable, accrued expenses 
  and other liabilities 1,620,239,040 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,620,239,040

Total financial liabilities P12,407,862,912 P21,944,176 P402,100,000 P‒ P12,831,907,088

 *Up to a year are all commitments which are either due within one year or are payable on demand.

2014
Up to a year* 1-3 years More than 3 years No term Total

Cash and cash equivalents P662,723,074 P‒ P‒ P‒ P662,723,074
Short-term investments 29,884,215 ‒ ‒ ‒ 29,884,215
Insurance receivables 5,507,285,979 ‒ ‒ ‒ 5,507,285,979
AFS financial assets 24,907,841 198,024,118 1,904,974,074 6,821,379,489 8,949,285,522
Loans and receivables 592,096,527 38,315,513 1,010,192,512 ‒ 1,640,604,552
Accrued income 50,448,645 ‒ ‒ ‒ 50,448,645
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 8,576,792,418 ‒ ‒ ‒ 8,576,792,418
Total financial assets P15,444,138,699 P236,339,631 P2,915,166,586 P6,821,379,489 P25,417,024,405
Insurance contract liabilities P10,582,215,248 P‒ P‒ P‒ P10,582,215,248
Insurance payables 2,863,923,235 ‒ ‒ ‒ 2,863,923,235
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and  
  other liabilities 1,579,595,598 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,579,595,598

Total financial liabilities P15,025,734,081 P‒ P‒ P‒ P15,025,734,081

 *Up to a year are all commitments which are either due within one year or are payable on demand

 In 2015 and 2014, certain insurance receivables, AFS securities and loans and receivables have been provided with allowance for impairment.

 It is unusual for the Group primarily transacting insurance business to predict the requirements of funding with absolute certainty as theory of 
probability is applied on insurance contracts to ascertain the likely provision and the time period when such liabilities will require settlement.  The 
amounts and maturities in respect of insurance liabilities are thus based on management’s best estimate based on past experience.
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 Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates 

(interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer 
or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

 Market risk is the risk to an institution’s financial condition from volatility in the price movements of the assets contained in a portfolio.  Market risk 
represents what the Group would lose from price volatilities.  Market risk can be measured as the potential gain or loss in a position or portfolio that 
is associated with a price movement of a given probability over a specified time horizon.

 The Group manages market risk by evenly distributing capital among investment instruments, sectors and geographical areas.

 The Group structures levels of market risk it accepts through a sound market risk policy based on specific guidelines set by an Investment Committee.  
This policy constitutes certain limits on exposure of investments mostly with top-rated banks, which are selected on the basis of the bank’s credit 
ratings, capitalization and quality servicing being rendered to the Group. Also, the said policy includes diversification benchmarks of investment 
portfolio to different investment types duly approved by the IC, asset allocation and portfolio limit structure.

 Moreover, control of relevant market risks can be addressed through compliance reporting of market risk exposures, regular monitoring and review 
of the Group’s investment performance and upcoming investment opportunities for pertinence and changing environment.

a) Currency Risk

 The Group’s principal transactions are carried out in Philippine Peso and its exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primarily with respect to 
U.S. Dollar and Euro.  In addition, the Parent Company enters into non-deliverable forward contracts to hedge its exposure on foreign currency 
exchange risks.

 The tables below summarize the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risks by categorizing assets and liabilities by major 
currencies.

2015
Philippine Peso U.S. Dollar Euro Others Total

AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
  Listed equity securities P4,419,346,028 P269,869,505 P64,818,927 P67,073,860 P4,821,108,320
  Unlisted equity securities 113,066,021 ‒ ‒ ‒ 113,066,021
Private debt securities ‒ 1,616,169,209 ‒ ‒ 1,616,169,209
Government debt securities 624,272,427 11,004,349 ‒ ‒ 635,276,776
Funds 50,346,904 158,172,191 ‒ 11,748,240 220,267,335
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,441,736,537 236,352,896 27,063,358 9,398,395 2,714,551,186
Short-term investments 42,569,373 12,846,957 ‒ ‒ 55,416,330
Insurance receivables - net 3,219,187,451 1,117,296,657 ‒ 53,628,000 4,390,112,108
Loans and receivables 1,347,323,803 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,347,323,803
Accrued income 26,568,605 21,536,665 45,410 ‒ 48,150,680
Total assets P12,284,417,149 P3,443,248,429 P91,927,695 P141,848,495 P15,961,441,768
Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and  
  other liabilities P1,620,239,040 P‒ P‒ P‒ P1,620,239,040
Insurance payables 2,743,603,416 103,779,531 ‒ 4,900,466 2,852,283,413
Total liabilities P4,363,842,456 P103,779,531 P‒ P4,900,466 P4,472,522,453

2014
Philippine Peso U.S. Dollar Euro Others Total

AFS financial assets:
Equity securities:
 Listed equity securities P5,985,154,569 P316,606,706 P101,550,667 P73,016,588 P6,476,328,530
 Unlisted equity securities 107,193,283 ‒ ‒ ‒ 107,193,283
Private debt securities ‒ 1,447,307,893 ‒ 14,348,269 1,461,656,162
Government debt securities 620,400,000 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ 654,928,400
Funds 18,165,540 220,712,297 ‒ 10,301,310 249,179,147
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 469,627,791 188,405,212 403,999 4,286,072 662,723,074
Short-term investments 17,764,360 12,119,855 ‒ ‒ 29,884,215
Insurance receivables - net 4,123,543,465 1,182,416,874 3,609,620 47,353,211 5,356,923,170
Loans and receivables 1,636,856,691 ‒ ‒ ‒ 1,636,856,691
Accrued income 28,824,787 21,516,384 ‒ 107,474 50,448,645
Total assets P13,007,530,486 P3,423,613,621 P105,564,286 P149,412,924 P16,686,121,317
Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 
liabilities P1,579,595,598 P‒ P‒ P‒ P1,579,595,598
Insurance payables 2,598,962,382 248,882,333 1,141,376 14,937,144 2,863,923,235
Total liabilities P4,178,557,980 P248,882,333 P1,141,376 P14,937,144 P4,443,518,833
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 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US Dollar, euro and other currency exchange rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the foreign exchange rate).

Impact on income before tax  
increase (Decrease)

Currency Change in rate 2015 2014
US Dollar + 5% 136,481,622 122,694,145

- 5% (136,481,622) (122,694,145)
Euro + 5% 1,960,666 2,566,841

- 5% (1,960,666) (2,566,841)
Others + 5% 289,536 565,985

- 5% (289,536) (565,985)

b) Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value/future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
The Group’s fixed rate investments in particular are exposed to such risk.

 The Group’s market risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.  
The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets.

 The following table sets out the Group’s financial assets exposed to interest rate risk by maturity:

2015
Interest Rate Within one year 1-3 years More than 3 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25% -1.4% P2,713,872,604 P‒ P‒ P2,713,872,604
Short-term investments 0.63%-7.5% 55,416,330 ‒ ‒ 55,416,330
Notes receivable 8%-8.5% 15,787,779 ‒ ‒ 15,787,779
Long-term commercial papers 1.125%-9% 1,016,468,505 8,000,000 45,000,000 1,069,468,505
Security fund 4.76% 342,294 ‒ ‒ 342,294
AFS debt financial assets 1.25%-12.38% 287,015,089 511,231,218 1,454,199,678 2,252,445,985
Total interest-bearing financial assets P4,088,902,601 P519,231,218 P1,499,199,678 P6,107,333,497

2014
Interest Rate Within one year 1-3 years More than 3 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25% to 1.4% P661,716,551 P‒ P‒ P661,716,551
Short-term investments 0.63% - 7.50% 29,884,215 ‒ ‒ 29,884,215
Notes receivable 8% to 8.5% 296,312,050 ‒ ‒ 296,312,050
Long-term commercial papers 1.125% - 9% 87,252,628 38,315,513 1,010,192,512 1,135,760,653
Security fund 4.76% 342,294 ‒ ‒ 342,294
AFS debt financial assets 1.25% - 12.38% 23,943,058 198,160,675 1,894,480,829 2,116,584,562
Total interest-bearing financial assets P1,099,450,796 P236,476,188 P2,904,673,341 P4,240,600,325

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the AFS debt securities, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s equity:

Impact on equity 
increase (decrease)

Currency Change in basis points 2015 2014
Philippine Peso + 100 P66,470,671 P66,850,351
U.S. Dollar + 100 2,969,561 3,796,637
Euro + 100 ‒ ‒

Philippine Peso - 100 (P54,611,218) P71,715,080
U.S. Dollar - 100 (41,434,939) 60,078,650
Euro - 100 ‒ ‒

c) Equity Price Risk

 The Group’s price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets and liabilities whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, principally, AFS equity financial assets.  Such financial assets are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments 
arising either from factors specific to individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

 The Group’s market risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on investments; 
diversification plan; limits on investment in each country, sector and market; and careful and planned use of derivative instruments.  The price 
risk on investments securities is also actively managed through the use of derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk of adverse market 
movements.
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 The following table shows the equity impact of reasonably possible change of Philippine Stock Exchange index (PSEi), Morgan Stanley Capital 
International (MSCI) Euro and Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 50 (SX5E Index):

Impact on equity
increase (decrease)

Change in equity prices PSEi MSCI Euro
2015 +15% P474,009,832 P20,276,023

-15% (474,009,832) (20,276,023)

2014 +15% P848,531,556 P18,765,019
-15% (848,531,556) (18,765,019)

27. Financial Assets and Liabilities

 The table below presents a comparison by category of carrying amounts and estimated fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments.

2015 2014
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

AFS financial assets:
Quoted securities:
 Listed equity securities
   Common shares P4,778,985,387 P4,778,985,387 P6,449,486,090 P6,449,486,090
   Preferred shares 42,122,933 42,122,933 26,842,440 26,842,440
 Government debt securities: ‒ ‒
   Local currency 625,272,427 625,272,427 620,400,000 620,400,000
   Foreign currency 11,004,349 11,004,349 34,528,400 34,528,400
 Private debt securities 1,616,169,209 1,616,169,209 1,461,656,162 1,461,656,162
 Funds 220,267,335 220,267,335 249,179,147 249,179,147
Non-quoted securities: ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
  Unlisted equity securities ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
   Common shares 113,048,481 113,048,481 107,175,743 107,175,743
   Preferred shares 17,540 17,540 17,540 17,540
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,714,551,186 2,714,551,186 662,723,074 662,723,074
Short-term investments 55,416,330 55,416,330 29,884,215 29,884,215
Insurance receivables:
  Due from policyholders, agents and brokers 3,765,826,268 3,765,826,268 3,608,884,571 3,608,884,571
  Due from ceding companies:
   Treaty 231,180,889 231,180,889 1,312,090,158 1,312,090,158
   Facultative 88,139,148 88,139,148 132,248,327 132,248,327
  Funds held by ceding companies 142,119,203 142,119,203 145,640,520 145,640,520
  Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses:
   Facultative 118,878,804 118,878,804 126,536,705 126,536,705
   Treaty 43,694,796 43,694,796 31,522,889 31,522,889
Loans and receivables:
  Long-term commercial papers 1,069,468,505 1,069,468,505 1,135,760,653 1,182,532,588
  Creditable withholding tax 144,152,400 144,152,400 62,677,478 62,677,478
  Accounts receivable 112,049,659 112,049,659 138,252,187 138,252,187
  Notes receivable 14,090,528 14,090,528 294,614,799 294,056,178
  Claims recoverable 6,408,374 6,408,374 811,250 811,250
  Due from related parties 45,465 45,465 3,629,034 3,629,034
  Cash advances 766,578 766,578 768,996 768,996
  Security fund 342,294 342,294 342,294 342,294
Accrued income:
  Accrued interest income:
   AFS financial assets 29,984,872 29,984,872 33,303,473 33,303,473
   Long-term commercial papers 10,960,026 10,960,026 8,287,904 8,287,904
   Notes Receivable ‒ ‒ 58,476 58,476
   Cash and cash equivalents 442,905 442,905 534,136 534,136
   Funds held by ceding companies 62,494 62,494 108,990 108,990
   Security fund 193,873 193,873 148,854 148,854
   Short-term investments ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒
  Accrued rent income 2,760,759 2,760,759 1,536,610 1,536,610
  Accrued dividend income 3,745,751 3,745,751 6,470,202 6,470,202
Total financial assets P15,962,168,768 P15,962,168,768 P16,686,121,317 P16,732,334,631
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2015 2014
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Other financial liabilities
Insurance payables
 Due to reinsurers and ceding companies P2,318,934,580 P2,318,934,580 P2,274,764,364 P2,274,764,364
 Funds held for reinsurers 533,348,833 533,348,833 589,158,871 589,158,871
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and  
    other liabilities:
 Accounts payable 824,506,549 824,506,549 890,433,452 890,433,452
 Commissions payable 485,121,241 485,121,241 477,463,519 477,463,519
 Accrued expenses 172,972,122 172,972,122 142,572,815 142,572,815
 Surety deposits 96,748,100 96,748,100 49,282,432 49,282,432
 Others 40,889,028 40,889,028 19,843,380 19,843,380
Total financial liabilities P4,472,520,453 P4,472,520,453 P4,443,518,833 P4,443,518,833

 Fair values of financial assets are estimated as follows:

 Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments - the fair value approximates the carrying amounts at initial recognition due to their short term 
nature.

 Debt securities - the fair values are based on quoted market prices.

 Quoted equity securities - the fair values are generally based on quoted market prices.

 Unquoted equity securities - these are carried at cost less allowance for impairment losses because fair value cannot be measured reliably due to lack 
of reliable estimates of future cash flows and discount rates necessary to calculate the fair value.  There is no active market for the equity securities.  
The entity intends to dispose the securities through selling to a willing buyer in an arms-length transactions.

 Insurance receivables, accrued income, short-term loans and receivables (including notes receivable, long-term investments and security fund), 
insurance payables, accounts payable and accrued expenses - the fair values approximate the carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the 
transactions.

 Long-term loans and receivables - the fair value long-term loans and receivables is estimated using discounted cash flow technique that makes use 
of PDEX rates in 2014 and 2013.

 Fair value hierarchy
 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities:

 December 31, 2015
Quoted prices in 

active markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable inputs 

(Level 3)
Total

Assets measured at fair value:
 AFS financial assets
 Listed equity securities:
  Common shares P4,778,985,387 P‒ P‒ P4,778,985,387
  Preferred shares 42,122,933 ‒ ‒ 42,122,933
 Government debt securities:
  Local currency 625,272,427 ‒ ‒ 625,272,427
  Foreign currency 11,004,349 ‒ ‒ 11,004,349
 Private debt securities 1,616,169,209 ‒ ‒ 1,616,169,209
 Funds 196,163,500 24,103,834 ‒ 220,267,334

7,269,717,805 24,103,834 ‒ 7,293,821,639
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
 Loans and receivables - net
  Notes Receivables ‒ 12,966,599 ‒ 12,966,599
  Long-term commercial papers ‒ 1,069,468,505 ‒ 1,069,468,505
 Investment properties ‒ ‒ 27,099,092 27,099,092

‒ 1,082,435,104 27,099,092 1,109,534,196
P7,269,717,805 P1,106,538,938 P27,099,092 P8,403,355,835
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 December 31, 2014
Quoted 

prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Total

Assets measured at fair value:
 AFS financial assets
 Listed equity securities:
  Common shares P6,449,486,090 P‒ P‒ P6,449,486,090
  Preferred shares 26,842,440 ‒ ‒ 26,842,440
 Government debt securities:
  Local currency P620,400,000 P‒ P‒ P620,400,000
  Foreign currency 34,528,400 ‒ ‒ 34,528,400
 Private debt securities 1,461,656,162 ‒ ‒ 1,461,656,162
 Funds 249,179,147 ‒ ‒ 249,179,147

8,842,092,239 ‒ ‒ 8,842,092,239

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
 Loans and receivables - net
  Notes Receivables P‒ P1,182,532,588 P‒ P1,182,532,588
  Long-term commercial papers ‒ 294,056,178 ‒ 294,056,178
 Investment properties ‒ ‒ 104,976,690 104,976,690

‒ 1,476,588,766 104,976,690 1,581,565,456
P8,842,082,239 P1,476,588,766 P104,976,690 P10,423,657,695

 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: Techniques which uses inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data

 During the reporting period ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

28. Related Party Transactions

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party, or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or 
common significant influence.

 Outstanding balances as of year-end are unsecured and to be settled in cash.  There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related 
party receivables or payables.  In 2014 and 2013, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related 
parties.  This assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the 
related party operates.

 Significant transactions with related parties include:

2015 2014

Category Amount / 
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable (Payable)

Amount /
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable (Payable) Terms Conditions

Parent
MEI
 Management expense P7,500,000 P‒ P7,500,000 P‒ Non-interest bearing; on demand –

 Notes receivables ‒ ‒ 100,000,000 ‒ Interest at 6% p.a.; due within 
one year Unsecured; no impairment

 Dividend income ‒ ‒ 121,553,840 (9,053,840) – –
 Interest income ‒ ‒ 5,945,833 ‒ Interest at 6% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment
 Inter-company advances ‒ ‒ ‒ 36,789 Non-interest bearing; on demand. Unsecured; no impairment
 Accounts payable 7,446,358 (7,466,358) ‒ ‒ Non-interest bearing; on demand
Other related parties
a. MIIC & Sub.
 Reinsurers share on gross 
  premiums 284,151,038 (1,003,190,739) 503,739,095 (1,146,566,920) Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured

 Commission income 11,857,476 6,860,410 4,524,254 (6,563,185) Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured; no impairment
Other receivables 45,465 45,465 ‒ ‒ Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured; no impairment
b. Y Realty Corporation
 Rent expense 16,454,632 15,617,530 8,689,131 8,689,131 Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured; no impairment
c. RCBC Bankard
 Credit card premium collection 
  facility 7,373,215 7,373,215 1,175,370 1,175,370 Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured; no impairment



2015 2014

Category Amount / 
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable (Payable)

Amount /
Volume

Outstanding 
Receivable (Payable) Terms Conditions

d. HI
 Investment in AFS
 Equity securities P99,292,343 P111,637,488 P‒ P106,638,306 – Unsecured; no impairment
 Dividend income 648,024 162,006 922,328 ‒ – –
e. RLFC

Notes receivable ‒ ‒ 280,000,000 280,000,000 Interest at 4.25 to 5.00% p.a.;  
due within one Unsecured; no impairment

Interest income ‒ ‒ 11,956,458 11,956,458 Interest at 4.25% to 5.00% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment
f. RCBC

Cash in bank 1,180,530,586 1,191,330,247 373,168,462 15,528,963 Interest rate at 0.25% to.50%  p.a. Unsecured; no impairment

Short-term deposits 52,783,870 62,605,444 18,794,136 26,872,183 4 to 30-day term, Interest at 
0.25% - 4.50% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment

Investment in AFS

Debt securities 366,904,279 407,576,496 =479,424,543 =519,742,619 Maturing in 2017; Interest rate at 
5.25% to 9.88% Unsecured; no impairment

Stocks 1,367,237,296 1,514,184,549 499,347,477 703,989,381 – Unsecured; no impairment

Long-term commercial papers 140,000,000 140,000,000 130,000,000 130,000,000 Maturing in 2027; Interest rate at 
3.25% to 7.00% Unsecured; no impairment

Funds 15,136,951 15,136,951 ‒ ‒ Non-interest bearing;  Unsecured; no impairment
Interest and dividend income
Cash in bank 735,138 543,989 (136,256,885) 18,971,757 Interest at 0.25% - 4.25% p.a. –
Short-term deposits 6,943 6,943 ‒ ‒ Interest at 0.25% -3.00% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment
Investment in AFS:
Debt securities =27,496,749 =6,640,068 =36,603,125 =34,415,629 Interest at 5.25% - 9.88% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment
Stocks 24,455,251 22,226,603 40,444,339 40,444,339 – Unsecured; impaired
Long-term commercial papers 6,931,250 6,931,250 3,719,306 3,719,306 Interest at 3.25% - 7.00% p.a. Unsecured; no impairment
Referral fee 9,300,934 ‒ ‒ ‒ Non-interest bearing, on demand Unsecured

g. PIAA
Rent income 1,850,943 158,007 ‒ ‒ Non-interest bearing; on demand Unsecured; no impairment

 The outstanding receivables and payables are to be settled in cash.

 The Group and MIIC are subsidiaries of MICO Equities, Inc. (MEI).  MEI, RCBC, HI, RLFC and iPeople are subsidiaries of PMMIC, the holding company 
of the Yuchengco Group of Companies.

 Terms and Conditions of transactions with related parties
 Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.  Some bear interest at annual rates ranging from 0.25% to 9.88%.  

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party payables or receivables.  The Group has not recognized any impairment 
losses on amounts due from related parties for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. This assessment is undertaken each financial year 
through review of the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

 Key management personnel of the Group include senior management. The total short-term employee benefit of the Group’s key management 
personnel amounted to P15.41 million and P13.88 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the total long-term 
employee benefits of the Parent Company’s key management personnel amounted to P41.39 million and P52.81 million, respectively.

29. Contingencies

 The Group operates in the insurance industry and has various contingent liabilities arising in the ordinary conduct of business, which are either 
pending decision by the courts or being contested, the outcome of which are not presently determinable. In the opinion of management and its legal 
counsel, the eventual liability under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material or adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and 
results of operations.

 The information usually required by PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, is not disclosed on the grounds that it can be 
expected to prejudice the outcome of pending litigations.

30. Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 The Group’s noncash activities include:

a. Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, gross of tax effect, amounted to P1,594.60 million
b. In pension liability, the remeasurement effects recognized in OCI, gross of tax effect amounting P27.16 million
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Board of Directors’ Affiliations
amBassador alfonso t. Yuchengco 
(Refer to page 5 for his business affiliations)

helen Y. dee
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Chairperson • MICO Equities, 
Inc., Director • House of Investments, Inc., Chairperson • Rizal 
Commercial Banking Corporation, Chairperson • RCBC Savings 
Bank, Chairperson • Manila Memorial Park Cemetery, Inc., 
Chairperson • Malayan Colleges Laguna Inc., Trustee • Philippine 
Long Distance Telephone Company, Director • Sunlife Grepa 
Financial, Inc., Director

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., President, Chief Executive 
Officer, and Director • MICO Equities, Inc., President and Director 
• First Nationwide Assurance Corporation, Chairperson and 
Director • RCBC Capital Corporation, Chairperson and Director 
• Philippine Integrated Advertising Agency, Inc., President and 
Director • AY Foundation, Inc., Member, Board of Trustees

jose Paolo Y. aBaYa
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Chief Operating Officer and 
Director • Malayan International Insurance Corp. Ltd., President 
and Director • Asia Pac Reinsurance Ltd., Director • Malayan 
Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Ltd., Director • AY Foundation, 
Inc., Director • Hexagon Lounge, President

joselito c. BantaYan
• Bankers Assurance Corporation, Director and President • 
Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Senior Vice President

edmundo l. BunYi
• Bankers Assurance Corporation, Independent Director • First 
Nationwide Assurance Corporation, Independent Director

michele marie Y. dee 
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Director • First Nationwide 
Assurance Corporation, Director • AY Foundation, Inc., Executive 
Vice President • Sandee Unlimited, Inc., President • MICO 
Equities, Inc., Treasurer • Luis Miguel Foods, Inc., Chairperson and 
President • Yuchengco Museum, Treasurer • Philippine Integrated 
Advertising Agency, Treasurer

hideYuki ishii
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Director • Tokio Marine Life 
Insurance Malaysia Bhd., Non-Executive Director • Tokio Marine 
Retakaful Pte. Ltd., Non-Executive Chairman • PT Tokio Marine 
Life Insurance Indonesia, President Commissioner • IFFCO-TOKIO 
Insurance Service Limited, Non-Executive Director

herminia s. jacinto
• Bankers Assurance Corporation, Independent Director 
• Insurance Institute for Asia and the Pacific, President • 
Association of Insurers and Reinsurers of Developing Countries, 
Secretary General • Generali Cos., Independent Director

arthur lee 
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Director • Tokio Marine 
Holdings, Inc., Executive Officer • Tokio Marine Asia Pte. Ltd., 
Chief Executive • Asia General Holdings Limited, Managing 
Director

armando m. medina
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Independent Director • Rizal 
Commercial Banking Corporation, Independent Director • RCBC Savings 
Bank, Independent Director • RCBC Capital Corporation, Independent 
Director 

jose martin a. morente
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., First Vice President and Asst. 
Corporate Secretary • Bankers Assurance Corporation, Director • First 
Nationwide Assurance Corporation, Asst. Corporate Secretary

alma P. Peñalosa
• Bankers Assurance Corporation, Director • First Nationwide Assurance 
Corporation, Director • Malayan Insurance Company, Inc. Tokio Marine 
Division, Consultant

antonio g. PuYat
• First Nationwide Assurance Corporation, Independent Director • 
Worldwide Cemetery Management International Inc., President • Group 
Developer Inc., Director • Makati Commercial Estates Association Inc., 
Treasurer and Director • Philippine Band of Mercy, Director

teodoro d. regala
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Director • MICO Equities, Inc., 
Director • Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation, Director • PhilPlans 
First, Inc., Independent Director • Safeway Philtech, Inc., Director • OEP 
Philippines, Inc., Director and Corporate Secretary • Union Church of 
Manila (Philippines) Foundation, Inc., President and Chairman

antonio m. ruBin
• Bankers Assurance Corporation, Chairman and Director • First 
Nationwide Assurance Corporation, President and Director • Malayan 
Insurance Company, Inc., Executive Vice President 

renato c. valencia
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Independent Director • i-People, 
Inc., Chairman • Anglo Philippine Holdings Corporation, Director • 
House of Investments, Inc., Director • Metropolitan Bank and Trust 
Company, Director • EEI Corporation, Director

cesar e.a. virata
• Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Director • Rizal Commercial 
Banking Corp., Corporate Vice Chairman and Director • RCBC Savings 
Bank, Inc., Director • RCBC Realty Corporation, Director • RCBC Forex 
Brokers Corporation, Director and Chairman • RCBC Bankard Services 
Corporation, Director and Chairman • Malayan Colleges, Inc., Trustee

annaBelle s. Yuchengco
• First Nationwide Assurance Corporation, Director • Pan Malayan 
Realty Corporation, Director • Trans Swedish Shipping, Inc., Director 
• AY Foundation, Inc., Treasurer and Trustee • Principal Business 
Marketing Co., Inc., Director and President • Pan Malayan Express, Inc., 
Chairperson, Director and President 

alfonso s. Yuchengco, jr.
• MICO Equities, Inc., Director • AY Foundation, Trustee • Water Dragon, 
Inc., Chairman and President • Y Realty Corporation, President • 
Shayamala Corporation, President • ET Yuchengco, Inc., Director • Pan 
Malayan Realty Corporation, Vice President and Director • Pan Malayan 
Management & Investment Corporation, Vice Chairman and Director • 
IMI, Inc., Chairman and President • Yuchengco Museum, Vice Chairman

List of Principal Officers
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List of Principal Officers
mico eqUities, inc.

alfonso t. Yuchengco
Chairman
 
Yvonne s. Yuchengco
President

michele marie Y. dee
Treasurer
 
samuel v. torres
Corporate Secretary 

jose martin a. morente 
Assistant Corporate Secretary

maL ayan insUrance 
comPany, inc.

helen Y. dee
Chairperson
 
Yvonne s. Yuchengco
President
 
jose Paolo Y. abaya
Chief Operating Officer

antonio m. rubin
Executive Vice President
 
joselito c. Bantayan
Senior Vice President

cecille v. huidem
Senior Vice President

daisuke fujii
Senior Vice President

isauro u. cotoco jr.
Second Vice President
(as of February 2016)

maria Beatriz a. adversalo 
Second Vice President

rogelio m. noche, jr.
Second Vice President

kazunori tsuji
Second Vice President

frederick t. Pineda
First Vice President/Treasurer

naoki Yamada
First Vice President

jose martin a. morente
First Vice President/ 
Asst. Corporate Secretary

alegria r. castro
Vice President II

katsuki takarada 
Vice President

joanne s.P. dela cruz
Vice President

martin d. Yuchioco
Vice President

marissa h. dela cruz
Vice President

arlene q. calimag
Vice President

samuel v. torres
Corporate Secretary

bankers assUrance 
corPoration

antonio m. rubin
Chairman

joselito c. Bantayan
President

frederick t. Pineda
Treasurer
 
samuel v. torres
Corporate Secretary

jose martin a. morente 
Assistant Corporate Secretary

tHe first nationwiDe 
assUrance corPoration

Yvonne s. Yuchengco
Chairperson

antonio m. rubin
President
 
jose mari g. Prats
Vice President
 
frederick t. Pineda
Treasurer

samuel v. torres
Corporate Secretary
 
jose martin a. morente
Assistant Corporate Secretary
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Directory of Subsidiaries,
 Offices and Branches
maLayan insUrance comPany, inc. 
Yuchengco Tower I 
500 Quintin Paredes Street 
1006 Binondo, Manila 
P. O. Box 3389 - Manila 
Tel. No. : (632) 242-8888
Fax No.: (632) 242-2222
Website : www.malayan.com
  www.malayanonline.com
  www.facebook.com/
  MalayanInsurancePH 
E-mail : malayan@malayan.com

bankers assUrance corPoration 
6th Floor, Rm. 604
Doña Felisa Syjuco Building
Remedios Street corner Taft Avenue
Malate, Manila
Tel. Nos. : (632) 567-4678/ 567-4676 
Telefax No. : (632) 567-4675 
Website : www.bankersassurance.com.ph 
E-mail : bac@bankersassurance.com.ph 

The FIRST NATIONWIDE  
assUrance corPoration 
4th Floor, Yuchengco Tower II 
L.P. Leviste Street corner Gallardo Street 
Salcedo Village, 1227 Makati City 
Tel. Nos. : (632) 737-3600 local 3633, 3644,
  3655, 3666 
Fax No. : (632) 737-3636 
Website : www.fnac.com.ph 
E-mail :  info_cd@fnac.com.ph 

foreign sUbsiDiaries

maLayan internationaL insUrance  
corP. LtD. (Hk brancH)
Unit A, 18th Floor, Li Dong Building
9 Li Yuen Street East, Central, Hong Kong
Tel. Nos. : (852) 2525-2137/ (852) 2525-8820
Fax No.: (852) 2167-7422
E-mail: pjsantos@biznetvigator.com

maLayan insUrance comPany  
(Hong kong) LtD.
Unit A, 18th Floor, Li Dong Building
9 Li Yuen Street East, Central, Hong Kong
Tel. Nos. : (852) 2525-2137/ (852) 2525 8820
Fax No. : (852) 2167-7422
E-mail: pjsantos@biznetvigator.com

metro maniLa saLes offices 

aLabang 
2nd Floor, RCBC Building, Tierra Nueva 
Subd., Zapote Road, Alabang Muntinlupa
Tel. Nos. : (632) 850-7659 / 842-0234 /  
  628-8893
Telefax No.: (632) 842-0228
 
cUbao 
8th Floor, Room 8006, Aurora Tower
Araneta Center, Cubao, Quezon City
Tel. Nos. : (632) 912-9367/ 911-3827/ 
  421-4526 / 628-8626
Telefax No.: (632) 911-3825

CUBAO (Extension Office)
Ground Floor, Philamlife Building,
General Malvar Avenue, Cubao, Quezon City
Tel. No. : (632) 709-4708
Fax No.: (632) 911-3825

makati 
5th Floor & Mezzanine Floor
Yuchengco Tower II
L.P. Leviste Street cor. Gallardo Street
Salcedo Village, 1227 Makati City
Tel. Nos. : (632) 843-8080/ 628-8502/ 
  628-8506
Fax No.: (632) 628-8514 to 15

marikina 
Unit 18/19, Marikina East Centre Building
83 Gil Fernando Ave., San Roque
Marikina City
Tel. Nos. : (632) 646-9788 / 628-8894
Telefax No.: (632) 369-7112

ortigas (Satellite Office) 
Upper Ground Floor 02 
City & Land Mega Plaza Building 
ADB Avenue cor. Garnet Road 
Ortigas Center 
Barangay San Antonio, Pasig City 
Tel. No.: (632) 628-8631/ 534-4522

regionaL offices  

one LUZon 
10th Floor, Yuchengco Tower I
500 Quintin Paredes Street
1006 Binondo, Manila
Tel. No. : (632) 628-8834
Fax No. : (632) 628-8778

 VISAYAS & MINDANAO 
2nd Floor, Great Pacific Life Building 
Fuente Osmeña, Rotonda, 6000 Cebu City
Tel. Nos. : (032) 253-9384/ 253-4801 /
  (632) 628-8600 local 8392
Fax No.: (032) 255-3009

ProvinciaL offices 

LUZon 

bagUio city 
3rd Floor, RCBC Building
Session Road, 2600 Baguio City
Tel. Nos. : (074) 442-6300/ 446-0026
Fax No.: (074) 442-7247 

BALIWAG (Bulacan) 
321 2nd Floor, J & U Building
Benigno S. Aquino Avenue, Baliwag, Bulacan
Telefax No.: (044) 766-6387 
 
cabanatUan city 
3rd Floor, RCBC Savings Bank Building
Maharlika Highway cor. Paco Roman Street
3100 Cabanatuan City
Tel. No. : (044) 463-9683
Telefax No.: (044) 463-0910 

caLamba (Laguna)
Ground Floor, RCBC Building
National Highway cor. Dolor Street
Barangay 1 Crossing, Calamba, Laguna
Tel. No. : (049) 545-1162 
Telefax No.: (049) 545-0955

cavite (Imus)
Units B, C, and D, 4120 Aguinaldo HIghway 
Anabu I-E, Imus City, Cavite 
Tel. No.: (046) 471-6613 
Telefax No.: (046) 471-8687 

DagUPan city
2nd Floor, RCBC Building
A.B. Fernandez Avenue, 2400 Dagupan City
Tel. No. : (075) 515-5811
Telefax No.: (075) 522-0928

isabeLa
2nd Floor, STP II Building
Roxas Street, District II 
Cauayan City, Isabela
Tel. No. : (078) 652-0063
Telefax No.: (078) 652-0092
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Laoag city
2nd Floor, Cristina Building
Gen. A. Luna Street, 2900 Laoag City
Tel. No. : (077) 772-0015
Telefax No.: (077) 771-4806 

La Union
CJArch Building (PBCom Bank)
Quezon Avenue, San Fernando City 
La Union
Tel. No. : (072) 607-0066
Telefax No.: (072) 607-8419

LegaZPi city
2nd Floor, Metrobase Building
Landco Business Park, Bitano, Legazpi, 4500
Tel. No. : (052) 480-7523
Telefax No.: (052) 820-4119

LiPa city
Ground Floor, Unit 17, K-POINTE
Commercial Center, Ayala Highway
Lipa City
Tel. Nos. : (043) 756-6951 /
  (632) 628-8600 local 8390
Telefax No.: (043) 756-6952

naga city
Ground Floor, RL Building
Panganiban Drive, Naga City
Telefax No.: (054) 473-5050 / 
  (632) 628-8600 local 8394

OLONGAPO (Subic)
Ground Floor, Building 789
Subic International Hotel, Sta Rita Road
Subic Bay Freeport Zone, Olongapo
Tel. Nos. : (047) 252-3255/ 252-3256
Telefax No.: (047) 252-3256 

PamPanga
2nd Floor, HIZ-SAN Building
McArthur Highway, Brgy. Dolores
San Fernando City, Pampanga
Tel. No. : (045) 961-0042
Telefax No.: (045) 963-1027 

SAN PABLO (Laguna)
Maharlika Highway, Brgy. San Rafael
San Pablo City 4000 Laguna
Tel. Nos. : (049) 562-5788/ 562-3655
Fax No.: (049) 562-0181

tarLac
2nd Floor, Rm 205 Jaral Building
Corners Juan Luna Street & 
McArthur Highway
Tarlac City, Tarlac
Telefax No.: (045) 982-2748

tUgUegarao city
2nd Floor, RCBC Building
Gomez Street cor. Bonifacio Street
Tuguegarao City
Telefax No.: (078) 844-1393
  (632) 628-8600 local 8395

visayas area

bacoLoD city
2nd Floor, Malayan House Building
Lacson cor. 3rd Street, 6100 Bacolod City
Tel. Nos. : (034) 434-6566/ 434-6567
Telefax No.: (034) 434-6567
  (632) 628-8600 local 8388

cebU city
2nd Floor, Grepalife Building
Fuente Osmeña Rotonda, 6000 Cebu City
Tel. Nos. : (032) 253-9384 / 253-4801 /
  (632) 628-8600 local 8391
Fax No.: (032) 255-3009

DUmagUete city
2nd Floor, RCBC Savings Bldg. 
Real St. Corner San Juan St.,
Dumaguete City, Negros Oriental
Tel/Fax No.: (035) 420-5075

iLoiLo city
2nd Floor, RCBC Building, J. M. Basa Street 
cor. Arsenal Street, 5000 Iloilo City
Tel. Nos. : (033) 335-0763 / 335-0302 /
  (632) 628-8600 local 8387
Fax No.: (033) 335-0406

PaLawan
2nd Floor, RCBC Building
Rizal Avenue corner Junction I
Puerto Princesa City, 5300 Palawan
Telefax No.: (048) 434-4360

tagbiLaran
Door # 4, 2nd Floor, RCBC Building
CPG Avenue, Tagbilaran City, Bohol
Telefax No.: (038) 235-4551

minDanao area

cagayan De oro
Ground Floor, Malayan House, Velez corner
Nacalaban Streets, 9000 Cagayan De Oro
Tel. No. : (088) 856-1686
Telefax No.: (088) 856-1685 / 
  (632) 628-8600 local 8386

Davao city
Ground Floor, Malayan House
Km. 6, J.P. Laurel
Lanang 8000 Davao City
Tel. Nos. : (082) 234-1790 / 235-2476 / 
  234-1765
Fax No.: (082) 234-1766

DAVAO CITY (Satellite Office)
Ground Floor, RCBC Building, Palma Gil cor.
C. M. Recto Street, Davao City
Tel. No. : (082) 224-6887
Telefax No.: (082) 224-6889

generaL santos
2nd Floor, RCBC Savings Building
Pioneer Avenue, 9500 General Santos City
Tel. Nos. : (083) 552-2225 / 
  (632) 628-8600 local 8389
Telefax No.: (083) 552-3580

TAGUM (Davao Del Norte)
Ground Floor RCBC Building
Pioneer Avenue cor. Quirante Street
Tagum, Davao Del Norte
Tel. No. : (084) 655-6326
Telefax No.: (084) 655-9524

Zamboanga city
Ground Floor, YPC Building
Veterans Avenue, 7000 Zamboanga City
Tel. No. : (062) 991-2779
Telefax No.: (062) 991-2296
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Products and Services

• AVIATION
 -  Hull All Risks/ Hull War
 -  Third Party/ Passenger 

Legal Liability
 -  Crew Personal Accident

•  ENGINEERING
 -  Contractor’s All Risk
 -  Erection All Risk
 -  Electronic Equipment
 -  Machinery Breakdown
 -  Civil Engineering 

Completed Risk
 -  Boiler Pressure Vessel
 -  Special Risk/ Equipment 

Floater
 -  Deterioration of Stock 

following Machinery 
Breakdown

•  FIRE
 -  Commercial All Risk
 -  Fire and Lightning, 

including Allied Perils
 -  Industrial All Risk
 -  Business Protect
 -  Home Protect Plus
 -  MyBiz
 -  MyHome
 -  Sabotage and Terrorism

•  MARINE
 -  Marine Cargo
 -  Marine Hull 
 -  Yacht and Pleasurecraft
 -  Fine Arts, Jewellery & 

Specie (FAJS)
 -  Jeweller’s Block
 -  Stock Throughput (STP )

• MISCELLANEOUS
 casUaLty
 -  Bankers Blanket Bond/

Computer Crime
 -  Burglary & 

Housebreaking

 -  Comprehensive General 
Liability

 -  Comprehensive 
Dishonesty 
Disappearance and 
Destruction

 - Cyber Insurance
 -  Employers Liability
 -  Excess Auto Liability
 - Event Liability
 - Event Cancellation
 -  Errors & Omissions  

(for Insurance Brokers)
 -  Fidelity Guarantee
 -  Foresight Directors 

& Officers Liability 
Insurance

 -  Med Protect (Medical 
Malpractice Insurance)

 -  Money in Transit
 -  Money, Securities & 

Payroll
 -  Product’s Liability
 -  Professional Liability 

(for Contractors, Design 
Professionals and 
Consultants, Educators, 
Lawyers, BPO’s and 
other miscellaneous 
professions) 

 -  Comprehensive Personal 
Liability

 -  Golfers’ Comprehensive 
Insurance

 -  Comprehensive 
Cardholders Protection 
Insurance

    ATM Card Protect
    Credit Protect Plus
 -  Purchase Protection 

Insurance
 -  Plate Glass Insurance
 -  Hole in One 

(Tournament only)

•  MOTORCAR
 -  Dealership Programs 

 Honda Insurance
   Toyota Insurance
 -  My Car
 -  Motomax
 -  Standard Motorcar 

Insurance
   Private Vehicle
   Commercial Vehicle
   Motorcyle
   Land Transportation
   Operators

•  PERSONAL ACCIDENT
 -  Bayan Asenso
  Microinsurance 

Products
 -  Crisis Cover
 -  Credit Protect/ 

Unemployment
 -  Daily Hospitalization 

Income Benefit
 -  Diplomax
 -  Executive Plan
 -  Family Plan
 -  Family Protect
 -  Income Protect
 -  Inflation Free Plus Plan 

(IFC)
 -  I4U Greeting Cards
 -  Med Rescue
 -  MyFamily
 -  My Wellness
 -  Pampamilya Insurance 

Plan
 -  Pinoy Assist Compulsory
  OFW Insurance
 -  Rajah Personal Accident 

Insurance
 -  Student Personal 

Accident Insurance
 -  TIP Domestic
 -  TIP Global
 -  Todo Asenso

 -  Tuition Fee Protect
 -  Travelmaster
 -  Travel Sure
 -  Vessel Personal Accident

•  BONDS
 -  Administrator’s Bond
 -  Attachment Bond
 -  Attachment Bond  

(to Lift)
 -  Bidder’s Bond
 -  BOI Omnibus Bond
 -  Broker’s Bond
 -  Contract Growers Bond
 -  Dealership Bond
 -  Execution Pending 

Appeal Bond
 -  Fidelity Bond
 -  Firearm Bond
 -  Forestry Bond (Internal 

Revenue)
 -  Forestry Bond (Bureau 

of Forestry)
 -  Guaranty Bond 

(Maintenance Warranty)
 -  Guardians Bond
 -  Haulers Bond
 -  Heirs Bond
 -  Immigration Bond
 -  Indemnity Bond (3rd 

Party Sheriffs)
 -  Injunction Bond 

(Plaintiff)
 -  Injunction Bond (to Lift)
 -  Manufacturer’s Official 

Bond
 -  Miller’s Bond
 -  Payment Bond
 -  Performance Bond
 -  Replevin Bond
 -  Supersedeas Bond
 -  Surety Bond – 

Downpayment
 -  Surety Bond General
 - Warehouse Bond for 

Rice Bonded



Products and Services

OUR vISION
Malayan equals non-life Insurance.

OUR MISSION
Malayan guarantees to provide its policyholders 

the best non-life insurance protection, and fair 

and prompt settlement of valid claims at all times.

OUR CORE vALUES

PASSIOn FOR eXCeLLenCe
Striving to be great and not just good; continuously improving results.

SenSe OF uRGenC Y
Doing things fast; taking the initiative to respond to the needs of various stakeholders.

PROFeSSIOnAL DISCIPLIne
With strong working ethics; deserving of others’ trust and respect; using company resources 

prudently; acting with fairness and objectivity; being accountable for one’s actions.

TeAMWORK
Actively tapping areas of synergy; communicating and collaborating towards shared goals.

LOYALT Y
A good corporate citizen; pursuing corporate interests as one’s own; speaking well of the company 
and taking pride in its achievements.
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